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Chairman’s Statement
TEHRE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Alpha Professional
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | present to you this annual report
containing the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2020.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 from
continuing operations was approximately HK$147.9 million (2019:
approximately HK$351.4 million), representing a decrease of 57.9%
compared to the previous year. The loss attributable to the owners of
the Company (including continuing and discontinued operations) was
approximately HK$88.1 million (2019: profit attributable to the owners of
the Company was approximately HK$28.8 million). The basic loss per share
(including continuing and discontinued operations) amounted to HK29.6
cents (2019: basic earnings per share HK10.9 cents).

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

The Company has not made any arrangement under which a shareholder
of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) is scheduled
to be held on Tuesday, 8 September 2020 and the notice of AGM will be
published and issued to the Shareholders as required by the Listing Rules in
due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 3 September 2020 to Tuesday, 8 September 2020, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
(the “Shares”) will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at
the AGM, unregistered holders of the Shares should ensure that all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited of level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 2 September 2020.

OUTLOOK

In early 2020, the Coronavirus disease has swept over the world and
many countries were on lockdown to prevent a widespread outbreak. The
world economy is facing a retrogression. Under the economic recession,
consumers have less disposable income and would inevitably reduce their
expenditure on non-essential goods.
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Due to the advancement in 5G wireless communications network, wireless
applications has become increasingly relevant to the development of mobile
handset products, and various applications have been gradually integrated
to mobile handsets. Major mobile handset operators around the world have
been continuously making changes to the components and specifications
of the mobile handsets. All these will pose significant challenges to
manufacturers and processors of mobile handsets. In addition, over
the past few years, mobile handsets manufacturers of a larger scale in
mainland China have been speeding up its overseas expansion, which in
turn affected the production costs of other small and medium scale mobile
handset manufacturers. The centralisation of larger mobile handset brands
in mainland China have directly impacted the sales in overseas market.
After such centralisation, mobile handset brands have initiated price wars,
and the manufacturers and processors of mobile handsets have gradually
lost their competitive edge in the market. The development of the OEM
and ODM products could only shift the focus towards the mid to low-
end mobile handset markets, resulting in a decrease in profit margin in the
industry. Moreover, the mobile handset brands have gradually achieved
self-procurement of key materials, including chips, memories and screens,
which reduced opportunities for manufacturers and processors of mobile
handsets to secure profits through supply chain.

The mobile business of the Group is facing certain pressure from the
adverse environment of existing market competition and expected
economic downturn. In the future, the Group will embrace difficulties and
continue to explore new projects and new resources while maintaining and
exploring the current market, aiming to actively and continuously expand
its foothold in the target markets including Southeast Asia, Africa, South
America and Europe. Our subsidiaries which engage in the mobile business
will also further strengthen its internal management, shorten the turnover
time of the supply chain, increase income and reduce expenditure so as to
overcome the external challenges.

Compared to the service industry or luxury products market, the Group’s
milk products business would face less pressure. Dairy products and milk
powder products are typical consumption goods. In the past, the market
performance of such products has remained stable and satisfactory,
and so their future performance is to be anticipated for. The Group will
seek to expand its milk products business in Asia markets, specifically
the People’s Republic of China market. The rising disposable income of
Chinese residents has resulted in continuous improvement of people’s
living standards, Chinese consumers now pay more attention to product
quality and safety. With the implementation of the “Universal Two-Child
Policy”, China’s infant formula milk market, especially the demand for
imported products, is expected to grow. The Group expects that in 2020,
the Group’s milk products business will achieve sustained growth in both
existing and new markets by insisting on high product quality.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2020
from continuing operations was approximately HK$147.9 million (2019:
approximately HK$351.4 million), representing a decrease of 57.9%
compared to the previous year. The loss attributable to the owners of
the Company (including continuing and discontinued operations) was
approximately HK$88.1 million (2019: profit attributable to the owners of
the Company was approximately HK$28.8 million). The basic loss per share
(including continuing and discontinued operations) amounted to HK29.6
cents (2019: basic earnings per share HK10.9 cents).

The Group recorded a significant loss for the year ended 31 March 2020
as compared to the net profit for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such
loss was primarily attributable to: () a non-recurring loss of approximately
HK$54.2 million recognised for the disposal of Great Empire International
Group Limited (“GE International”); (i) a decline in the sales volume and
average selling prices of the Group’s mobile handset products as compared
to the previous year; and (i) an impairment loss of approximately HK$9.5
million recognised for trade receivables.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the administrative expenses of the
Group for continuing operations amounted to approximately HK$30.8
million (2019: approximately HK$23.2 million), representing an increase
of 32.8% as compared to the previous year. This was mainly due to
the increase of an impairment loss of trade receivables recognised in
administrative expenses.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is engaged principally in the provision of mobile handset solution
(the “Mobile Business”) and provision of biotechnology and biological
gene technology technical services (the “Biological Business”) which was
discontinued during the year ended 31 March 2020 after the completion of
the unwinding of the acquisition of GE International. Since February 2020,
the Group has also started to engage in the trading of milk powder and
baby foods (the “Milk Products Business”) to diversify its revenue stream
and bring additional revenue to the Group.

Mobile Business-Continuing operations

For the year ended 31 March 2020, India, Dubai, Vietnam, Bangladesh
and South Africa continued to remain as the major markets of the Mobile
Business. In recent years, the market competition in the mobile handset
industry has become increasingly intense which has weakened the
lebensraum of the small and medium-sized manufacturers and processors
of mobile handsets. The fluctuations in the market environment, the
changes in the international economic and political situation, and the
outbreak of Coronavirus disease (‘COVID-19”) worldwide in early 2020
have all impacted the operation and business of the Group’s Mobile
Business in the year. Under this severe situation, the Mobile Business only
secured a small number of smartphone orders in the first half of the year
ended 31 March 2020 and few smartphone orders in the second half of
the year ended 31 March 2020. The orders for the year ended 31 March
2020 were mainly concentrated on medium and low-end mobile phones
with a low profit margin. The revenue of the Group’s Mobile Business
for the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$117.3 million
(2019: approximately HK$351.4 million), representing a drastic decrease of
66.6% as compared to the previous year. Regionally, the revenue of Mobile
Business attributed from Hong Kong, Dubai and India have fallen by about
80% or more, respectively, as compared to the previous year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENwED

Milk Products Business — Continuing operations

As the Group expected that the Milk Products Business would become
an opportunity, the Group acquired subsidiaries principally engaged in the
trading of milk powder and baby foods in February 2020, with the initial
business focus in cross-border milk powder trading in Australia, Hong
Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). During the period
from the completion of the acquisition on 6 February 2020 to 31 March
2020, the Group’s revenue and gross profit in its Milk Products Business
were approximately HK$30.6 million and approximately HK$1.8 million,
respectively and the reportable segment profit was approximately HK$1.1
million. Looking forward, the management of the Group would continue to
develop the Milk Products Business to bring more returns to the Group and
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

Biological Business - Discontinued operation

Subsequent to the completion of the acquisition of the 10,000 shares of GE
International (the “Acquisition”), representing the entire issued share capital
of GE International by the Company pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement dated 24 December 2018 (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
and entered into among the Company (as purchaser), Starways Global
Holding Inc. (“Starways Global”) (as vendor) and Mr. Wang Bin (“Mr. Wang”)
(as guarantor) in respect of the Acquisition and in around June 2019, it
came to the attention of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of the Company that GE International failed to provide sufficient accounting
records and incidental documents, which resulted in potential breaches
by Starways Global and Mr. Wang of certain warranties and undertakings
under the Sale and Purchase Agreement. As a result, a disclaimer of opinion
has been issued by the auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) in the 2019
annual report of the Company in relation to the Acquisition for the year
ended 31 March 2019 as the Auditor was unable to obtain reasonable
assurance on the occurrence and existence, accuracy, valuations, rights
and obligations, completeness, classification, disclosure and presentation of
the transactions and the assets and liabilities related to GE International and
its subsidiaries (the “GE Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2019.

In order to safeguard the interest of the Company and its Shareholders
as a whole, the Board considered that the best way was to unwind the
Acquisition (the “Unwinding”) by entering into the settlement agreement
dated 17 September 2019 (the “Settlement Agreement”). Pursuant to
the Settlement Agreement, () the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be
rescinded and void from its inception; (i) all the 40,716,000 ordinary shares
of the Company (the “Shares”) shall be transferred by Starways Global
to the Company for cancellation (the “Settlement Shares”); (iiij Starways
Global shall pay to the Company the settlement cash in the amount of
approximately HK$18.8 million (the “Settlement Cash”); (iv) the Company
shall transfer the 10,000 shares in GE International to Starways Global; and
(v) each of the parties shall be discharged from all liability and/or further
liability, demands, claims and proceedings arising out of or in connection
with the Sale and Purchase Agreement. The completion of the Unwinding
(the “Unwinding Completion”) took place on 23 January 2020 after all
the conditions precedent under the Settlement Agreement have been
fulfilled. Details of the Unwinding were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 18 September 2019, 3 January 2020 and 24 January
2020, respectively and the circular of the Company dated 12 December
2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The loss on disposal of GE International resulting from the Unwinding
amounted to approximately HK$54.2 million, which is calculated by the
net of the book value of the GE Group as at the date of the Unwinding
Completion and the fair value of the consideration received from the
Settlement Cash together with the Settlement Shares valued at HK$1.39
per Share, the closing price of the Shares on the date of Unwinding
Completion.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the loss attributable to owners of the
Company from the discontinued operation of Biological Business amounted
to approximately HK$56.5 million which represented the results of the
operation included in the profit and loss from 1 April 2019 to the date of
the Unwinding Completion and the abovementioned loss on disposal of GE
International.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group’s capital expenditure, daily operations and investments during
the year ended 31 March 2020 are mainly funded by cash generated from
its operations and loan from a financial institution. The liquidity and financing
requirements of the Group are reviewed on a regular basis. During the
year ended 31 March 2020, the Group was granted a loan amounting to
HK$10.0 million from a financial institution.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had current assets of approximately
HK$160.5 million (2019: approximately HK$190.4 million) and current
liabilities of approximately HK$53.2 million (2019: approximately HK$76.5
million). The liquidity of the Group as evidenced by the current ratio (current
assets over current liabilities) was 3.02 times (2019: 2.49 times).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group maintained cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$27.9 million (2019: approximately HK$34.4 million),
of which 79.5% (2019: 53.6%) were denominated in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) or United States dollars (“‘US$”).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had outstanding borrowing of HK$10.0
million repayable within one year (2019: Nil). There was no outstanding
borrowing repayable after one year (2019: Nil). The Group’s outstanding
borrowing was denominated in HK$ and was charged with interest at the
fixed rate.
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The Group’s strategy was to maintain the gearing ratio at the lowest as
possible. The gearing ratio (calculated by net debt over total equity) of the
Group as at 31 March 2020 was as follows:

Total debt BERE
Less: cash and bank balances B Be RIRITHES

Net debt BETHE
Total equity B EE
Gearing ratio BEAGBLE

Treasury Policy and Financial Management

The Group’s treasury policy aims to ensure that (i) the funding requirements
for capital commitments, investments and operations of the Group can be
fulfilled; and (i) liquidity can be managed to ensure that fund inflows are
matched against all maturing repayment obligations to enhance cash flow
management.

The Group aims to minimise its financial risk exposure. The Group’s policy
is not to engage in speculative derivative financial transactions and not to
invest its existing capital resources in financial products with significant
risks.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

As the Group’s cash and bank balances and transactions are mainly
denominated in HKS$, Renminbi (“RMB”), Australian dollars and US$, the
Directors considered the Group was exposed to exchange risk. During the
year ended 31 March 2020, the Group did not use any financial instruments
for hedging purpose and the Group did not have any hedging instruments
outstanding as at 31 March 2020.

The Group will monitor closely the exchange rate risk arising from the
Group’s existing operations and potential new investments in the future, and
will implement necessary hedging arrangement to mitigate any significant
foreign exchange risks when and if appropriate.

Charge on Group Assets

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any charges on its assets
(2019: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no contingent liability as at 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

Material Capital Commitments
The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March 2020
(2019: Nil).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Company entered into the Settlement Agreement on 17 September
2019 to unwind the Acquisition of GE International. The Unwinding
Completion took place on 23 January 2020 and the Company disposed
of the entire equity interests in GE International. Details of the disposal
were set out in the section headed “Biological Business — Discontinued
operation”.

On 6 February 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire
issued share capital of Golden Ant Investment Limited, the subsidiaries of
which are engaged in the Milk Products Business, for a consideration of
HK$3.5 million.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material acquisitions and
disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures for the year ended 31
March 2020.

Event after the End of the Reporting Period
Details regarding the event after the end of the reporting period are set out
in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

LITIGATION UPDATE

On 7 May 2019, the Company received an enforcement notice ((2018)&
03#120335% ) dated 29 April 2019 (the “2019 Enforcement Notice”) and an
enforcement judgment ((2018)203%120335% 2 — ) dated 28 April 2019
(the “2019 Enforcement Judgment”) issued by the Shenzhen Intermediate
People’s Court of Guangdong Province (the “Court”) of the PRC in relation
to, among other things, the following ruling:

(@  the application made by RIITHHEHEZEFRAF (the “Applicant”)
to compulsorily enforce a judgment ((2014)/% F & M1 F 55190
5%) (the “2014 Judgment”) issued by the Court against % 311 73 4%
EEEBR AR AR (Zeus Telecommunication Technology Holdings
Limited) (“Zeus”) and FEBERE OFY) AR A A (“Tong Qing”),
each a former indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
the Company (collectively, the “Relevant Parties”) was allowed; and

(b)  assets with the equivalent value of the sum of approximately
RMB41.1 million and the interest accrued thereon, costs of the said
application, enforcement costs, etc. of the Relevant Parties were to
be seized and frozen or transferred to the Applicant.
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On 4 May 2020, the Company received an enforcement notice ((2020)&
03#1 K 150%% ) dated 29 April 2020 (the “2020 Enforcement Notice”) and
two enforcement judgments ((2020)E03%1 ik 1505Fand (2020)Z03% 1k
1505% 2 — ) dated 28 April 2020 and 29 April 2020, respectively (the “2020
Enforcement Judgments”), in relation to, among other things, the following:

(@) an application (the “Application”) has been made by A& 4B
(Ms. Xiong Yanli*, “Ms. Xiong”) to the Court to:

(i) replace the Applicant with Ms. Xiong as the new applicant
in the 2019 Enforcement Notice and the 2019 Enforcement
Judgment; and

(if) resume the relevant enforcement procedures under the 2019
Enforcement Notice and the 2019 Enforcement Judgment;

(b)  the Application was made as a result of an assignment by the
Applicant of all its rights under the 2019 Enforcement Notice, the
2019 Enforcement Judgment and the 2014 Judgment to Ms. Xiong;
and

(c)  the Application has been approved by the Court on 28 April 2020
and 29 April 2020.

As advised by the PRC legal advisers to the Company, the Application and
in turn the issue of the 2020 Enforcement Notice and the 2020 Enforcement
Judgments, which resulted from the assignment of the rights under the
2019 Enforcement Notice, the 2019 Enforcement Judgment and the
2014 Judgment, would not incur any additional liability to be borne by the
Company under the 2019 Enforcement Notice and the 2019 Enforcement
Judgment (if any).

The 2014 Judgment happened prior to the resumption of trading of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange on 30 November 2017 (the “Resumption”)
and Zeus and Tong Qing ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company prior
to the Resumption. As at 31 March 2020, the Company has made an
appeal against the 2019 Enforcement Notice and the 2019 Enforcement
Judgment, and none of the assets of the Company has been seized or
frozen. Details of the receipt of these enforcement notices were set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 10 May 2019 and 11 May 2020,
respectively.

As advised by the Hong Kong legal adviser to the Company, in the event
that Ms. Xiong applies to enforce these PRC judgements in Hong Kong
after such judgements had become final, the Company may attempt to
raise objection and seek to oppose or set aside the registration of such
PRC judgements. Given that successful registration will allow Ms. Xiong
to circumvent the terms of the scheme of arrangement for the Company
(which has previously been sanctioned by the Hong Kong court), the Hong
Kong legal adviser is optimistic that it is more likely than not that in light of
an objection on this basis, the Hong Kong court will refuse or set aside the
registration of the PRC judgements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 34 (2019: 178) employees. The
net decrease in the number of employees is mainly due to the disposal
of the GE Group. Total staff cost from continuing operations, including
Directors’ emoluments, amounted to approximately HK$10.0 million
(2019: approximately HK$11.9 million) was incurred during the year ended
31 March 2020. The Group maintains a policy of paying competitive
remuneration. Remuneration of employees which included salary and
discretionary performance bonus are decided with reference to the results
of the Group, the market level as well as individual performance and
contributions. Remuneration packages (including performance bonus) are
reviewed on a regular basis.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme, details of which are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. Such scheme has
expired on 10 February 2020.

CORPORATE STRATEGIES

The Group is dedicated to maximising Shareholders’ values through
persistent improvement in its business performance and commitment to its
core values, which emphasises on fulfilling social responsibilities, satisfying
customers’ needs, and promoting employees’ development.

The Group aims to sustain the development of its Mobile Business
by continuing to explore business opportunities in the communication
technology industry and to strengthen its competitive edge in
telecommunication products and solutions. Meanwhile, the Group will
devote more effort in developing the Milk Products Business as its new
growth point.

THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION ISSUED BY AUDITOR

Reason for Issuing of the Disclaimer of Opinion and the Impact on the
Financial Position

After the acquisition of the GE Group whose principal activity was engaged
in the Biological Business, the Auditor issued a disclaimer of opinion (the
“2019 Disclaimer Opinion”) in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 because:

(@) the Auditor was unable to perform practicable audit procedures to
verify the inconsistencies in the documents and information available,
and to carry out satisfactory audit procedures to obtain reasonable
assurance regarding the occurrence, completeness and accuracy of
the revenue of the Biological Business, and the corresponding trade
receivables balances of HK$14.8 million as at 31 March 2019;
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(b)  in relation to the intangible assets and goodwill arising from the
Acquisition of the GE Group, which amounted to approximately
HK$110.9 million and approximately HK$48.4 million, respectively,
the Auditor was unable to assess whether the fair values as at the
acquisition date and the recoverable amount of these assets as at
31 March 2019 are reliably measured. There are no alternative audit
procedures that the Auditor could perform to satisfy itself as to
whether the carrying amounts of the intangible assets and goodwill,
the associated amortisation expenses attributed to the intangible
assets and tax relating to the Biological Business were free from
material misstatement; and

(c) due to the inconsistencies in the documents and information provided
as described above, there were no alternative audit procedures
the Auditor could perform to satisfy itself as to the occurrence and
existence, accuracy, valuations, rights and obligations, completeness,
classification, disclosure and presentation of the transactions for the
year ended 31 March 2019 and the assets and liabilities related to
the Biological Business as at 31 March 2019, and accordingly, the
Auditor was not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to determine whether any adjustments to the consolidated financial
statements as at and for the year ended 31 March 2019 were
necessary.

In performing the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2020, with the carrying effect of the 2019
Disclaimer Opinion, the Auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy itself as to whether the opening balances of
assets, liabilities and reserves of the Group as at 1 April 2019 and the
corresponding figures were fairly stated which were carried forward.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board decided to unwind the
Acquisition by disposing of GE International, and as a result, the Group
recognised a loss on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$54.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2020. Together with the loss of
approximately HK$2.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 reported
by the Biological Business, the loss from discontinued operation of
Biological Business amounted to HK$56.5 million.

Although GE International has been disposed of in the year ended 31 March
2020, due to the inconsistencies in the documents and information provided
as described above, there were no alternative audit procedures the Auditor
could perform to satisfy itself as to the occurrence and existence, accuracy,
valuations, rights and obligations, completeness, classification, disclosure
and presentation of the transactions for the year ended 31 March 2020 and
the assets and liabilities related to the Biological Business as at the date of
disposal. As a result, the Auditor was unable to carry out satisfactory audit
procedures to obtain reasonable assurance regarding the completeness,
accuracy and valuation in respect of the loss from discontinued operation
for the year ended 31 March 2020, and the Auditor has issued the
disclaimer of opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “2020 Disclaimer Opinion”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Position of the Management and the Audit Committee

As the GE Group ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group upon completion
of the disposal of GE International in the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group will not continue to carry out the Biological Business for the year
ending 31 March 2021. Therefore the management of the Company is of
the view that the 2020 Disclaimer Opinion would not be carried forward to
the year ending 31 March 2021. Instead, as advised by the Auditor, and
concurred by the management of the Company, for the year ending 31
March 2021, an “except for” qualified opinion for the corresponding figures
and comparative financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
under the Hong Kong Standard on Auditing 710 “Comparative Information
— Corresponding Figures and Comparative Financial Statements” (the “2021
Except For Qualified Opinion”) would be issued, which was related to the
loss on discontinued operations of the Biological Business of HK$54.2
million recognised in the year ended 31 March 2020 and merely shown
as corresponding figures and comparative financial statements in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ending 31 March
2021. It is expected that the 2021 Except For Qualified Opinion would not
be carried forward to the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ending 31 March 2022. The audit committee of the Company has
reviewed and agreed with the management’s position.

Plans to Address the Issue

Back in September 2019, the Board decided to unwind the Acquisition
by disposing of GE International in order to safeguard the interest of
the Company and its Shareholders as a whole and to address the 2019
Disclaimer Opinion. Although the Auditor issued the 2020 Disclaimer
Opinion, it is expected that only the 2021 Except For Qualified Opinion
would be issued in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ending 31 March 2021, which arises from the loss on discontinued
operations of the Biological Business recognised for the year ended 31
March 2020 and merely shown as corresponding figures and comparative
financial statements in the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ending 31 March 2021. It is considered that unwinding the
Acquisition by disposing of GE International (which has been completed
during the year ended 31 March 2020) is the final step for the Company to
address the issues from the Biological Business, and save for the disposal,
the Company has no further plans to address the 2020 Disclaimer Opinion.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
The year ended 31 March 2020 was full of challenges for the Group.

Internally, in around June 2019, it came to the attention of the Group
that GE International failed to provide sufficient accounting records and
incidental documents, and on 17 September 2019, in order to safeguard
the interest of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole, the Settlement
Agreement was entered into to unwind the Acquisition of GE International.
The Unwinding was completed on 23 January 2020. The Group is required
to recognise loss on the disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$54.2
million in the consolidated profit or loss during the year ended 31 March
2020 due to the Unwinding. The loss is primarily attributable to the fact that,
according to the current accounting standards, the Company is required
to account for the values of the Shares issued for the Acquisition (being
HK$2.30 per Share, the closing price of the Shares on 29 January 2019)
and the values of the Shares repurchased for the Unwinding based on the
market prices of the Shares on their respective trading days (being HK$1.39
per Share on 23 January 2020).

Externally, the Sino-US trade dispute, the social unrest in Hong Kong, and
the rapid spread of COVID-19 around the globe in the beginning of 2020,
have adversely affected the economy of Hong Kong, mainland China and
the world. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the operations of the
Group were inevitably affected by these events. The Mobile Business of
the Group had been affected by the uncertainties of the Sino-US trade
dispute and the social unrest in Hong Kong in the first half of the financial
year, resulting in a decrease in the sales orders of the Mobile Business. In
the second half of the financial year, the outbreak of COVID-19 had further
worsened the performance of the Mobile Business.

The Group’s business strategy has been to (i) reinforce the existing
business foundation; (ii) actively explore business opportunities in the
communication technology industry; (iii) strengthen the Group’s competitive
edge in telecommunication products and solutions; and (iv) actively seek
opportunities of business development and diversification. However,
the consumer electronics market is highly sensitive to global economic
changes.

The dairy products and milk powder products market is less sensitive to
such global economic changes and has maintained a stable performance
over the past. In February 2020, the Company has acquired Golden Ant
Investment Limited, the subsidiaries of which are principally engaged in
the trading of milk powder and baby foods. This acquisition marks the
beginning of the Group’s expansion in the Milk Products Business. Although
the acquired group has a relatively small business scale, the Group is
confident that the Milk Products Business will contribute more returns to the
Group and its Shareholders in the future. The Group is keen to invest time
and effort in its Milk Products Business, and to drive forward the Group’s
overall business performance.

* For identification purpose only
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to enhancing the standards of corporate
governance of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) in
order to safeguard the long-term interests of shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), customers and employees of the Company. The board
(the “Board") of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company continues to
monitor and review the corporate governance practices as adopted and
strives to meet the rising expectations of the Shareholders and fulfil the
commitment to maintain high standards of corporate governance which
delivers long-term success of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout
the year ended 31 March 2020.

Events After the Reporting Period

Following the resignation of Mr. Cui Songhe as an independent non-
executive Director, who ceased to act as the chairman of the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Commitee”) and a member of each of the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) of the Company with effect from 3 May 2020,
the number of independent non-executive Directors is less than three.
Therefore the Company has not met the requirement under Rule 3.10(1) of
the Listing Rules. In addition, the Company has not met the composition
requirement of the audit committee under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
the chairman and composition requirement of the remuneration committee
under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, and the composition requirement of
the nomination committee under code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code.
The Company is endeavouring to identify suitable candidate(s) to fill the
vacancies as soon as practicable.

THE BOARD

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance, leadership
and control for the Company. The Board formulates mid and long-term
strategies, monitors operational and financial performance, reviews the
annual business plans and financial budgets, ensures good corporate
governance and makes key decisions of the Company, including but not
limited to those affecting strategic policies of the Group, major investment
and funding decisions and major commitments relating to the operations of
the Group.

Board Composition

The Board currently has five Directors comprising three executive Directors
and two independent non-executive Directors. Members of the Board
during the year and up to the date of this annual report are set out below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xiong Jianrui (Chairman)

Mr. Yi Peijian (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chen Zeyu (appointed on 18 October 2019)
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Chak Hung (appointed on 18 October 2019)
Mr. Choi Kin Man (appointed on 1 March 2020)

Mr. Cui Songhe (resigned on 3 May 2020)

Mr. Khoo Wun Fat William (resigned on 1 March 2020)
Mr. Lin Tao (resigned on 23 December 2019)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical
Information of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report on
pages 45 to 47.

The Company currently has two independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board, to bring an independent
judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy, key appointments
and standards of conduct. All independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a term of three years subject to early termination in
accordance with the terms of the respective letters of appointment and
retirement by rotation and re-election and other related provisions as
stipulated in the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”) and the Listing
Rules. Among the independent non-executive Directors, at least one of
the independent non-executive Director has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise
under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
continues to consider all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Pursuant to bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, notwithstanding any other
provisions in the Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of
the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years. Mr. Xiong Jianrui and Mr. Yi Peijian will retire from office as Director at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Director at the AGM,
and be subject to separate resolutions to be approved at the AGM.

Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, the Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to authorisation by
the members of the Company in general meeting, as an addition to the
existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office until the first general meeting of members of the Company
after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Mr. Chen Zeyu, Mr. Li
Chak Hung and Mr. Choi Kin Man will retire from office as Directors at the
AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Director
at the AGM, and be subject to separate resolutions to be approved at the
AGM.
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Relationship Between Board Members

Alpha Professional Development Limited (the controlling shareholder of the
Company) (“Alpha Professional Development”) was beneficially owned as
to 50% by each of Mr. Xiong Jianrui and Mr. Yi Peijian, who are also both
directors of Alpha Professional Development. Save as disclosed above,
there is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships) between Board members.

Board and Committees Meetings

During the year, the Company held seven Board meetings and the individual
attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, and the Remuneration Committee
and general meetings are set out below:

Directors

A S
TREBRE

EEEHE2BRE

RN B A% A% B Alpha Professional Development
Limited ( [Alpha Professional Development |)
BRI E R ST R LA S B B iEE50%E
%5 o 1% & IR 2 Alpha Professional Development
EF-REbMEREEN ESSKB 2EH
EEMAR (BEVE - 5 REKEMEKR
AERERR) -

ESZEREEEEE

RARFERN ARFERTELREESGEM
REENEZS FHE88 REEEEK
HNE 8 & 2 @@ A MBRAG MR HED
SREFIIT -

Number of meetings attended/held

i/ BTEERE

Audit  Nomination Remuneration ~ General

Board Committee ~ Committee Committee  Meeting
B2 ENZEET REZ8% HWZESE REAE

Executive Directors HES

Xiong Jianrui (Chairman) Faln (2E)

Yi Peiian (Chief Executive Officer) SR (7T ##H)

Chen Zeyu (appointed on 18 October 2019) BEF(R=Z-NE+ATN\BEZF)

BUkOTES
PER(R-Z-NFTATA\REZA)
ZER (R-Z-FF=R-HEZ)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Li Chak Hung (appointed on 18 October 2019)
Choi Kin Man (appointed on 1 March 2020)

Cui Songhe (resigned on 3 May 2020) ENE (R TERAZAEE)
Khoo Wun Fat William (resigned on 1 March 2020) (R ZEZF-BEL)
Lin Tao (resigned on 23 December 2019) WE(RZZ-AFTAZTZEHE)
Note:

Attendances of the Directors appointed or resigned during the year were made by reference
to the number of such meetings held during their respective tenures.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The posts of the chairman (“Chairman”) and chief executive officer (“Chief
Executive Officer”) of the Company are held separately by Mr. Xiong
Jianrui and Mr. Yi Peijian, respectively, with a clear and distinct division of
responsibilities.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for ensuring effective
and smooth functioning and operation of the Board and the overall strategy
of the Group and establishing good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The Chairman also ensures that all Directors are properly
briefed on all issues arising at Board meetings and receive adequate,
accurate and reliable information in a timely manner.

During the year, the Chairman held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other executive Directors.

The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the overall management, operation
and business development of the Group and implementing important
policies and development strategy as adopted by the Board in order to
ensure a successful day-to-day management of the business of the Group.

This segregation of roles ensures reinforcement of their independence,
responsibility and accountability.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development Training

The Company has received a confirmation from each of the Directors
that he had participated in continuous professional development training
to develop and refresh his knowledge and skills in accordance with code
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code during the year. According to the records
provided by the Directors and maintained by the Company, the training
received by the Directors during the year is summarised as follows:

EE o HEEERRE
ARFRERBREEZHERE HAREFCR
BREFRERTRZ TRNES AL SIRNAFE
N2 EFEELBREI ABRREHEM
B RIBEEMRERARAFENRT
B BERAFEARZ BB A;MT :

Updates to
laws,
Corporate rules and Finance/
Directors governance regulations management
=B RAR
% TLEER ROZEH 0g/ER
Executive Directors HiE
Xiong Jianrui (Chairman) BE ﬁ\ 1% (£/) A A A
Yi Peijian (Chief Executive Officer) B8l (7 T_IB? #) ABC ABC ABC
Chen Zeyu (appointed on 18 October 2019) B%%% (RZZ-NETATN\BEZM) AC AC AC
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHITES
Li Chak Hung (appointed on 18 October 2019) TEg (F:?—ﬂiﬂ% TNBEZF) ABC ABC ABC
Choi Kin Man (appointed on 1 March 2020) ERER (RZT-TF=R—REZH) BC BC BC
Cui Songhe (resigned on 3 May 2020) ENB(R-Z-TFRA=HET) B B B
Khoo Wun Fat Wiliam (resigned on 1 March 2020) F/#k (R=ZE=ZF=F—HEHT) A A A
Lin Tao (resigned on 23 December 2019) WE(RZE-NAETZAZ+=§f) B B B
Form of training: HFIER
A: Tutorial/Seminar A RREE
B: Online learning B:#L2%
C: Reading materials C : BIEM A
Board Diversity EEEgHREZ T
The Company adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”) RATRIRMESEKE ZTLBER ([Z Tk
setting out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company BE]) BEEHEERESENEL TN

recognises and embrances the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In
designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination
Committee will review the Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to each of the Directors and all Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2020.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Day-to-day management and operation of the Group are delegated to the
management of the Company. The Board provides clear directions to the
management as to its powers and circumstances in which the management
shall report to the Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance in respect of legal action against Directors. In addition, each
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he or
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her
office or otherwise in relation thereto in accordance with the Bye-laws.

The Management

The management, under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer, is
responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses,
implementation of the strategies approved by the Board and general
operations of the Company, as delegated by the Board. Such delegation is
closely monitored and regularly reviewed by the Board. The management
has to report to the Board and approval from the Board has to be obtained,
prior to any significant decisions or any commitments to be entered into on
behalf of the Company.

Board Committees

The Board has delegated authority to the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee to deal with specific matters
under defined terms of reference which are reviewed and updated regularly
to ensure that they remain appropriate and in line with the Group’s business
and changes in governance practices.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee,
consisting of three executive Directors (Mr. Xiong Jianrui, Mr. Yi Peijian
and Mr. Chen Zeyu) and two independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Li
Chak Hung and Mr. Choi Kin Man), is delegated with the authority from the
Board to establish, review and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and practices of the Group. Since the resignation of
Mr. Cui Songhe who ceased to act as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 3 May 2020, the position of chairman has been
vacant and has not been filled up.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee follow the guidelines
as set out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are to determine, with
delegated responsibility, or to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior management,
recommend to the Board the policy and structure on the remuneration of
all Directors and senior management to ensure that no Director or any of
his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration and in reviewing
and approving compensation-related issues.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held a meeting (the
attendance record of the members at the meeting is set out in the section
headed “The Board” above), and also dealt with matters by way of
circulation. It performed works including to review the policy and structure
on the remuneration of all Directors and senior management, recommend to
the Board the remuneration of executive Directors and senior management,
and the remuneration packages for newly appointed Directors and senior
management. Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

Of the senior management of the Group, eight (2019: five) were the
Directors or former Directors whose emoluments are set out in note 10
to the consolidated financial statements. The remuneration payable to
the remaining three (2019: two) member or former members of senior
management by band for the year ended 31 March 2020, pursuant to code
provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, were as follows:
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee, consisting
of three executive Directors (Mr. Xiong Jianrui (chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Yi Peijian and Mr. Chen Zeyu) and two independent non-
executive Directors (Mr. Li Chak Hung and Mr. Choi Kin Man), is delegated
with the authority from the Board to formulate and implement the policy
for nominating candidates for approval of the Board and assess the
independence and commitment of independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee follow the guidelines
as set out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, formulate policy and
make recommendations to the Board on nominations and appointment
of the Directors and succession planning for Directors, and assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held a meeting and the
attendance record of the members at the meeting is set out in the
section headed “The Board” above, and also dealt with matters by way
of circulation. It performed works including to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board, consider the retirement and re-election of
Directors, and make recommendation to the Board the appointment of
Directors, and chief financial officer (“Chief Financial Officer”), company
secretary (the “Company Secretary”) and authorised representative of the
Company.

Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member selection
process. The nomination policy formulated by the Nomination Committee
aimed to ensure the Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee has been delegated to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and
appointment of new Directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects in
this annual report and other financial disclosures as required by the Listing
Rules. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial
position on a going concern basis. A statement by the external auditor of
the Company in respect of its reporting responsibilities is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report”.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board places great importance on risk management and internal control
and acknowledges that it has the ultimate responsibilities for overseeing
the management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing
basis. The Board also acknowledges that it is responsible for reviewing the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The Group maintained the risk management and internal control systems
which are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and to provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or losses caused by judgment in
decision making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities. These
systems cover key controls over financial, operational and compliance
controls and, including but not limited to, risk management functions,
adequacy of resources of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions and an annual control and risk self-assessment process.

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions set out in the
CG Code, the Board has retained Crowe (HK) Risk Advisory Limited, an
independent professional firm, as the outsourced internal auditor with a
view to facilitating adequacy of resources and quality of review to satisfy
the Group’s internal audit function as required by the Stock Exchange and
to assist the Board to perform annual reviews on the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems for the year.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, had reviewed the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

During the year, the Group had conducted an annual risk assessment
which identified respective strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks
and compliance risks for the Group. Based on the risk assessment results
following a risk based methodology audit approach, a three-year audit plan
was devised which prioritised the risks identified into annual audit projects.
The annual review was performed according to the audit plan with a view
to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in evaluating the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Group
had taken further steps to enhance its risk management and internal control
systems based on some weaknesses identified during risk assessment
and examination of the internal control systems, and had strengthened the
implementation of all the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has also established a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information that sets out the procedures in handling inside information
in an accurate and secure manner and to avoid possible mishandling of
inside information within the Group. Those procedures mainly include the
following:

o no Directors or employees shall disclose inside information to any
third parties. Directors or employees who are in possession of inside
information are obliged to preserve confidentiality and restrict access
to the information on a need-to-know and confidential basis;
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o the Company is obliged to comply with the requirements of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and make disclosure of any inside information as soon as
practicable if the Board decides an announcement is required; and

. any Director or employee shall report to the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary immediately when he/
she is aware of any potential inside information.

During the year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and considers them effective and adequate.

Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are set out in the
section headed “Risks and Uncertainties” under the “Directors’ Report”.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee, consisting of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Chak Hung (chairman of
the Audit Committee) and Mr. Choi Kin Man, is delegated with the authority
from the Board to review and provide independent oversight of the financial
statements and reporting, risk management and internal control systems,
and the adequacy of the external and internal audits.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee follow the guidelines as
set out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing
the financial statements and reports and significant financial reporting
judgements, effectiveness of internal audit function, risk management
and internal control systems, audit process, appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditors, arrangements which employees of
the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, had reviewed the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experiences of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group together with the management of the Company, and
had reviewed and approved the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 as set out in this annual
report.
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During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and the attendance
records of the members at the meeting are set out in the section headed
“The Board” above, to review the interim and annual results of the Group
and discuss and recommend for the Board’s approval the relevant financial
reports, the effectiveness of the internal audit function, the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, significant accounting and
audit issues, scope of audit and re-appointment of external auditors, risk
assessment result and internal audit activities, and discuss the audit plan for
the year.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external
auditor during the year.

The Audit Committee monitors the audit and non-audit services rendered
to the Group by the external auditor and ensures that the engagement
of the external auditor in other non-audit services will not impair its audit
independence or objectivity. The external auditor had confirmed to the Audit
Committee that during the course of its audit on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 and thereafter to
the date of this annual report, it is independent of the Group in accordance
with the independence requirements of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the Group’s external
auditor, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, and its affiliates in respect of audit and
non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out as follows:
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HK$’000
Services rendered for the Group EAREEREZRE FET
Audit service %8R 5 1,050
Non-audit services FEIZ BN AR 5 690
Total HEtT 1,740

The Audit Committee had reviewed and approved the above fee in respect
of audit service provided to the Group by the external auditor for the year.
The non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2020 included review
of interim result, internal audit review and risk assessment, review of
environmental, social and governance report and review of working capital
and an indebtedness.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively responsible for the
corporate governance duties. Such duties are, including but not limited to:

o developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;
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o reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and
the Directors; and

o reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed and performed the
abovementioned corporate governance functions.

SHAREHOLDER AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

The Board established a shareholders’ communication policy setting out the
principles of the Company in relation to shareholders’ communications, with
the objective of ensuring that its communications with the Shareholders are
timely, transparent, accurate and open.

Corporate information dissemination is achieved via the following means:

. The annual general meeting of the Company allows the Directors to
meet and communicate with the Shareholders. The notice of annual
general meeting of the Company and the circulars with details of
each of the proposed resolutions and other relevant information
are distributed to the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days
prior to the annual general meeting of the Company as set out in
the Listing Rules. At the annual general meeting of the Company,
separate resolutions are proposed for each of the issues and are
voted on by poll. The Shareholders can raise questions directly to the
Board in respect of business performance and future development
of the Group. The poll results are published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

o Publication of annual reports, interim reports, announcements and
circulars.
o The websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, on which the

electronic copies of financial reports and the latest information of the
Group are available.

The website of the Company provides the Shareholders with contact details
of the Company such as telephone number, fax number, email address and
postal address. The Shareholders may address their enquiries and concerns
to the Board via these means.

General Meetings
During the year, the annual general meeting and the special general meeting
were held on 28 August 2019 and on 3 January 2020 respectively.
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Dividend Policy

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) setting
out the approach to recommend the dividend payment. According to the
Dividend Policy, the declaration of dividends is subject to the Company’s
ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, including but not limited to,
the financial performance and position of the Company, business conditions
and strategies, and any other factors that the Board may deem relevant.
The Board may consider declaring special dividends from time to time,
in addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews the
Dividend Policy and its effectiveness as required to ensure the benefit of the
Shareholders as a whole is taken into consideration from time to time during
recommendation and declaration of dividends.

Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company in order
to enable them to make any enquiries that they may have with respect to
the Company. In addition, Shareholders can contact the share registrar
and transfer office of the Company if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitlements to dividend.

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company who have the right to
vote at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to request
the Board to convene a special general meeting for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board does not proceed duly to call such meeting, the
Shareholders who requested such meeting may themselves call a special
general meeting.

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution are
encouraged to convene a special general meeting in accordance with the
paragraph hereinabove.

Investor Relations

For the year ended 31 March 2020, there was no change in the Bye-
laws which are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and is
appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary is accountable to the
Board for ensuring that correct Board procedures are followed and that the
Board is fully briefed on all legislative and regulatory developments, and to
advise the Board on all corporate governance matters. Pursuant to Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary undertook at least 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year.

Please refer to the “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior

Management” of this annual report on pages 45 to 47 for further information
of the Company Secretary.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company
presents this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of mobile handset
solution (the “Mobile Business”) and the provision of biotechnology and
biological gene technology technical services (the “Biological Business”)
which was discontinued during the year after the completion of the
unwinding of the acquisition of Great Empire International Group Limited
(“GE International”). Since February 2020, the Group has also started to
engage in the trading of milk powder and baby foods (the “Milk Products
Business”). An analysis of the performance of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020 by business segments is set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income on pages 52 to 53 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil). No interim dividend
was paid to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for the
six months ended 30 September 2019 (30 September 2018: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy setting out the approach to
recommend the dividend payment. Please refer to the section headed
“Dividend Policy” under the “Corporate Governance Report” for details.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 is
set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis”, and “Corporate Governance Report” from pages 4 to 6, pages 7
to 16 and pages 17 to 28 of this annual report and the paragraphs below.
A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance and
the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations as well as an
account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees, customers and
suppliers and others that have a significant impact on the Group will also be
provided in the separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.
All such discussions form part of this Directors’ report.
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Risks and Uncertainties

The following section lists out the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the key risk areas outlined as below.

General Economic and Market Conditions

The businesses of the Group may be affected by the global economic
and market conditions. Slow economic growth or a recession could have
a significant impact on results of operations of the Group, particularly the
Mobile Business. As the service of the Mobile Business is applied in the
production of mobile handsets, which would be sold ultimately to end-
users in the retail market, any drop in purchasing power could lead to drop
in the demand for the Group’s services and products. It is the industry
norm for consumer electronics market to be very sensitive to changes in
the global economy. However, compared to the service industry or luxury
products, the Group’s Milk Products Business, which is mainly trading in
milk powder and baby foods, would face less pressure. The Group cannot
control market conditions but believes it has adequate measures in place to
respond to changes.

Competitive Environment

The Group’s Mobile Business faces competition from other mobile handset
production services providers. Mobile handset production providers in
the People’s Republic of China and other Asian countries may have the
capability to provide services similar to that of the Group at competitive
prices. The Group’s Milk Products Business also faces competition with
other distributors. Failure to compete successfully with the existing and/or
potential competitors may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and results of operations. To mitigate the risk of competition, the
Group continues to focus on the pricing basis of our products, our service,
variety of product offerings, access to resources, sales and marketing,
network and production efficiency.

Prices of Components

The profits and performance of the Group’s Mobile Business depends
on various factors including the costs of production. Increase in prices of
mobile handset components such as glass, motherboard, memory and
batteries will in turn increase the costs of production of the Group, and any
shortage or interruption in the supply of major components could disrupt
the Group’s operations. To minimise the risk on prices and supply of
components, the Group has attained price and supply advantages through
placing large-volume orders and maintaining long term relationship with
suppliers.
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Risks and Measures for Reliance on Suppliers and Customers

During the year, for the Group’s continuing operations, the Group’s five
largest customers combined and five largest suppliers combined accounted
for 66.9% of the sales of the Group and 99.9% of the purchases of the
Group, respectively.

In minimising the risk of a heavy reliance on a narrow base of customers,
the Group has been actively pursuing new potential customers in order to
broaden its customer base.

The Group has maintained long term relationship with the suppliers and also
established a strategic supplier system via strategic cooperation with key
component suppliers, forming a framework for mutual growth and support.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group has established strong relationships with its suppliers. However,
the operations of the Group largely depend on stable supply of components
and products from the suppliers. Failure to maintain a relationship with
the suppliers may adversely affect the Group’s results of operations. The
Group dedicates to fostering strong and long-term cooperation relationship
with its suppliers to ensure stable, reasonably priced and quality supply of
components and products for its operation.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks. A discussion of the
policies and procedures on the management of each of the major types
of financial risks which the Group is facing is included in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group is committed to ensure compliance with the laws and regulations
which govern the Group’s businesses and operations. The Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group throughout the year. Further details about the Group’s
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group are set out in the separate “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” which would be published no later than five months
after the end of the financial year.

Financial Key Performance Indicators
Details about the Group’s financial key performance indicators are set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

Details about the Group’s environmental policies and performance are set
out in the separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” which
would be published no later than five months after the end of the financial
year.
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Relationship with Employees

The Group strongly believes that our staff is an invaluable asset to
the Group and is significant to the Group’s business. Therefore, the
Group recognises the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with employees. The Group maintains a policy of paying competitive
remuneration. Remuneration of employees which included salary and
discretionary performance bonus are decided with reference to the results
of the Group, the market level as well as individual performance and
contributions. Remuneration packages including performance bonuses are
reviewed on a regular basis.

Further information on the Group’s relationships with employees are also set
out in the separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” which
would be published no later than five months after the end of the financial
year.

Relationships with Customers and Suppliers

The Group has established strong relationships with its customers. It will
maintain existing relationships with its customers and expand its customer
base to enhance its market presence.

The Group dedicates itself to fostering strong and long-term cooperation
relationship with its suppliers to ensure stable, reasonably priced and quality
supply of components and products for its operation.

Further information on the Group’s relationships with customers and
suppliers are also set out in the separate “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” which would be published no later than five months
after the end of the financial year.

THE PLACING AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On 26 March 2020, the Company entered into the placing agreement (the
“Placing Agreement”) with Morton Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”),
pursuant to which, the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed, as the
placing agent of the Company, to procure, on a best effort basis, not less
than six placees (the “Placees”) to subscribe for up to 50,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company (the “Placing Shares”) at the placing price of
HK$1.10 per Placing Share (the “Placing”). The market price of the share of
the Company (the “Share”) on 26 March 2020, the date on which the terms
of the Placing were fixed, was HK$1.25 per Share.
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The Placing Shares would be allotted and issued under the general
mandate granted to the Directors at the annual general meeting of the
Company convened on 28 August 2019. The Directors are of the view
that the Placing will enhance the capital base and shareholders base of
the Company. In addition, the net proceeds of the Placing will strengthen
the Group’s financial position supporting the operations and business
development of the Group. The Placing was completed after the year ended
31 March 2020, whereby on 17 April 2020, a total of 50,000,000 Placing
Shares have been successfully placed to not less than six Placees who are
individuals, professionals, institutional or other investors whom the Placing
Agent has procured to subscribe for any of the Placing Shares pursuant
to its obligations under the Placing Agreement who (including its ultimate
beneficial owners) are regarded as public (as defined in the Listing Rules)
and independent of and not connected with the Company, the Directors,
chief executive and substantial shareholders of the Group or any of their
respective associates. The gross proceeds from the Placing was HK$55.0
million while the net proceeds was approximately HK$53.8 million (after
deduction of commission and other expenses of the Placing), representing
a net issue price of approximately HK$1.08 per Placing Share. It is intended
that the net proceeds would be used by the Group for (i) general working
capital; and (i) financing future investment or new business development
as and when opportunities arise. The Group currently does not have any
intention to change its plan for the use of proceeds. Details of the Placing
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 26 March 2020
and 17 April 2020, respectively.

As at 31 March 2020, the Placing has not been completed and the gross
proceeds have not been received. Subsequent to the completion of the
Placing on 17 April 2020 and as at the date of this annual report, a total of
approximately HK$10.0 million of the net proceeds from the Placing had
been utilised by the Group as general working capital for Milk Products
Business. There is no specific timeline for the utilisation of the remaining net
proceeds of HK$43.8 million.

DIRECTORS

The list of the Directors is set out below and their biographical information
are set out in the “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior
Management” from pages 45 to 47 of this annual report.

Executive Directors

Xiong Jianrui (Chairman)

Yi Peijian (Chief Executive Officer)

Chen Zeyu (appointed on 18 October 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Li Chak Hung (appointed on 18 October 2019)
Choi Kin Man (appointed on 1 March 2020)

Cui Songhe (resigned on 3 May 2020)

Khoo Wun Fat William (resigned on 1 March 2020)
Lin Tao (resigned on 23 December 2019)
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Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”),
Mr. Chen Zeyu, Mr. Li Chak Hung and Mr. Choi Kin Man will retire from office
as Director at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM”) and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Directors
at the AGM, and be subject to separate resolutions to be approved at the
AGM.

Pursuant to bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Xiong Jianrui and Mr. Yi
Peijian will retire from office as Director at the AGM and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election as Director at the AGM, and be subject to
separate resolutions to be approved at the AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and
the Company continues to consider each of independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Directors has entered into letters of appointment or service
contracts with the Company. As at 31 March 2020, no Director proposed
for re-election at the AGM had a service contract with the Group which
was not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Disclosure of Directors’ Information

The following is the change in the information of the Directors since the date
of the latest interim report which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

Mr. Yi Peijian, an executive Director, has resigned as a vice-chairman and a

director of Shenzhen Warranty Assets Management Co., Ltd.* (/& 3IIT7 ZE &k
REEBEARLQE]) in December 2019.

Mr. Xiong Jianrui, an executive Director, resigned as a non-executive
director of Grown Up Group Limited, a company whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1842), with effect from
7 May 2020.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments payable to Directors will depend on their respective
contractual terms under their service contract or appointment letter as
approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee, with reference to the results of the Group, the market as well as
individual performance and contributions.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Details of the employee retirement benefits of the Group are set out in note
27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to bye-law 164(1) of the Bye-laws, each Director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he or she may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
insurance in respect of the liabilities and costs associated with any
proceedings which may be brought against its Directors and officers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

Except for the off-market repurchase of Shares at HK$1.857 per Share
on 21 January 2020 and the cancellation of such Shares on 23 January
2020 pursuant to the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”),
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2020. The aggregate consideration for 40,716,000 Shares
(before expenses) were HK$75,609,612. Please refer to the paragraph
headed “Biological Business — Discontinued operation” in the section
headed “Business Review” under “Management Discussion and Analysis”
in this annual report for the background and the reasons of the off-market
repurchase of such Shares.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2020, the total number of issued Shares was 264,360,383
of US$0.16 each (2019: 305,076,383 Shares of US$0.16 each).

Details of movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2020 are set out in note 30(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “The Placing and Use of
Proceeds” and “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing Shares were entered into by the Company during the year
or subsisted at the end of the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “2010 Scheme”) for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the operations of the Group. Eligible
participants of the 2010 Scheme include the Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors), confirmed employees of the Group,
the controlling Shareholders and their associates. The 2010 Scheme
became effective on 11 February 2010 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
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Set out below principal terms of the 2010 Scheme:

Purpose

The purpose of the 2010 Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Group, and to encourage participants to perform their best in
achieving goals of the Group.

Participants

The participants are any employee, director, adviser or business
consultant of the Company or any of its subsidiaries as determined
by the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) at its absolute discretion.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise
of all share options granted or to be granted under the refreshed
mandate of the 2010 Scheme was 3,177,868 Shares, representing
approximately 1.20% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at 10 February 2020.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the 2010 Scheme and any other schemes
of the Company in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
issued Share, unless approved by Shareholders.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an
option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2010
Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified by
the Remuneration Committee to each grantee at the time of making
an offer, and in any event such period of time shall not expire later
than 10 years from the date of grant.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Remuneration Committee at
its sole discretion, there is a minimum period of 1 year for which an
option must be held after its date of grant before such an option can
be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the payment
period

The grant of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted when
the duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the grantee with the number of Shares in respect
of which the offer is accepted clearly stated therein together with a
payment or remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company
within 21 days from the offer date.
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8. Basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price of an option shall be a price determined by the
Remuneration Committee in its absolute discretion, but shall not be
less than the higher of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant
which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant;
and

(c) the nominal value of the Shares.

9. Period of the 2010 Scheme
The 2010 Scheme shall remain in force for 10 years commencing on
11 February 2010 up to and including 10 February 2020. The 2010
Scheme expired on 10 February 2020.

No options were granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled from the beginning
of the financial year and up to the date of expiry of the 2010 Scheme on
10 February 2020. At the beginning of the financial year, there were no
outstanding options. At the expiry of the 2010 Scheme on 10 February
2020, there were no outstanding options.

Note: The information above is based on the latest available books and records of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during or at the end of the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate with the exception of granting of
share options to subscribe for Shares under the share option scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests of the Directors, chief executives and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”), as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”)
were as follows:
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Long Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company

RARXBHRED  HERORESNTFE

Approximate
percentage of the
total number of

Number of issued Share et
Name of Director Capacity Shares held HERITRHDEHE 2
EEEHE g4 sk E A A E 2t e
Mr. Xiong Jianrui Interests of controlled corporation 177,965,114 67.32%
AERI IR ST A REEEER (Note 2)
(H3£2)
Mr. Yi Peijian Interests of controlled corporation 177,965,114 67.32%
FER KL REEEE R (=)
(Mi3x2)
Notes: B 5
1. The percentage of the total number of issued Share is based on the 264,360,383 1. AARBBITROBEZBESLIBER T
Shares issued as at 31 March 2020. —EF=A=+T—HEB%17.2264,360,383[% %
AME
2. These 177,965,114 Shares were beneficially owned by Alpha Professional 2. 5% %177,965,114 8% 1% {5 e Alpha Professional

Development Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (‘Alpha
Professional Development”), which, in turn was owned as to 50% by Mr. Xiong
Jianrui and as to 50% by Mr. Yi Peijian. Therefore, each of Mr. Xiong Jianrui and Mr.
Yi Peijian is deemed to be interested in the entire 177,965,114 Shares held by Alpha
Professional Development.

Long Positions in the Shares of the Associated Corporation of the
Company (as defined in the SFO)

Development Limited (1A %8 iE Z B & s A L
22a]) ([Alpha Professional Development )
F 254 A © i Alpha Professional Developmentt
ARSI 50 4 I B EE B 58 £ D BB 50% K% 50% ©
Rt e cERIEREESTERER
#Alpha Professional Developmentf¥ & 2 & &
177,965, 114G A (D R A &

RAXEEEEE (B RESRPEMR) B
R FHHRE

Number of Percentage in
issued ordinary the associated

shares held corporation
Name of Director Name of associated corporation Capacity FrFe T RIEEEE 2
BEEER R EE AR g4 ZRRYAE Bt
Mr. Xiong Jianrui Alpha Professional Development Beneficial owner 50 50%
AR B3 LA Alpha Professional Development BEmERA
Mr. Yi Peijian Alpha Professional Development Beneficial owner 50 50%
SR &L Alpha Professional Development BXEBEA A

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors, chief
executives of the Company nor their associates had any other personal,
family, corporate and other interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ FERRREMA L 2B

INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2020, the following persons or entities, other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company, had or were deemed to have interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO, or which were notified to the Company:

B

KRB ZF=ZA=Z+—H UTALHESR
(WIHBFKARREBITHAER ) AR Sk
BAROT BEREAEAREEFRPE
BIE33BIFREBFEEELMA  kRITHE
RARKERSK A

ki

juni]

AR

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares R RABRERRD 2 17 =

Approximate

Number of percentage of the

issued ordinary total number of

Shares held issued Share M

Name of Shareholder Capacity Fris B 81T HEBRTROEEZ

REHZE 5% LERHE WA E Db e

Alpha Professional Development Beneficial owner 177,965,114 67.32%

Alpha Professional Development 5B A

Shipshape Investments Limited  Interest of controlled corporation 177,965,114 67.31%
Shipshape Investments Limited 5 #%2)% B # %5 (Note 2)
GE)

Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited Interest of controlled corporation 177,965,114 67.31%
FARRBRAT gl oto 2
GE)

Sun Hung Kai Structured Person having a security interest 177,965,114 67.31%
Finance Limited in shares Nse)
MEEEBRERR AR HERDHRBEZHAL (=2

Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited Interest of controlled corporation 177,965,114 67.31%
athE (BB)ERAF Ry EEER (Note 3)
GE)

Allied Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation 177,965,114 67.31%
A EEARAR S AEER oto)
GCED)

Lee Seng Hui Interest of controlled corporation 177,965,114 67.31%
Eq ] A E % toto)
(Ht&:3)

Lee Seng Huang Interest of controlled corporation 177,965,114 67.31%
A2 EePN L e
GE)

Lee Su Hwei Interest of controlled corporation 177,965,114 67.31%
FRE REEEER (Note 3)
GCED)

MEELEERERAE « —E-_ZFFRH
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Notes:

1. The percentage of the total number of issued Share is based on the 264,360,383
Shares issued as at 31 March 2020.

2. Sun Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited was wholly owned by Shipshape
Investments Limited which was in turn wholly owned by Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited.
Therefore, through Sun Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited’s having a security
interest in the 177,965,114 Shares, each of Shipshape Investments Limited and Sun
Hung Kai & Co. Limited was deemed to be interested in the 177,965,114 Shares.

3. Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL”) held 100% interest in AP Jade Limited

which in turn held 100% interest in AP Emerald Limited. AP Emerald Limited held
approximately 62.36% interest in Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited. APL was therefore
deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited was
interested.

APL is a non wholly-owned subsidiary of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”"). AGL was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which APL was interested.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are the trustees of
the Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust. The Lee and Lee Trust controlled
approximately 74.95% of the total number of issued shares of AGL (inclusive of Lee
Seng Hui's personal interests) and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
shares in which AGL was interested through APL.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, there were no other
persons or entities, other than Directors or chief executives of the Company,
had or were deemed to have interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of SFO, or which were notified to the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the law
of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to
the existing Shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 18 September
2019, the Company, Starways Global Holding Inc. (“Starways Global”),
Mr. Wang Bin (“Mr. Wang”) and GE International entered into a Settlement
Agreement on 17 September 2019, pursuant to which, () the sales and
purchase agreement dated 24 December 2018 (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) entered into among the Company (as purchaser), Starways
Global (as vendor) and Mr. Wang (as guarantor) in respect of the acquisition
of the 10,000 shares of GE International shall be rescinded and void from
its inception; (i) all the 40,716,000 Shares shall be transferred by Starways
Global to the Company for cancellation; (jii) Starways Global shall pay the
Company the settlement cash in the amount of approximately HK$18.8
million; (iv) the Company shall transfer the 10,000 shares in GE International
to Starways Global; and (v) each of the parties shall be discharged from all
liability and/or further liability, demands, claims and proceedings arising out
of or in connection with the Sale and Purchase Agreement. The completion
took place on 23 January 2020 after all the conditions precedent under the
Settlement Agreement have been fulfilled.

Since Starways Global held 40,716,000 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 13.4% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the Settlement Agreement, Starways Global
was a substantial Shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) and
thus a connected person of the Company. Therefore, the disposal of the
10,000 shares of GE International by the Company in accordance with
the Settlement Agreement constitutes a connected transaction for the
Company and is subject to the reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Since applicable percentage ratios (as defined under the Listing
Rules) in respect of the transaction contemplated under the Settlement
Agreement exceeds 25% but is less than 75%, the entering into of the
Settlement Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constitute a major transaction for the Company under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules. The special resolutions approving the Settlement Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder was passed by the
independent Shareholders by poll at the special general meeting held on 3
January 2020.

The material related party transactions set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report included a
transaction that constituted a connected transaction within the meaning
of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the requirements
prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transaction entered into by the Group during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following Director is
considered to have interests in the businesses listed below which compete
or are likely to compete with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the
Listing Rules as set out below:

1. Mr. Chen Zeyu is a director and substantial shareholder of Aus
Warehouse Pty Ltd. in Australia, which is engaged in the business of
baby food trading;

2. Mr. Chen Zeyu is a substantial shareholder of ANZ Organic Pty Ltd.
in Australia, which is engaged in the business of baby formula and
vitamins trading.

Although the above-mentioned Director have competing interests in other
companies by virtue of his directorship or shareholding, he will fulfil his
fiduciary duties in order to ensure that he will act in the best interests of the
Shareholders and the Company as a whole at all times. Hence, the Group is
capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length
from, the businesses of such companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and their respective
associates had any direct or indirect interest in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the business of the Group to which the Group was a party, and in which a
Director or his connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2020 or at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

There was not any contracts of significance entered into between the Group
and any controlling Shareholders or its subsidiaries during or at the end of
the year ended 31 March 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts concerning the
management and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the
year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers were approximately 66.9% and 99.9% of the Group’s sales
and purchases from continuing operations, respectively.

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier were approximately 20.5% and 81.3% of the Group’s sales and
purchases from continuing operations, respectively.

Based on the available information to the Directors, none of the Directors,
or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which owns more than
5% of the total number of issued Shares) had an interest in these major
suppliers or customers of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are shown in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER BORROWING

Borrowing of the Group which is repayable within one year is classified as
current liabilities. Repayment analysis of other borrowing of the Group is set
out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group had not
capitalised any interests during the year.

RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company has no reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years
are summarised on page 176.

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year (2019:
Nil).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures. A report on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 17 to 28 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report
(being 23 July 2020), based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited acted as the auditor of the Company and audited
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves

for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Alpha Professional Holdings Limited

Xiong Jianrui
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 29 June 2020

* For identification purpose only
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

XIONG Jianrui (“Mr. Xiong”)

Mr. Xiong, aged 56, has been an executive director and the chairman of the
board of directors of the Company since 30 November 2017. He is also the
chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. He is also a director of Alpha Professional
Development Limited (a controlling shareholder of the Company) (‘Alpha
Professional Development”), and a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Xiong holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Information Engineering
from The Xi Bei Institute of Telecommunications Engineering.

Mr. Xiong has over 20 years of experience in telecommunication technology
and business management. He is currently a partner in Express Team
Holdings Inc. Mr. Xiong was an executive director of China Uptown Group
Company Limited (formerly known as Techwayson Holdings Limited and
The Quaypoint Corporation Limited, shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), Stock Code: 2330) from May 2003 to November 2005 and
from December 2008 to June 2012. Mr. Xiong also was a non-executive
director of Great World Company Holdings Ltd (formerly known as T S
Telecom Technologies Limited, shares of which are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 8003) from October 2007 to December
2007, a non-executive director of Anxin-China Holdings Limited (shares of
which were formerly listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from
June 2017 to December 2018 and a non-executive director of Grown Up
Group Investment Holdings Limited (shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1842) from February 2018 to
May 2020.

YI Peijian (“Mr. Yi”)

Mr. Yi, aged 49, has been an executive director and the chief executive
officer of the Company since 30 November 2017. He is also a member of
each of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. He is also a director of Alpha Professional Development, and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yi holds a Doctor’s
Degree of Philosophy in Statistics from Xiamen University.

Mr. Yi is currently a director of Qianhai Hongtai Fund Management Co.,
Ltd.* (BI/BL=E S EE AR A7), Chengdu Zhifutong New Information
Technology Services Company Limited* ( 5% #B 2 1+ 8 ¥7 & &1 12 iy AR 15
BMR/A7A]), Shenzhen Nanshan Liangwan Fund Management Company
Limited* CRINEILMEE S EEBR A E), TFKT True Holdings and
Sanjohn Investment Management (Cayman) Company Limited, and was the
vice-chairman and a director of Shenzhen Warranty Assets Management
Co., Lid* (R ER K EEE R AR A A (“Shenzhen Warranty”)
from November 2018 to December 2019 and the president of Shenzhen
Warranty from January 2010 to October 2018, a director of Shenzhen
Huakong Seg Company Limited* CFRIIZEIE BRI (DB R A F]) (shares of
which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 000068)
from March 2014 to September 2015, and a director of True Yoga Holdings
Limited from May 2017 to October 2019.

* For identification purpose only
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CHEN Zeyu (“Mr. Chen”)

Mr. Chen, aged 32, has been an executive director of the Company since
18 October 2019. He is also a member of each of the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s
Degree of Social Science in Economics from the University of New South
Wales.

Mr. Chen has over 4 years of experience in cross-border trading business.
He has successfully founded distribution channels between Australia
and China, involving in the establishment of management system for
the integration of cross-border e-commerce and e-marketing. Prior to
the founding of distribution channels, Mr. Chen had also participated in
various real estate projects including research and analysis of real estate
developments in Australia for over 3 years.

LI Chak Hung (“Mr. Li”)

Mr. Li, aged 55, has been an independent non-executive director of the
Company since 18 October 2019. He is also the chairman of the audit
committee, and a member of each of the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor's Degree of
Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is
also a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Li has over 25 years of experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and
financial management. Mr. Li is currently an independent non-executive
director of Asiasec Properties Limited (Stock Code: 271), Sandmartin
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 482) and Summit Ascent
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 102), and was an independent non-
executive director of Alibaba Pictures Group Limited (Stock Code: 1060)
from September 2004 to June 2014 and DreamEast Group Limited (Stock
Code: 593) from October 2004 to December 2019, of which the shares of
all such companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

CHOI Kin Man (“Mr. Choi”)

Mr. Choi, aged 60, has been an independent non-executive director of the
Company since 1 March 2020. He is also a member of each of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Choi holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Journalism from Jinan
University and a Master’s Degree of Business Administration from University
of South Australia.

Mr. Choi has over 15 years of experience in the media and public relations
industry. He is currently the managing director of Shima & Co. Limited, and
an independent non-executive director of Asiasec Properties Limited (Stock
Code: 271), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, and was previously a director of Capital Communications Corp.,
and had participated in a number of public relations and communications
projects.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHAN Chun Hong (“Mr. Chan”)

Mr. Chan, aged 42, has been the chief financial officer, the company
secretary and the authorised representative of the Company since
7 January 2020. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor's Degree of Business
Administration from Hong Kong Baptist University. He is also a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. Chan has more than 18 years of experience working in auditing,
accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the Company, he had
worked for several listed companies in Hong Kong.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZEARE .

Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Alpha
Professional Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 52 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the “Basis
for disclaimer of opinion” section of our report, we have not been able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in
our opinion the consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Opening balances and corresponding figures

The corresponding figures disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
are based on the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2019. The auditor did not express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019.

On 29 January 2019, the Group had acquired the entire equity interests
in Great Empire International Group Limited (‘GE International”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “GE Group”) (the “Acquisition”), whose principal
activity was engaged in the provision of biotechnology and biological gene
technology technical services (the “Biological Business”). The details of the
Acquisition are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
Revenue generated from the Biological Business during the year ended 31
March 2019 amounted to approximately HK$13,904,000 (the “Revenue of
Biological Business”).
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During the course of our audit for the year ended 31 March 2019, we
noticed certain inconsistencies between third parties documents and
information provided by the Group and that we had obtained directly for
revenue transactions under the Biological Business. We were unable to
perform practicable audit procedures to verify the inconsistencies in the
documents and information available to us, and to carry out satisfactory
audit procedures to obtain reasonable assurance regarding the occurrence,
completeness and accuracy of the Revenue of Biological Business, and
the corresponding trade receivables balances of HK$14,751,000 as at
31 March 2019. Furthermore, the intangible assets and goodwill arising
from the Acquisition of GE Group, amounted to HK$110,943,000 and
HK$48,430,000, respectively, had been allocated to the Biological Business
cash generating units. The fair values had been estimated using the cash
flows projections from the Biological Business. Due to the inconsistencies in
documents and information available to us mentioned above and limitation
in the scope of work, we were unable to assess whether the fair values
as at the acquisition date and the recoverable amount of these assets as
at 31 March 2019 were reliably measured. There were no alternative audit
procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to whether the
carrying amounts of the intangible assets and goodwill, the associated
amortisation expenses attributed to the intangible assets and tax relating to
the Biological Business were free from material misstatement.

In addition, because of the inconsistencies in the documents and information
described above, there were no alternative audit procedures we could
perform to satisfy ourselves as to the occurrence and existence, accuracy,
valuations, rights and obligations, completeness, classification, disclosure
and presentation of the transactions for the year ended 31 March 2019 and
the assets and liabilities related to the Biological Business as at 31 March
2019. Accordingly, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to determine whether any adjustments to the consolidated financial
statements as at and for the year ended 31 March 2019 were necessary.

As a result, in performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the
opening balances of assets, liabilities and reserves as at 1 April 2019 and the
corresponding figures were fairly stated.

Any adjustments that might have been found to be necessary in respect of
the above had we obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence would have
a consequential effect on the net assets of the Group as at 1 April 2019, and
of its financial performance and cash flows for the current and prior years,
and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZEARE .

Disposal of Biological Business o
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company entered into a
settlement agreement with the vendor to the Acquisition (the “Vendor”), the
guarantor to the Acquisition and GE International to unwind the Acquisition
by the return of 40,716,000 settlement shares from the Vendor plus the
settlement cash in the amount of approximately HK$18,804,000 to be
paid by the Vendor to the Company, and the Company shall transfer its
entire legal and beneficial interest in GE International to the Vendor (the
“Unwinding”).

Upon completion of the Unwinding during the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Group recognised a loss on disposal of subsidiaries of HK$54,162,000
for the year ended 31 March 2020. Together with the loss of HK$2,363,000
for the year ended 31 March 2020 reported by the Biological Business,
the loss from discontinued operation of Biological Business amounted
to HK$56,525,000. As mentioned above, due to the inconsistencies in
the documents and information provided, there were no alternative audit
procedures we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to the occurrence
and existence, accuracy, valuations, rights and obligations, completeness,
classification, disclosure and presentation of the transactions for the year
ended 31 March 2020 and the assets and liabilities related to the Biological
Business as at the date of disposal. As a result, we were unable to carry
out satisfactory audit procedures to obtain reasonable assurance regarding
the completeness, accuracy and valuation in respect of the loss from
discontinued operation during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Any adjustments that might have been found to be necessary in respect of
the above had we obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence would have
a consequential effect on the Group’s financial performance and cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2020, and the related disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.

Responsibilities of directors and those charged with governance for
the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because of the matters described
in the “Basis for disclaimer of opinion” section of our report, we were not
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 June 2020

Chan Wai Dune, Charles
Practising Certificate Number P0O0712
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss'and"Other-Compr.ehensiye Income
meEBERRkHEMEEKER - . .

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE
L ]

[ ]
52 e
=
L ]
] 2020 2019
—E_FF ZT—NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHET
(restated)
(ge=75)
Continuing operations SEREER
Revenue WA 6(a) 147,930 351,448
Cost of sales HE KA (148,300) (302,408)
Gross (loss)/profit £ (F)/F (370) 49,040
Other income N 7 1,169 5,147
Selling and distribution costs HERDHEAX (1,311) (611)
Administrative expenses THRER (30,833) (23,165)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS RE&E& > (&#E) &R (31,345) 30,511
Finance costs Bh & B A 8(a) (700) -
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION  FRBiAl (EE), EF 8 (32,045) 30,511
Income tax expenses FERAX 9(a) (18) (5,407)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM % B i /8 & 278 >
CONTINUING OPERATIONS REE (FB) B (32,063) 25,104
Discontinued operation BHRIEREER
(Loss)/profit for the year from REBRIEEER
discontinued operation REE (BE),/&F) 13 (56,525) 3,484
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REE (FB) /5T (88,588) 28,588
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ AEEHMEME (FHE)
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF Ui MBRFTEHE
INCOME TAX
ltems that may be reclassified HgngeEmoEs
subsequently to profit or loss: Ba=MIEE
Exchange differences on translation of & /FINETE S B
foreign operations EHER (2,135) 111
Reclassification adjustments relating BEARAFERE
to foreign operations disposed of BINETE 2
during the year BEHNOEAR 1,942 =
Other comprehensive (loss)/income  ANEEHMW2E (F5E)
for the year, net of income tax U s  fNBRATE (193) 111
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ REEE2E (BEB),/
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, Wi
NET OF INCOME TAX HBRFTEH (88,781) 28,699
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBErkEMEZERER

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

(Loss)/profit for the year
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

(Loss)/profit for the year
attributable to owners of
the Company:
from continuing operations
from discontinued operation

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year, net of income tax
attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year, net of income tax
attributable to owners of the
Company:
from continuing operations
from discontinued operation

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

From continuing operations
Basic and diluted

From discontinued operation
Basic and diluted

From continuing and
discontinued operation
Basic and diluted

Notes

B &E

REE (BE) BT
P
ARERER

FEIRR R AR

RNBRER
FEAh 7S 5
(F18) A :
RAEFBEEER
KAEDKRILEEER

AEFERHE (FR)
Wi AR - HIRRPRIS B
P15
ARERR
IR

RRABRREERFE
M (BR) hEeE
MBRATISH -

RADKRIEREERR

BR (BE) B 14

REFELEXER
BEAREE

REBRIEREER

ERIEREER

The notes on pages 59 to 175 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

2020 2019
—z-%2H —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(restated)

(ge=75)

(88,056) 28,783
(532) (195)
(88,588) 28,588
(31,531) 25,299
(56,525) 3,484
(88,056) 28,783
(88,249) 28,894
(532) (195)
(88,781) 28,699

(31,625) 25,311
(56,624) 3,583
(88,249) 28,894
HK cents HK cents
Al AL
(restated)

('=E5)

(10.6) 9.6
(19.0) 1.3
(29.6) 10.9
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position— "
:2-7?‘ é ,E\ZI- 7_]% Hﬁ iﬂu %‘:Z . L .

At 31 March 2020 RZZ=ZF=H=+—H

[ ]
™
T .
E——
[ ]

@ 2020 2019
—E-THF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHx FHET

Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y B R 15 3,394 11,065
Intangible asset mREE 16 - 110,943
Goodwill BES 17 2,161 48,430
Rental deposit HEZS 19 241 =
5,796 170,438

Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 18 12,122 6,568
Trade and other receivables B 5 K& E bR GRIE 19 119,916 149,371
Tax recoverable AT Uy Bl 7 1 537 =
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITHER 20 27,908 34,421
160,483 190,360
Current liabilities mBEE

Trade and other payables B 5 & H b e kI8 21 32,445 50,520
Contract liabilities EHEaE 22 8,943 2,632
Other borrowing Hib g E 23 10,000 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 1,735 =
Financial guarantee liabilities ISR B & 25 - 22,214
Tax payable FE R IR 125 1,120
53,248 76,486
Net current assets REEETE 107,235 113,874
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBER 113,031 284,312

Non-current liabilities *kFRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAR 24 1,608 -
Deferred tax liabilities BEMIEAE 26(a) - 27,736
1,608 27,736
Net assets EEFH 111,423 256,576
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mE BB RE

At 31 March 2020 RZZ_Z&=fA=+—H

a
2020 2019
—E_TF —ZT-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHEIT
Capital and Reserves BARK#E
Share capital R A 30(b) 329,662 380,298
Reserves ki 30(c) (218,239) (124,031)
Equity attributable to owners of ZN/NSI1 )
the Company FElERE= 111,423 256,267
Non-controlling interests IR E = - 309
Total equity AR 111,423 256,576

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June RIZ_TFRA-TLBEESEEHER

2020 and are signed on its behalf by: RETE WHTIHIESRRES
Xiong Jianrui Yi Peijian
REBI I Z1E8l
Executive Director Executive Director
HITESE HITESE
The notes on pages 59 to 175 form part of these consolidated financial FEH9E175B 2 M AARERE B I TF= 2 485K
statements. & o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity -
mEERSER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

At 1 April 2018
Change in equity for 2019
Profit/{loss) for the year

Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations

Total comprehensive incomef(loss)
for the year

Shares of the Company (the “Shares”) issued for
acaquisition of subsidiaries (note 30(o)()

At 31 March 2019

and 1 April 2019
Change in equity for 2020
Loss for the year

Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations

Reclassification adjustments refating to foreign

operations disposed of
during the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Buy-back of Settlement Shares for cancellation
upon completion of the Unwinding (note 30(0)(i)
and disposal of subsidiaries (note 35)

At 31 March 2020

RZZ-\FBA-A

“E-NEREED

KEREN/ (BR)

BEESN RN
EXZR

AEREANE/
(BR)2%
YERBARZ T AR AR
(M%) (R0

RZB-NEZR=T-AK

—Z-NEMA-A
“ECEEUREED
TEEEE
AERNEBIEN

59588

rEERAFREE

RERFERREEENRRR
i 5 8 (P 3E30(0)(i)) &

HEMBAR (Hi35)

R-E-FE=A=+-H

The notes on pages 59 to 175 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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RS -
° Attributable to owners of the Company
KAARREL
Foreign
currency Non-
Share Share translation Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
bt
e RiYEE BERE EfbiE ZithE & FEREs BRAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TARL TR TR FiEn TR
316,471 548,930 - 2,400 (757,365) 110,436 504 110,940
- - - - 28,783 28,783 (195) 28,688
= = 11 - - 11 - 11
- - 11 - 28,783 28,894 (195) 28,699
63,827 53,110 - - - 116,937 - 116,937
380,298 602,040 1 2,400 (728,582) 256,267 309 256,576
- - - - (88,056) (88,056) (632) (88,588)
- - (2,135) - - (2,135) - (2,135)
- - 1,942 - - 1,942 - 1,942
- - (193) - (88,056) (88,249) (832) (88,781)
(50,636) (6,959) - (2,400) 2,400 (56,595) 223 (56,372)
329,662 596,081 (82) - (814,238) 111,423 - 111,423
EEOE175E 2 M AAGRE BSR4




Operating activities
(Loss)/profit before taxation:
continuing operations
discontinued operation
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Gain on disposal
of a subsidiary

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
from discontinued operation

Finance costs
Depreciation
Amortisation

Impairment loss of trade receivables
Loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment
Unrealised exchange loss

Changes in working capital

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

(Increase)/decrease

in trade and

other receivables
Increase/(decrease)

in trade and

other payables
Increase/(decrease)

in contract liabilities

Cash (used in)/generated from
operations

PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Payment of the purchase of property,

plant and equipment

Interest received

Net cash inflow on disposal of
subsidiaries

Net cash inflow on acquisition
of subsidiaries

Net cash generated
from investing activities

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEBRERER

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

HEEH

BRiAT (18D, aFl
FEREXED
ERIERERE

R

B WA
HE—RMBARZ
W g
HEXRBDRILESE
Xz MBARER
MBER

e

g

B 5 R RIEREEE
HEWE BE R
HEHEER
REHEHER

HEESEY
frE ()R
BHRHEM
& Wk IR
(), Ed
25 NEHM
JEA RIE
#n,/ Chd)
aHaRE
gm/ CRd)

& () s
RE

BERPEEEMEHKEA
ERNEENEH

BEEDFAREFER

REZH

BEVE BEL&E
ZRIA

[EEENS)

HEMBARZ
BEMRAFER

WEEHT B AR 2
RERAFR

REBHE
REFH

2020 2019

—E_TF —ZT-NF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M & FET FHEIT

(32,045) 30,511

13 (57,935) 3,014
7813 ) (30)
7 (1,051) =
13 54,162 =
8(a) 700 =
8(c)&13 3,057 1,625
13 5,642 1,880
8(c) 9,547 =
8(c) 50 =
6 —

(17,870) 37,000

(8,150) 5,430

(7,249) 1,856
12,082 (41,214)
6,311 (1,220)

(14,876) 1,852

(29) =
(1,397) (15,269)
(16,302) (13,417)
= (%)

3 30

35 726 =
34 2,411 12,187
3,140 12,212
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GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE
L ]

Financing activities
Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest element of lease rentals paid
Proceeds from new other borrowing
Interest paid for other borrowing

Net cash generated from
financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of the year

The notes on pages 59 to 175 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

BEEE
ENEEREZEARE
ENEEREZFES
H e B S HIA
ERfEMERENS

mEEB TS
REFEE

RERASEEMWRD
HEE

FEARERRE
ZEY

HINEEE P R % B Y
HEFH

FERRERRE
£E8Y

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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2020 2019
—E-EF —T—hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B = FBr FAET
(1,213) =
(143) =
10,000 =
(494) =
8,150 =
(5,012) (1,205)
34,421 35,548
(1,501) 78
20(a) 27,908 34,421
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company (Registration No. 39519) was incorporated in Bermuda
on 30 January 2007 under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability. Its ultimate parent is
Alpha Professional Development Limited which is a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (‘BVI”) with limited liability.
The ultimate controlling parties are Mr. Xiong Jianrui and Mr. Yi Peijian,
respectively. The registered office of the Company is located at
Continental Building, 25 Church Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda.
Its principal place of business is located at Room 1902, 19th Floor,
Allied Kajima Building, 138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are provision of mobile handset solution
(the “Mobile Business”), provision of biotechnology and biological
gene technology technical services (the “Biological Business”) which
was discontinued during the year ended 31 March 2020 after the
completion of the unwinding of the acquisition of Great Empire
International Group Limited (“GE International”). Since February 2020,
the Group has also started to engage in the trading of milk powder
and baby foods (the “Milk Products Business”).

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (‘IFRSs”), issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs which are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 4 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from the initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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L] 2 =2
scaslGllIIEe
2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL 22 HMIBmRERERE
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to

as the “Group”).

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”") which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency,
and all value are rounded to the nearest thousand HK$ except where

otherwise indicated.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from

these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the

revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that
have significant effect on the consolidated financial statements and

major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result in the Group
as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the owners of the Company.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)(i)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss (see note
2.3(f)(ii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 EBEAREFTHBEME (&)

(Continued)

(b)(i)) Business combinations (Continued) i) EKE6(E)

RUEB R BB BN EE
LesAREaENREATEER
B HEA BRI :

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes”
and IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered
into to replace share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2
“Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date;

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in IFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new
leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 EBASTEEME (&)
(Continued)
(b)() Business combinations (Continued) i) EKE6(E)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of
non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition—
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)(i)

(b)(ii)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income and measured
under IFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items
for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash—
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)(ii) Goodwill (Continued)

(c)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently whenever there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When
the Group disposes of an operation within the cash- generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 2.3(f)):

= right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered owner of
the property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and
equipment (see note 2.3(e)).
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings situated thereon is depreciated
over the unexpired term of lease.

Machinery and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Electronic equipment

6 to 10 years

Over the remaining lease terms
3 to 5 years

3 to 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers
from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow
hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and
equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised
in profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net proceeds on disposal and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss
on the date of retirement or disposal.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following
have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;
o the availability of adequate technical, financial and other

resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure (Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition
criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, on the following basis:

The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:
— Customer relationship 10 years
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination with

indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK .

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee

(A)  Policy applicable from 1 April 2019

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single
lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Leased assets (Continued)

(i) As a lessee (Continued)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined,
using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After
initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease
liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see notes 2.3(c) and 2.3(f)(iii)).
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(e) Leased assets (Continued) e MHEEE (&)
(i)  As alessee (Continued) ()  EBEREA (&)
(A)  Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued) A BZFE-NFWA
— H #1889 R
(%)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do
not meet the definition of investment property in
property, plant and equipment and presents lease
liabilities separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Leased assets (Continued)

(i) As a lessee (Continued)

B

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group
classified leases as finance leases if the leases
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group. Leases which did not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group were classified as
operating leases, with the following exceptions:

- property held under operating leases
that would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property was classified
as investment property on a property-
by-property basis and, if classified as
investment property, was accounted for as if
held under a finance lease; and

- land held for own use under an operating
lease, the fair value of which could not be
measured separately from the fair value of a
building situated thereon at the inception of
the lease, was accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building
was also clearly held under an operating
lease. For these purposes, the inception of
the lease was the time that the lease was
first entered into by the Group, or taken over
from the previous lessee.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 EBASTEEME (&)
(Continued)
(e) Leased assets (Continued) e MHEEE (&)
(i)  As alessee (Continued) ()  EBEREA (&)
(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019 (Continued) B RZFE-NFMNA
— H 518 85 R
(%)

Where the Group acquired the use of assets under fii A~ 5= B LA B & 7R

finance leases, the amounts representing the fair ERBSEEMER

value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present 1 BlgRaEEnRE

value of the minimum lease payments, of such EBEERTEEK

assets were recognised as property, plant and ZEENXEHEE

equipment and the corresponding liabilities, net RNFERE (UREE

of finance charges, were recorded as obligations BE)NSHEERE

under finance leases. Depreciation was provided L ER S Y

at rates which wrote off the cost or valuation of the miGEmEE AR

assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where
it was likely the Group would obtain ownership
of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in
note 2.3(c). Impairment losses were accounted
for in accordance with the accounting policy as
set out in note 2.3(f). Finance charges implicit in
the lease payments were charged to profit or loss
over the period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge
on the remaining balance of the obligations for
each accounting period. Contingent rentals were
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they were incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019 (Continued)

Where the Group had the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
were charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis was more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives
received were recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals were charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they were
incurred.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the Group applies the exemption described in note
2.3(e)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an
operating lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &#ZE-ZT =%
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets

@

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables and other receivables, which are
held for the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and interest).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate;

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 EBASTEEME (&)
(Continued)
()  Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) H EEEEREEREE)
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued) () EHEITAELHEEEE
(#)
Significant increases in credit risk SRR EZEIE M
In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial EFEERIANEER
instrument has increased significantly since initial REVIERREREETEE
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default BINE NREBEERBE
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the AT e T ANER
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial [ Bex B ¥ 4 BE SR B HART AL
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group WEANREBREL R EE
considers that a default event occurs when (i) the ITEBEINEE - ()74
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the SETERRITEBR (I
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions BHERLD (MEFHF) )
such as realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial BERARNAEBE2EET
asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both EEZEEXWHAEET
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable K:si(i)em & ED 8 5
and supportable, including historical experience and R AEEARAD #
forward-looking information that is available without EENEH -AEEEE
undue cost or effort. EEEKEEREEBENEEM
FHEER BEEFMD
TN BRI A LS R
MBALERRATEEE
e
In particular, the following information is taken into LEERE B IR HERIE
account when assessing whether credit risk has EERKES SN
increased significantly since initial recognition: F-g8ZEUTER:
= failure to make payments of principal or interest on -  KREEAHNIHA
their contractually due dates; IR EHFE
= an actual or expected significant deterioration in - @BIANDBHR
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit HHMEETR (W
rating (if available); B)ERKTEHEE
=ik
= an actual or expected significant deterioration in - BEBALEEEE
the operating results of the debtor; and R EHBER
b &
- existing or forecast changes in the technological, - Biif-mis - KB
market, economic or legal environment that have a ERRBNR A K
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to TERI S EHEB A
meet its obligation to the Group. BITHHAEERE
ERIBE N EREKXR

TR E-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note
2.3(p)(ii) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

®

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

= it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at fair
value, which is determined by reference to fees charged
in an arm’s length transaction for similar services,
when such information is obtainable, or to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged,
had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued (see note 2.3(p)(iii)).

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract and recognises a provision
when ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined
to be higher than the amount carried in respect of the
guarantees (i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued
(Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes
in the risk of default of the specified debtor since
the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is
measured unless the risk that the specified debtor will
default has increased significantly since the guarantee is
issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The
same definition of default and the same assessment of
significant increase in credit risk as described in note
2.3(f)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the
event of a default by the specified debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an
ECL is estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amount that the Group expects to receive from the
holder of the guarantee, the specified debtor or any other
party. The amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except

in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets;

- prepayments and deposits;
- intangible assets;
= goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

= Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of
units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
amount of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(iiij)  Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

(iv)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34,
“Interim Financial Reporting”, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of
the financial year (see notes 2.3(f)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to which
the interim period relates.

(g) Inventories
Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such sale

or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Inventories (Continued)

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write—
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 2.3(p)). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 2.3(j)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method (see note 2.3(p)(ii)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note 2.3(f)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0

(k)

(U}

(m)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value
less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing
costs (see note 2.3(r)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 2.3(f)(ii), trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and
cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2.3(f)(i).

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Equity-settled share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a share-based payments reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using
the valuation model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options,
the total estimated fair value of the share options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payments reserve. On vesting date,
the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of share options that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the share- based
payments reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share-based payments reserve until
either the option is exercised when it is transferred to the
share premium account or the option expires (when it is
released directly to accumulated loss).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

e
23 BAEFEERME (E)

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred
tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax
credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided that those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary differences or in periods into which a
tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or
periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 H#E—Z-_TH&-A=+—HItFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

23 EBEAEIFBERME (E)

")

PR A3

Frfs®t (&)

ERECHELELRBENER
BISME R BIE - TR RIS ETT
MRAEE T2 ER
BAE (WIEBEHF—FHD)
MEES BBV HREEANT
2R URRHEBARMIEE
M E R AR MABRERHE
A - RIE PR A AN 55 [ 922 15 43 [o] B
RMBERA] RARRATGETSEEH
R Sl W B T R = 0 AR
FEBR R AR B =R

EHRNEEHBECHIEREE
HEERAENTERERNEE
FR - FERBEHAREBMRE
HEBEMHBRETE - BLEBIE
BEHBEH T TR

EERREEMNRAES NS R
%%X%M@ﬁ'ﬁEKﬂ%
15 /e S FE AR TR M T R 4K 4048
ﬁmﬁﬂ £ 5 T SAHRL © i R
RS EHNERTEAE B
ﬁﬁ%%%%@o

B 2 I e B T BB SN EE AR Y P AS A5
XN AERE AR B B B RS
HER

B EA R TE 4 5 MOE T TR B A 5
MEZFHe SRR BT FIR
H- RN EEERBEERIEE
ERSEARRSAANEEBEETE
T RELARDEARY TR & EE 4K 85 R0 HA
RESE YAFANTHER
HEIERT 75 8] bA5 Bl K 84 B
B EEEREEHEAE:

- %%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ”ﬁ
NERAE B EILFER

HELHE SARBERZ
BEMBEEZAE X

ZRAEMBDE « ZE-FFFRH

89



90

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e bR R MR .

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)  Income tax (Continued)

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.

(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(@

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(0)

(P)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(ii)  Contingent liabilities assumed in business
combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
which are present obligations at the date of acquisition
are initially recognised at fair value, provided the fair value
can be reliably measured. After their initial recognition
at fair value, such contingent liabilities are recognised
at the higher of the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation where appropriate, and the
amount that would be determined in accordance with
note 2.3(0)(i). Contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination that cannot be reliably fair valued or were
not present obligations at the date of acquisition are
disclosed in accordance with note 2.3(0)(i).

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods or the provision of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for more
than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately under
the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a
financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. The Group takes advantage
of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is 12 months or
less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e bR R MR .

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

)

(i)

(i)

Sale of goods and provision of services

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products or services.
If the products or services are a partial fulflment of a
contract covering other goods and/or services, then
the amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under the
contract, allocated between all the goods and services
promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see note 2.3(f)(i)).

Income from financial guarantee issued

Income from financial guarantee issued is recognised
over the term of the guarantees (see note 2.3(f)(ii).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 H#E—Z-_TH&-A=+—HItFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the Group initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value is measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign
operations acquired on or after 1 April 2005, are translated
into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the foreign currency translation reserve.
Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign operation acquired
before 1 April 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate
that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
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e
23 BAEFEERME (E)

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

r)

(s)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents
a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, which
comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 #Z—Z -—ZTF =-H=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

®)

Related parties

a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

V) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

Vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t) Related parties (Continued)
b) (Continued)

vii) A person identified in (g)()) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(u)  Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Company’s executive directors (the chief operating
decision maker) for the purposes of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical accounting judgement

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in trading of milk powder and baby foods.
The Group concluded that the Group acts as the principal for
such transactions as it controls the specified good before it
is transferred to the customer after taking into consideration
indicators such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to provide the goods. The Group has inventory
risk. When the Group satisfies the performance obligation,
the Group recognises trading revenue in the gross amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled as
specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recognised
revenue relating to trading of milk powder and baby foods
amounted to HK$30,481,000.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(i) Impairment for goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of
the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units)
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows,
a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March
2020, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$2,161,000
(2019: HK$48,430,000) (net of accumulated impairment
loss of HK$nil (2019: Nil)). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in note 17.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENJTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition,
the Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the trade receivables which are individually insignificant.
The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in note 19.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of
items of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to
consider various factors, such as technical or commercial
obsolescence arising from changes or improvements
in production, or from a change in the market demand
for the product or service output of the asset, expected
usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the
care and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar
limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of the
useful life of the asset is based on the experience of the
Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way.
Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful
lives and/or the residual values of items of property, plant
and equipment are different from the previous estimation.
Useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of
the reporting period based on changes in circumstances.
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Impairment assessment for non-financial assets
(other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Current tax

The subsidiaries of the Company are subject to income
tax in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
and Hong Kong. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current tax and deferred tax provisions in
the financial period in which such determination is made.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is
made based on the estimated net realisable value of
inventories. The assessment of the required write—
down amount involves management’s judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation
in future is different from the original estimate, such
difference will have an impact on the carrying amounts
of inventories and the write-down charge/write-back
amount in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 3. EESHERME (&)
ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) ) FEEFTEEENEZRIR (&)
(vij)  Determining the lease term i) EEFHER
As explained in policy note 2.3(e), the lease liability is IR M 5E2.3(e) TR 2 -
initially recognised at the present value of the lease HEABVSZREERA
payments payable over the lease term. In determining EAAENRNRAERE
the lease term at the commencement date for leases R-EHBAHREERS
that include renewal options exercisable by the Group, AT EITER SRR
the Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising the BENEE 2 HEHE
renewal options taking into account all relevant facts and EHAEETFEERREE
circumstances that create an economic incentive for the 1 PR 4SS D 1 4R R
Group to exercise the option, including favourable terms, ZRIBER (BER MK
leasehold improvements undertaken and the importance K EBETHHEEEER
of that underlying asset to the Group’s operation. The ZIEEEEH RN EEER
lease term is reassessed when there is a significant event WEZM)ETEER K
or significant change in circumstance that is within the BRI E AR EEE
Group’s control. Any increase or decrease in the lease MAlEM-MEBEEKRSE
term would affect the amount of lease liabilities and right- 1 51 7 55 (842 o) 6 [
of-use assets recognised in future years. HIERHREEXNES &K
EEeEMTHEES-
7 HA A R ok 4R K2 Y9 T A
BEARRBFMER M
EEELRFAREAEST
B
4.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 4. R RAERT B  EER 5 E Bl 2 FE A

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB:

IFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to IFRS 9
Amendments to IAS 19
Amendments to IAS 28
Annual Improvements

to IFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle

IFRIC 23

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12
and IAS 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Except for IFRS 16, “Leases”, none of the developments have had a
material effect on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior year have been prepared or presented in these
consolidated financial statements. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current year.
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases”

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17, “Leases”, and the related interpretations,
IFRIC 4, “Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease”,
SIC 15, “Operating Leases — Incentives”, and SIC 27, “Evaluating
The Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease”.
It introduces a single accounting model for lessees, which requires
a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all
leases, except for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less (“short-term leases”) and leases of low-value assets. The lessor
accounting requirements brought forward from IAS 17 substantially
unchanged.

IFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to assess the effect that leases have on the financial
position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 as from 1 April 2019. The
Group has elected to use the modified retrospective approach and
has therefore recognised the cumulative effect of initial application
as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 April 2019.
Comparative information has not been restated and continues to be
reported under IAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous
accounting policies and the transition options applied are set out
below:

(@)  New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the
concept of control. IFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis of
whether a customer controls the use of an identified asset for a
period of time, which may be determined by a defined amount
of use. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the
right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

(a

(®)

New definition of a lease (Continued)

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in IFRS 16
only to contracts that were entered into or changed on or
after 1 April 2019. For contracts entered into before 1 April
2019, the Group has used the transitional practical expedient
to grandfather the previous assessment of which existing
arrangements are or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts
that were previously assessed as leases under IAS 17 continue
to be accounted for as leases under IFRS 16 and contracts
previously assessed as non-lease service arrangements
continue to be accounted for as executory contracts.

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

IFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to classify
leases as either operating leases or finance leases, as was
previously required by IAS 17. Instead, the Group is required
to capitalise all leases when it is the lessee, including leases
previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17,
other than those short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets which are exempt. As far as the Group is concerned,
these newly capitalised leases are primarily in relation to
property, plant and equipment as disclosed in note 15. For an
explanation of how the Group applies lessee accounting, see
note 2.3(e)(i).

At the date of transition to IFRS 16 (i.e. 1 April 2019), the
Group determined the length of the remaining lease terms and
measured the lease liabilities for the leases previously classified
as operating leases at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the relevant incremental borrowing
rates at 1 April 2019. The range of the incremental borrowing
rates used for determination of the present value of the
remaining lease payments was 3% to 5%.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

(b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued)

To ease the transition to IFRS 16, the Group applied the
following recognition exemption and practical expedients at the
date of initial application of IFRS 16:

(i)

(i)

the Group elected not to apply the requirements of IFRS
16 in respect of the recognition of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets to leases for which the remaining
lease term ends within 12 months from the date of initial
application of IFRS 16, i.e. where the lease term ends on
or before 31 March 2020;

when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of initial
application of IFRS 16, the Group applied a single
discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics (such as leases with a similar
remaining lease term for a similar class of underlying
asset in a similar economic environment); and

when measuring the right-of-use assets at the date of
initial application of IFRS 16, the Group relied on the
previous assessment for onerous contract provisions
as at 31 March 2019 as an alternative to performing an
impairment review.
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4.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 4. FHEIRAERTEIRR B HE 3R 5 2 A 2 FE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (#&)
(Continued)
IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) BFR ISR 5 2ERIZE1655 [FHE ] (&)
(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued) b)) FAEAHETEEZETLREAES
£ (4E)
The following table reconciles the operating lease commitments TRHEIWR_ZT—-NE=A

as at 31 March 2019 as disclosed in note 28 to the opening
balance for lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019:

Operating lease commitments at 31 March 2019

Add: lease payments for the additional
periods where the Group considers it
reasonably certain that it will exercise the
extension options

Less: total future interest expenses

Present value of remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing
rate and total lease liabilities recognised at
1 April 2019

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously classified
as operating leases have been recognised at an amount equal
to the amount recognised for the remaining lease liabilities,
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to that lease recognised in the consolidated AR S

statement of financial position at 31 March 2019.

=+ —HHEERERE (1K
FEO8FTHER ) EN — T — MY

A—HAmRNEEa GG
28R
HK$’000
FHET
T-AF=ZA=+—HHN
i« B EAE 893
A A IR
WERITE
BHEERE 2 BINIREM
AERK 2,724
3,617
B RERMELZ @R (270)
FpHEERRRE:
FAEEERFERIEER R
RZZ—hEMNA—BER
HEABEESE 3,347

SERENEAKEHENEER
Fﬁﬁ’ﬂfﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁmﬂﬂﬁﬁm
RAKEERBEZ S BRER
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued)

4. R RAEFTEIRR R B E R 2 B

(&)

Bl ER 2 RISE165% [HHE ] (&)

(b) BREAHETEES EREBESR

The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption
of IFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial

position:

Line items in the consolidated
statement of financial
position impacted by the
adoption of IFRS 16:

Property, plant and equipment

Total non-current assets

Lease liabilities (current)

Total current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less
current liabilities

Lease liabilities (non-current)
Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

R A0 B PR B 7 R 5 R B

F16% & & &
BIEARR FR AV IR B
e QAN T

FRBEELE

HEAE GERE)
FRBEBRE

BEERHE

#(#)

TR MBI B 5 & E R
F16HE AR EERE P BRAR
BEZ -

Carrying  Capitalisation Carrying

amount at of operating amount at

31 March lease 1 April

2019 contracts 2019

—E-hEF —E-hEF

=A=+—H EXtz mA—H

ZIREME KEHESY Z EREE

HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000

FHET FHET FHET
Al
PAN
[=}

11,065 3,347 14,412

170,438 3,347 173,785

- (1,222) (1,222)

(76,486) (1,222) (77,708)

113,874 (1,222) 112,652

284,312 2,125 286,437

- (2,125) (2,125)

(27,736) (2,125) (29,861)

256,576 - 256,576
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

(c)

Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash
flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee is required
to recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-
of-use asset, instead of the previous policy of recognising rental
expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. This results in a positive impact on
the reported profit from operations in the Group’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, as
compared to the results if IAS 17 had been applied during the
year.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group as a
lessee is required to split rentals paid under capitalised leases
into their capital element and interest element (see note 20(b)).
These elements are classified as financing cash outflows, similar
to how leases previously classified as finance leases under IAS
17 were treated, rather than as operating cash outflows, as was
the case for operating leases under IAS 17. Although total cash
flows are unaffected, the adoption of IFRS 16 therefore results
in a significant change in presentation of cash flows within the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

The following tables give an indication of the estimated impact
of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the Group’s financial result,
segment results and cash flows for the year ended 31 March
2020, by adjusting the amounts reported under IFRS 16 in
these consolidated financial statements to compute estimates
of the hypothetical amounts that would have been recognised
under IAS 17 if this superseded standard had continued
to apply in 2020 instead of IFRS 16, and by comparing
these hypothetical amounts for 2020 with the actual 2019
corresponding amounts which were prepared under IAS 17.
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a
APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 4. FETRAERT BRI E R 5 2E R 2 FE A
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (&)
(Continued)
IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) B PR A ISR 5 2RI SE1655 [FHE | (&)
(c) Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash (c) HEXEFWHBEFEE 7BEE
flows of the Group (Continued) REZRENTE ()
Year ended
31 March
Year ended 31 March 2020 2019
BE
—Z-hE
=R=t-H
BE-E-_Z5=A=+-ALFE HFE
Deduct:
Estimated
amounts
related to
operating
Add back: leases  Hypothetical Compared
Amounts IFRS 16 as if under amounts to amounts
reported depreciation IAS 17 for 2020 reported for
under and interest (notes (i) as if under 2019 under
IFRS 16 expense and (ii)) IAS 17 IAS 17
gk
BELERE
HE LR
e : CEMRE e ZE-NEF
BiE  ERBBRE EREHEL HEREE REERSE
BRI S R E163% F175) (MRS RERIE173
B E165 MER (MEEG) EIRRESTER Fr2518
Rk FEGES R (i) B17%) i ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
(restated)
(A) ®) ©) (D=A+B-C) (ZE5)
Financial result for year ended ARNERABRS
31 March 2020 impacted by RRIEI6RMZ T E
the adoption of IFRS 16: HHE-Z-Z4F
ZA=+-BLEE
B ER:
Continuing operations FEALE N
(Loss)/profit from operations ReEEz (BE)/ B (31,345) 1,298 (1,356) (31,403) 30,511
Finance costs A (700) 143 - (557) -
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBLAT (B518) /% F (32,045) 1,441 (1,356) (31,960) 30,511
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE (BB) /&F (32,063) 1,441 (1,356) (31,978) 25,104
Reportable segment (loss)/profit (adjusted HE-Z-TF=fF
EBITDA) for year ended 31 March 2020 ~ =+—HItFE
(note 5) impacted by the adoption of IFRS (& $3 #EBITDA)
16: RERERGBRE
LR E16RFEMN
AFREDH (EB)/
s (HEEs) -
— Mobile Business -FHER (17,802) = = (17,802) 42,605
— Milk Products Business ~-MBEREY 1,101 137 (141) 1,097 =
Total @t (16,701) 137 (141) (16,705) 42,605
Discontinued operation BRIEEER
(Loss)/profit before taxation BEAT (518), /57 (3,779) - - (3,773) 3,014
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBERIELE
from discontinued operation £BzMBLARBE (54,162) - - (54,162) =
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (BB) /HF (56,525) - - (56,525) 3,484
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4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 4.
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

(c) Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash

L]
L ]
[ ] L]
PR
el RASRTEIFR B 53R 5 YE Rl 2 FE A
(%)

BB TSRS RIS 165R [HHE ] ()

(c) HAEAZEERYBEFRE 7EFE

flows of the Group (Continued) RESHRENTE (&
Year ended
31 March
Year ended 31 March 2020 2019
BZ
—E-hF
=A=+-AH
BE-Z-ZF=A=1+-HLEE LFE
Estimated
amounts
related to
operating Hypothetical Compared
Amounts leases amounts to amounts
reported as if under for 2020 reported for
under IAS 17 as if under 2019 under
IFRS16  (notes (i) & (i) IAS 17 IAS 17
EEREN
EE i I — Z?iﬂ’] —E-hE
Ri& (JEZIME}E RREE  REERERT
EREBRE EREER (EMRIE R E175
2RI 165 E17%%) EIRREETER 258
F25MEE (X)) E175R) g )
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FEx FEx FEx
A) (B) (C=A+B)
Line items in the consolidated statement of £R 4% 78 81 7 iR &5 & 8]
cash flows for the year ended FIGRTEHE
31 March 2020 impacted by the ZE-THE=R=+—H
adoption of IFRS 16: LEERABRERER
MIEE :
Continuing operations and FEEEERER
discontinued operation BRILEER
Cash (used in)/generated Fadey (Fﬁﬁ )/
from operations MERe (14,876) (1,356) (16,232) 1,852
Net cash used in operating activities KEEHMRARSFE (16,302) (1,356) (17,658) (18,417)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERE 2ERINS (1,213) 1,213 = s
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERNEERE 2RSS (143) 143 - -
Net cash generated from BME MG
financing activities REFH 8,150 1,356 9,506 =
Notes: B &

(i) The “estimated amounts related to operating leases” is an estimate
of the amounts of the cash flows in 2020 that relate to leases which
would have been classified as operating leases, if IAS 17 had still
applied in 2020. This estimate assumes that there were no differences
between rentals and cash flows and that all of the new leases entered
into in 2020 would have been classified as operating leases under IAS
17, if IAS 17 had still applied in 2020. Any potential net tax effect is
ignored.

(i) In this impact table these cash outflows are reclassified from financing
to operating in order to compute hypothetical amounts of net cash
used in operating activities and net cash generated from financing
activities as if IAS 17 still applied.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by business lines (products and services). In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally to the Company’s
executive directors (the chief operating decision maker) for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has presented the following two reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

1. The provision of mobile handset solution (“the Mobile
Business”); and

2. The trading of milk powder and baby foods (“the Milk Products
Business”).

The provision of biotechnology and biological gene technology
technical services (“the Biological Business”) was discontinued during
the current year. The following segment information does not include
any amounts for the discontinued operation which is described in
more details in note 13.

In view of the intense competition in the communication technology
industry, the Group has been exploring different business opportunities
in other sectors in order to broaden the sources of income and
to boost the business performance of the Group. The Group
commenced and developed the Milk Products Business during the
year ended 31 March 2020 and thus one new segment is resulted and
included in the segment reporting and no comparative information for
this new segment for the year ended 31 March 2019 is presented.

The Mobile Business derives revenue primarily from the sale and
distribution of mobile handsets and their components.

The Milk Products Business derives revenue primarily from the sale of
milk powder and baby foods.

DEBER

AEFBRTRADPEREER MEE
B oAb Th A ZE 75 4x (B M K IR 75 ) 4
B o B8 T #ETEIRD B LR
ERIARDRNRITES (EREE
REE)ERERZAA B F%H
2FATMEATRED - BRIAT
ATHENBELEES TRNEZED

B

1. BHFHEBRIR([FEE
Bl R

2. PHEERRRES ([NHHRER
ES- AP

RRE AR LAY E R RS
(TEMEB]D)  ERAFERIE- AT
DEERLTEED R ILEEEBHE
e BREFFRNHEIZ -

BN BEARMITERF R AEE—
BEERREMITENTREE - AR
WARRRIRAAEERNEBRIR A
EEREE T -TF=-_A=+—HIt
FEHARBERINBEERES  AmME
E—EFoE WEMAD SRS M
BHE_Z-AF=ZA=1t—HUIFEYL
ER2YZT DI Z LA R o

FHREBZBATERBHEERDHT
BREZH-

PREREBZRAZZRAHEDNH
RERRM-
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Company’s
executive directors monitor the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and
current assets with the exception of corporate assets. Segment
liabilities include trade and other payables, lease liabilities
attributable to the activities of the individual segments and
borrowings managed directly by the segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets
attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded
as including investment income and “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed
to individual segments, such as directors’ and auditors’
remuneration and other head office or corporate administration
costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted EBITDA, the Company’s executive directors are
provided with segment information concerning revenue
(including inter-segment sales), interest income and expense
from cash balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, depreciation, amortisation, impairment losses,
gain on disposal of a subsidiary and additions to non-current
segment assets used by the segments in their operations.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2020

=
- W
HE

yi)

@

e ]

I

(%)
DEEE BEREE

BTHEIBERRERES D2
HOBRER AARNATES
BATEEERXBARTRES
WevxE BERAE:

DHEEREMEENEE &
WEERRBDEE HEEEE
Brohe o B AE B IEE R 2 &P
BB 2 E 5 K E A 5K
HHERBENARBOBERE
BZEE-

YA B B s TR B 2 BR P EE £ B
HENED A BB G
IR EENEREHAIESE
ZRX DRERTHED M-

BREBERLBER 2 T EE &
FHEZEBITDA | - BN [#0F F B
HE eERBHEAIZEARR
R Hb [FE] WA BBIER
L ONITIER-3% 31K TY-
BIEERSDEEZ RERBE A
SHEKFEZEBTDA AEE Y A
Ty IS EBRER DB
BEEHE—SARE HIMES
T 1% EEM B M LA B B A it =
B ETRAX -

KR UER S BB A R EBITDAZ /&
BRIN RABRITEFERME
BEBA (BESEHEHEE) A
PHEETREZHSEBRIEE
ZHBWARRAY D BRES
BERFEAITE B RE
BiE -HE—HHBEARZkE
MIERB DR EER Iz D EHE
o



(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE

e MWK

R TF_ L IR

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. oE®mE (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) @ HEE-BEREE(E)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the RWABREBE D KE %)5 &
timing of revenue recognition, as well as information regarding HNZWNERBE_S_FF
the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Company’s RZTE-—hF=A=1+—HItF
executive directors for the purposes of resource allocation and BZERAREIEDHRRA
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 BRI mMmARABIITE SR
March 2020 and 2019 is set out below. HAKREATHREDHEBE
BN T
Continuing operations FFEEEET
2020
e 7 e ﬂf
Mobile Milk Products
Business Business Total
FHER MEEREY Fay
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FEx FTER FTER
Reportable segment revenue ATHREDHERA
Disaggregated by timing of RIRATER
revenue recognition S
Point in time BN R 117,343 30,481 147,824
Over time B s ) 3 7% - 106 106
Revenue from external customers and 2R BSMNBE P 2 WA K
reportable segment revenue BTHREDHBUA 117,343 30,587 147,930
Reportable segment AFRED T (BE)/
(loss)/profit A (R
(adjusted EBITDA) EBITDA) (17,802) 1,101 (16,701)
Interest income from bank deposits TFRF B WA 2 - 2
Finance costs %ﬂﬁﬁ$ - (6) (6)
Impairment loss of trade receivables & 5 WK IBREE 2 (9,547) - (9,547)
Depreciation e - (131) (131)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RNB ARz 1,051 - 1,051
Reportable segment assets BYREDHEE 118,007 28,295 146,302
Additions to non-current segment RAFEEZEMZIERE
assets during the year PHEE - 3,681 3,681
Reportable segment liabilities BYREIHEE 5,678 23,815 29,493

MELALRERERAT « Z2-_FTFFR

111



112

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements =

e MWK

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Continuing operations (Continued)

Reportable segment revenue

Disaggregated by timing of revenue
recognition

Point in time

Revenue from external customers and
reportable segment revenue

Reportable segment profit
(adjusted EBITDA)

Interest income from bank deposits
Depreciation

Reportable segment assets
Additions to non-current segment

assets during the year

Reportable segment liabilities

ATHREDEBEA

R ATER
iSIEEE)

B 7R

KEEREP Z WA K

AT RE D EBEA

BAFRED AR
(& FI%EBITDA)

RITE R S HA
e

ATHREDIHEE
RAFREIEIZ
FneNBEE

RSN

ITHRESIHER

There are no inter-segment revenue during the years ended 31

March 2020 and 2019.
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DEFE -EEREE (B)

S

FHAERET (H)

2019
—T-NF
Mobile Business
FHEETS
HK$’000
FHT

351,448

351,448

42,605

4
(142)

139,736

9,136
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R TF_ L IR

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or

loss, assets and liabilities

Continuing operations

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue
Elimination of inter-segment revenue

Consolidated revenue (note 6)

Profit or loss

Reportable segment (loss)/profit
(adjusted EBITDA)

Interest income from bank deposits

Other income

Depreciation

Finance costs

Unallocated head office and
corporate interest and expenses
other than interest income,
depreciation and finance costs

LN
AT HmEDHEA
550 BR A A

A WA (HEE6)

B&

BYHREDE (F51B) &5
(/& FEEBITDA)

IRITHE A WA

RSN

H AU A

e

BMEKA

AP BHER R

DR S R
(FIBWAER
BB RARRSN)

Consolidated (loss)/profit before taxation KB HERLLEK 2

from continuing operations

BBiRlEa (BER),Iar

b ATREDBERA -BE -BEER

BEZHE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(restated)

(sgE75)

147,930 351,448
147,930 351,448
(16,701) 42,605
3 20

- 116
(1,605) (614)
(700) -
(13,042) (11,616)
(32,045) 30,511
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE
@ = =
: rrsteis |
anak
- ———
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4 5. &S (&)
(b)  Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or b ZBATHREIBEA-BE -EER
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) SEZHER (&)
Continuing and discontinued operations FFEREERR ORI EER
2020 2019
—E_EF —ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
(restated)
(&=5)
Assets EE .
Reportable segment assets AYTHENHEE o 146,302 139,736
Unallocated head office and corporate assets &7 B2 #3i H e DX A E 19,977 6,394
Assets relating to discontinued operation ERCRIEREEBCEE - 214,668
Consolidated total assets AEBEERT 166,279 360,798
Liabilities aff N
Reportable segment liabilities ArHmENHanE 29,493 9,136
Unallocated head office and RDE 2 B ER K
corporate liabilities pEAERF 25,363 12,441
Liabilities relating to discontinued operation HREAILEEEBKZEE - 82,645
Consolidated total liabilities REABRE 54,856 104,222
Continuing operations FFEE R
2020 2019
—E_ZF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
(restated)
(ZEY)
Other items HAEE
Interest income from bank deposits: RITHERRBA
Reportable segment total ATRENEER 2 4
Unallocated head office and RABLZ BB R
corporate total hEEE 1 16
Consolidated total RAEBE 3 20
Finance costs: MEKA:
Reportable segment total ATHREDIER 6 -
Unallocated head office and AABLZ BB R
corporate total EEE 694 -
Consolidated total mEmE 700 -
Depreciation: e N
Reportable segment total BYHmENDEE 131 142
Unallocated head office and ROz i E R &
corporate total PEBEE 1,474 472
Consolidated total REBE 1,605 614
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BERRED
plant and equipment: BB N
Reportable segment total ATHRENEE = =
Unallocated head office and RABLZ BB R
corporate total hEBE 50 -
Consolidated total RAEBE 50 -
Additions to non-current assets RAFEZENZ
during the year: EMBEE
Reportable segment total ATHENEE 3,681 -
Unallocated head office and AAB 2 BHRERR
corporate total rEEE - 5
Consolidated total mABE 3,681 5
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(c)

(d)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

5. 2&EwE (&)

Revenue from major product and services © REFEEREREEZBA
Continuing operations FFEEE R
2020 2019
ZEDEF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
(restated)
(#=75)
Mobile handsets and their components T # & H = {4 117,343 351,448
Milk powder and baby foods NHREZR M 30,481 -
Franchise fee income NIEZE=3ON 106 -
147,930 351,448
Geographical information o HEER
Continuing operations FEAAE R
The following is an analysis of geographical location of () the INTARNRNERPREIINBER 2
Group’s revenue from continuing operations from external FELEEFWA R()ASE
customers and (i) the Group’s property, plant and equipment, FECE LN E  HE k&
intangible assets, goodwill and non-current rental deposit from B EEEE BEKERDME
continuing operations. The geographical location of customers EiRe 2HE ST - BT
is based on the location at which the services were provided 1@ 1% PR PR 7% sk B Wik i P AE
or the goods delivered. The geographical location of property, e DY BB MK ENAE
plant and equipment and rental deposit is based on the physical ERsvHEDNERMEREE
location of the asset under consideration. In the case of MNERUEME MEREER
intangible assets and goodwill, it is based on the location of the MEMmME  DEREZESEN
operation to which they are allocated. 48 PTAE M T JE ©
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
RENDBEFZWA REBEE
Year ended 31 March At 31 March At 31 March
BE=B=1t—-HLEE 2020 2019
2020 2019 RZEZZH R-ZT-IF
—E-EF —T—-nF =B=t—-8B =A=+—H
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHET FTiExT FET
(restated) (restated)
(E5) (E51)
Hong Kong BB
(place of domicile) (BB E) 13,235 126,020 3,644 310
The PRC s 12,033 - 2,152 259
Bangladesh EiEa 30,819 7,110 - =
Dubai ME 20,202 100,138 -
Cyprus SRR 1,090 1,424 =
Ethiopia RERLT - 1,764 - =
Mexico =P - 2,621 - -
Poland B B 885 2,030 - -
Romania EEEDR - 2 -
India E 10,148 52,460 - -
Pakistan EE 8 - 5,733 - -
South Africa GEL 15,453 38,298 -
Russia B E 3,130 6,699 - =
Vietnam i) 16,450 5,350 =
Greece il - 9 - =
Australia BN 18,553 - - -
Italy BAF 2,922 = =
Others Hi 3,010 1,790 - -
147,930 351,448 5,796 569
MR ECEEZERBRAT «» —Z_ZFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4

(e) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue from continuing operations are as follows:

2 EBRE (&)
@ FHRIREFEN

REERMAREFBERLEED
WAT0%EIA LR &P 2 AR

Revenue from sale and distribution of REHEERDHFH
mobile handsets and their components & E =1 7 It A
— Customer A —-®FH
- Customer B -BFZ
— Customer C —-®FR
— Customer D —-BFPT
— Customer E —-BPIX
Revenue from sale of milk powder REHENMEBRTRESR
and baby foods ZWA
— Customer F —-®EFCE
Remark:
i The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue from continuing operations during the corresponding
year.
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2020 2019
—ECEHF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHETT
30,321 N/A i F #
20,202 100,138
N/A 138 F* 89,402
15,453 38,298
- 36,617
18,553 =

i
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

.
REVENUE 6. WA
(@)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by @ BEEZERIRBERE D 2K
major products or service lines is as follows: BEPEHNZBALT
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
Continuing operations bttt E3 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(restated)
(g&E5)
Revenue from contracts with HEBBRIMERELERES
customers within the scope REERREELENZ
of IFRS 15 WA
Disaggregated by major products RXEERIRBEERE S
or service lines
— Sale and distribution of mobile —HER
handsets DIEFHR
and their components ETMH 117,343 351,448
— Sale of milk powder and baby foods  — &M MERE R 30,481 =
— Franchise fee income —EFHEBERA 106 -
147,930 351,448
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the B A TR MR E T 5 S
timing of revenue recognition and by geographic markets are DZRABEPELNZWADRIR
disclosed in notes 5(a) and 5(d) respectively. B 5E5(a) K250 55
(o)  The following table shows the amounts of revenue from (o) TFREFIRAIRE HAEERK S
continuing operations recognised in the current reporting period RESEXBHRASTE Z5
that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of RN BEHUETAEGHEE
the reporting period: A
2020 2019
—ETEF —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FHET
(restated)
(gE7)
Revenue recognised that RBEHADETA
was included in contract EHEERN
liabilities at the beginning of ERRWA
the reporting period:
Sale and distribution of mobile HERDHEFHER
handsets and their components EZM4 2,118 3,852
(€)  Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from ) TEEHRKERNHmEBBAFEED

contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date

All sales contracts with customers within the scope of IFRS 15
are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under IFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these contracts for the
remaining unsatisfied performance obligations is not disclosed.

BP A HERNBA

A BRI E AR E1557 %
EWMBEFPHEANRH—F
SUAT o 3B a0 B R B 7 S 22 R
FIHAAFT HBR T REKE
HEENREEZZFANNZHE
I RIKEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME

Continuing operations

Interest income on financial assets
measured at amortised cost
— bank interest income
Service income
Gain on disposal of a
subsidiary (note 35(b))
Foreign exchange gain, net
Sundry income

8.  (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging the following:

Continuing operations

(@) Finance costs:
Interest on borrowing (note 20(b))
Interest on lease liabilities (note 20(b))

Total interest expense on
financial liabilities not at fair value
through profit or loss

(b) Staff costs (including
directors” emoluments):
Salaries, wages and other benefits
Retirement benefits scheme contributions
(note 27)

REBFEKAHEZERMEE

B UA

—RITHBUA

AR U A

HE—HERBARZKE

(B 7E35(0) )
[E 5 U a5 558
HIERA

®
& ]
PR e I ionttess |
S
H A

2020 2019
—E=-%% —F-nE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(restated)
(#E7)
20
- 5,008
1,051 -
27 108
88 11
1,169 5,147

BRBiAT (B518) 8R

BRELAT (BB), SRR BRI TS

BEZES
2020 2019
—B-%F —FNF
EREER HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
(restated)
(&)
BRI 8 (FizF20(b)) 557 =
REaBEZF B (E200b)) 143 =
FRAFEEFAEBR
ZEBAENE
R B 700 =
BIAK (BEEEMNS):
& TEREMERN 9,755 11,501
BIRE R EIEEK
(P#E27) 275 352
10,030 11,853
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

Continuing operations (Continued)

(c) Other items:
Cost of inventories
Auditors’ remuneration
- audit services
- non-audit services
Depreciation charges

(©

- owned property, plant and equipment

- right-of-use assets (note (i)

Impairment loss of trade receivables

(note 33(a))
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Total minimum lease payments for leases
previously classified as operating

leases under IAS 17 (note (i)
Short-term lease expense

Note:

(i) The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under IAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at
1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise the depreciation
of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous policy of recognising rental
expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated,

see note 4.

HihER
FERA
ZEE &
— % B R
— R HR
HEEA

—EENE BERRE
—feREEE (M)
B 5 R SIRRERER

(KI7E33(@) )

HEDE FHFERRE

HER

8.

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

ERBEERGHEINE17HRD
BAREHENHEZRIER

EftReE (M)

SR

BRBiAT (B518),aF (&)
2020 2019
—ECEE —Z-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FET
(restated)
(& E5)
148,300 302,408
1,050 1,200
690 870
307 614
1,298 -
9,547 -
50 -
- 2,646
818 -

MEE:

AEEERERREYBREELE6
RRRAGEITENE THABR R
—NEFA — B BRI ER - LARER ST AT
REBEREHEUEITRORREER
ENERBENEREAE -R_F—N
FOA—BYFEREREEER A%
(ERABA) AERERAEEENST
B MELEMNEREERERNEE
HEEANBESRAXHRE -REZS
e ABALRENTTES (RHE4)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE
L
. =
W__Hj
] m—
9. INCOME TAX v 9. FrEM
(@ Amounts recognised in profit or loss: @ RERNERNSE:
2020 2019
Continuing operations B EER —E-EHF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
(restated)
(#e=75)
Current tax BVERRL 18
- Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year —REEBBNED - 5,274
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax —AFEFRPERBM
(“EIT”) for the year ([ZEmEHI) S 133
Under-provision in respect of prior years i@ 1 & E B E T2
- PRC EIT —HE TS 18 -
Income tax expenses EARBEREELZ
on continuing operations FrEHiF= 18 5,407
Notes: B 5
i) No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for in the consolidated 0] ARAKREHE_T_ZTF=H
financial statements as the Group had no assessable profits for the =+ —BIEFESAEEERD
year ended 31 March 2020. A M EAESA SRR
REBA GBI -
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2019 was calculated at ZE-NFENBBNERIRF
16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the year, taking into A EHERTE R B AT £16.5%
account a reduction granted by the Hong Kong SAR Government of FTIREME Wit RBBRR B
75% of the tax payable for the year of assessment 2018-19, subject to BE—T— N\E—NFERFE
a maximum reduction of HK$20,000 for each business. ENBRZ75% HEBEEBKZ
B = R £ ¥8 £4320,000/8 7T ©
On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The RZZE—-NF=A=+—8"
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which BB LEERR (CT—EFH
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime (the “Two-tiered % (EET) (BTHR)KHIER)
Profits Tax Rate Regime”). The Bill was signed into law on 28 March (MEHIER]) - S| AFISBIM
2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Bl (RSB RARS) < 215
BIERR_T—-N\F=ZA=+N
HEEERAZZANDAESE
HwAE -
Under the Two-tiered Profits Tax Rate Regime, the first HK$2 million of REBEFEHRBMRG GEREE
the assessable profits of the qualifying group entity is taxed at 8.25% BERANGECHEEBTERBF
and the assessable profits above HK$2 million is taxed at 16.5%. The T A8.25% M B R B E - kR iB2
profits of group entities not qualifying for the Two-tiered Profits Tax BEB T2 ERTFELA16.5%
Rate Regime continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. BB R - TN A RSB RR
BB EE T BRI B EE
16.5%H) 5t — B R B -
(ii) No PRC EIT has been provided for in the consolidated financial (ii) AR AEEREE T _TF=
statements as the Group had no assessable profits for the year ended A=+—BLHFETEERTF
31 March 2020. The Group’s subsidiary established in China was B m RN AR A SRR R
subject to the PRC EIT at 25% for the year ended 31 March 2019. B CEFEHTIREE -BEZ
T-hF=ZA=+—HLEE"
ANEE [ R B B S B T BB A R 2B
1R25%M T R P B 1S
(iii) The Group is not subject to any taxation under the jurisdiction of (iii) AEERBE_T_TFR=-F

Bermuda and the British Virgin Islands for the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

R TF_ L IR

INCOME TAX (Continued)

(b)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting

(loss)/profit at applicable tax rate:

Continuing operations

(Loss)/profit before taxation

Notional tax on (loss)/profit before
taxation, calculated at Hong Kong
Profits tax rate of 16.5%

Effect of different tax rates arising
from other tax jurisdictions

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Tax effect of concessionary enjoyed
by subsidiaries

Tax effect of tax losses/deductible
temporary differences not
recoginsed

Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised

Under-provision in prior years

Income tax expenses (relating to
continuing operations)

9. FTiSH (&)
b BiEREXEE (FHE) SERz
RiRE AR R R
2020 2019
FFEEEER —ETHF —h&F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FHT
(restated)
(g&E75)
BELRT (&18), % F (32,045) 30,511
#£16.5% 8 B AT ES B H =
AEZBRE (BE)
w2 BEBIE (5,287) 5,034
EEaEMBEE AR
TERENTE (13) 45
THHRAZ BB E 4,214 482
BARBRAZ B G E (185) 27)
MERARZREMERHS
e - (185)
WEERZ HIEEE
AREREER Y
-2 1,424 58
BABAERER
HIEEER (153) =
BAFERETRE 18 =
B ECEEEER 2
TECY 1 18 5,407
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS o 10. =M<

RiE CEERBED) £383(1) KKk
(REN(BBEEZNEER) R F2

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the

122
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Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are

as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2020

Executive directors:
Xiong Jianrui (Chairman)
Yi Peijian
(Chief Executive Officer)
Chen Zeyu (Appointed on
18 October 2019)

Independent
non-executive
directors:

Li Chak Hung (Appointed
on 18 October 2019)
Choi Kin Man (Appointed

on 1 March 2020)

Cui Songhe (Resigned on
3 May 2020)

Khoo Wun Fat William
(Resigned on
1 March 2020)

Lin Tao (Resigned on
23 December 2019)

BITESE:
BEAIEG (£5%)
S8l
(TB#BE)
BEF(R-Z—h&
+A+N\BEEE)

BYFHTES:

T2 (R-E—NF
+A+N\BEZRT)
HEpR(W-Z_ZF
ZA—BREZRMT)
ENB(R-Z=ZTF
AA=HEE)

EBE
(RZTZTF
ZA—B#T)
wWE(R=ZZT—hF
+-B=-t+=A81)

MEENESEMEWT

BE-_Z-_FEFE=-A=+—-HLEE

Salaries, Retirement
allowance benefits
and benefit scheme
Fees in kind Bonuses contributions Total
e =4 BIKEF
e REYIZ B4 FHEIR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERx FTERT FTER FEx TER
- 1,200 100 18 1,318
- 1,200 100 18 1,318
- 558 - - 558
82 - - - 82
15 - - - 15
180 - - - 180
165 - - - 165
135 - - - 135
577 2,958 200 36 3,771




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2019

Executive directors: HITES
Xiong Jianrui (Chairman) — B&&I3% (&)
Yi Peijian SR

(Chief Executive Officer)  ({TEi#a%E)

Independent BAFHITES:
non-executive
directors:

Cui Songhe N

Khoo Wun Fat Wiliam Ex

Lin Tao wE

Note:

mE U

e E S

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

10. EEME (&)

BE-2-NF=A=+-BLLFE

Salaries, Retirement

allowance benefits

and benefit scheme
Fees in kind Bonuses  contributions Total

e Ry EARER
e REDAH TE4T FHEIfR mst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET TET FHET FET
- 1,200 100 18 1,318
- 1,200 100 18 1,318
180 - - - 180
180 - - - 180
180 - - - 180
540 2,400 200 36 3,176

Mr. Yi Peijian is the director and the chief executive officer of the Company and is

responsible for the Company’s day to day management and the overall activities.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no emolument was paid by the
Group to the directors or chief executive officer of the Company as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which directors or chief executive officer of the
Company have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the two years

ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

B aE

SRBEERARAANEERITHREE  ARAR

AREEERERER-

RBE-_Z-_ZER-_Z-NE=A=+—8H
HFE AEBTERAAAREEHITHAIEST

NEE  EREBESEMA

REE - HERMA

AR B 2 B2 S B

BE_Z-_ZFR-_ZF-NF=ZA=+—AHL
REFE  BEA AR ERRITREHKELR

EREEAME 2R

PR ARRIZRERAT o

—ECTERFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

©
@ =
: rrsteis |
anak
L ] —
11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 1. Beez@EIAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, three EAREEREESHEENALE ‘:F‘ 0
(2019: two) are directors of the Company whose emoluments are =2 (ZE-NF WMB)RAEAR
disclosed in note 10. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of F HEHMESEMT10h#E- *ﬁ_ﬁﬂ,ﬁ%ﬁ
the other two (2019: three) individuals were as follows: A (Z2—NF: =8) @R AL 2
M
2020 2019
E_EF —E-NF
HK$ 000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Salaries and other emoluments S REMME 1,500 2,604
Bonuses 14T - 70
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIKAEFIET B3R 12 17
1,512 2,691
The emoluments of the two (2019: three) individuals with the highest Zma (ZE—NF: =2) ZaMe@
emoluments are within the following band: AMALTZMEN FATEHR :
2020 2019
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AH
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 = %1,000,0007% 7T 2 3
During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no emolument REBEE_Z_ZFR_T-NF=H
was paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an =+—HIEFE AEEEER L LK
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for SHE AT AME  EABERESM
loss of office. There was no arrangement under which the five highest AREE  SERIMAREE R 2 52E)
paid individuals have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments SEBME - REE_ZE_EFR=_F
during the two years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. —NWEZAZ+—BHLEMEFE AA

mRME A LB M ARNESL
RERETAME 2 25

12. DIVIDEND 122 RE
The board of directors of the Company does not recommend the ARBEEETERRNBE_ZE=F
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: FZAZ+—BHLEFENRBRE (=
Nil). T-NF |
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

Disposal of operation of Biological Business

On 24 December 2018, a sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale
and Purchase Agreement”) was entered into among the Company,
Starways Global Holding Inc. (“Starways Global”’) and Mr. Wang
Bin (“Mr. Wang”), an individual who is beneficially interested in
approximately 51% of the issued capital of Starways Global and
being the guarantor of the obligations of Starways Global and the
provider of certain warranties and undertakings under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement,
the Company completed the acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of the
entire issued share capital of Great Empire International Group Limited
(“GE International”) on 29 January 2019 and 50,842,000 Shares
were issued and allotted as fully paid shares for the settlement of the
consideration for the Acquisition. GE International and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “GE Group”) is engaged in the Biological Business.

Subsequent to the completion of the Acquisition, it came to the
attention of the Board that Starways Global and Mr. Wang were in
potential breaches of certain warranties and undertakings in the Sale
and Purchase Agreement and both Starways Global and Mr. Wang
have not remedied any of the potential breaches.

In order to safeguard the interest of the Company and shareholders
(the “Shareholders”) of the Company as a whole, the Board
considered that the best way was to unwind the Acquisition (the
“Unwinding”). As such, on 17 September 2019, the Company,
Starways Global, Mr. Wang and GE International entered into a
settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”), pursuant to
which, (i) the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be rescinded
and void from its inception; (i) Starways Global shall transfer the
40,716,000 Shares (the “Settlement Shares”) currently held by it
to the Company for cancellation; (iiij Starways Global shall pay the
Company the cash in the amount of HK$18,803,982 (the “Settlement
Cash”); (iv) the Company shall transfer the entire issued share capital
of GE International to Starways Global; and (v) each of the parties to
the Settlement Agreement shall be discharged from all liability and/or
further liability, demands, claims and proceedings arising out of or in
connection with the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

A special general meeting of the Company was held on 3 January
2020, in which the Settlement Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were approved by the Shareholders, and the
disposal of the GE Group is completed on 23 January 2020, on which
date control of the GE Group was passed to Starways Global. Details
of the assets and liabilities disposed of, and the calculation of the loss
on disposal, are disclosed in note 35.

13.

ERIEREEE
HEEWER

RZE-NE+=-_A=-+WMWA XA
A E2BRBEBRERERAE ([2BEA
B RIBAEE (TTHE]) (AAE
A E BB DT A 451 %
H TEERBEENEETZERAR
BEEMHE TS TRBREABHRME
BIFVEEWRE ([EEHE]) - BIE
BEEWH AATN_-_ZE—-hFE— A
THABERRBAZEREEFRA
AI(TREBE]) 2SS BITRA (UK
B8] ) - B50,842,0000 0% 1) B 317
RECBEAERIRG  MEAS Uk
B RE- REBEBEREWERQA
(GBI ABEEE)RBEMER-

WHBRETKE EFETEINERR
BREFELEERREEHATHET
RiERAE  AEBBEBRREREL R
HECERBESWHHEHTAER

EREAAFNERE (TRE])H
BREANS E2eKEEMmBRIRES
H(BBREEDASEFN -EAlt-
R—ZZT—AFALA+LB - AQF:
ERBEE - THAERAKEBREI M
i ([R@EmzEl) B (2815
FEAERVED B SR E T
(i)40,716,0000% f& 13 ([ EERZ 5 1) #&
HEBBREET AR GEHE (258
BB & B A R B 3 1438 €18,803,982/8
TTTMRIRL ) (vARDQ T LR
BB EEAEFEEMAD BTN &
WIS ST O BRER A E S S
SN BHEERRZMIBEEER X
HE—HET Bk RERFR

ARRAEFBREACER-_ZE_ZF
—AZA817 NEHEREE T HE
TR SEERRILE - HEXEEE
BER=ZZE-_ZF—A=-+=HEK" ' H
B RESENZEHEECERZERE
BR-BEHENEERBEARNESEIE
EEMET BB E N 535 -
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued),

Disposal of operation of Biological Business (Continued)

The results of the discontinued operation, which have been included
in the loss for the year, are set out below. The financial information of
the Biological Business is prepared based on the latest management
accounts of the GE Group obtained by the Board. Since then, GE
International failed to provide sufficient accounting records to the
Group. The comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income have been restated to re-
present the Biological Business as a discontinued operation.

Notes
B &
Revenue WA
Cost of sales SHE KA
Gross profit EH
Other income EmdA
Selling and distribution costs HERDHER
Administrative expenses THEA
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRE AT (&R, 5 F
Attributable income tax credit BB RER
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries from H &% 8 2 4 [F £
discontinued operation BEKIHMBAREE 354)
(Loss)/profit for the year from REBRIEEEB R
discontinued operation and ARFREENS 2
attributable to owners of KEE
the Company (B18) B
(Loss)/profit before tax REBRIEEEETR
attributable to FE(R Z BRAL AT
discontinued operation (18) B
Attributable income tax credit BB RER
(Loss)/profit for the year from REBKRILREER
discontinued operation and RARBIREELZ
attributable to owners of KEE
the Company (E518) %

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2020

13.

CRILEE X (F)
HEE W ()

B 5 AR 5 1B A B AR L AR BT
SENTINT - LB
TS PN Y Y EEs
B TR B ABERK LR
EERHR WO G- GABRE
R 2 AR RANLERFEEE
5l DG DR EH I RAE KL
B

2020 2019
—E-TF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHBTT
13,928 13,904
(4,864) (4,409)
9,064 9,495

- 10

(3,314) (438)
(9,523) (6,0583)
(3,773) 3,014
1,410 470
(2,363) 3,484
(54,162) =
(56,525) 3,484
(57,935) 3,014
1,410 470
(56,525) 3,484




13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

Disposal of operation of Biological Business (Continued)

Loss for the year from discontinued
operation includes the following:

Staff costs (note(i)):

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Retirement benefits scheme
contributions (note 27)

Other items:

Interest income

Cost of inventories (note (i)

Depreciation charges for owned
property, plant and equipment
(note (i)

Total minimum leases payments
for lease previously classified as
operating leases
under IAS 17

Short-term lease expense

Amortisation for intangible asset

Research and development costs

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of temporary

differences

Income tax credit

Note:

REDRIEEEEG 2K
£
EEAENTIER

B TRAS (MI&EG)) -

He TEREMER

BRRE MG B
(Ht&E27)

HEH ¢

FLEMA

FREMA (@)
BEME BER
REFTEER
(PHRER) )
SERTAR 3 B B e 5 Al
FTRDEREETEE
MEEMNRERERNK
FEk

REHIEER

EIVEEME

I KRB A

BT IA :
HiRER
BEE A KM

PRiSTE

13. ERLEKEXR (&)

HEE MR (F)
2020 2019
—ECERHE —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B THET THET
2,447 3,371
234 455
2,681 3,826
- (10)
4,864 4,409
1,452 1,011
- 293
485 =
16 5,642 1,880
1,640 1,141
26(a) 1,410 470
1,410 470
GER

[0] Cost of inventories include depreciation of HK$366,000 (2019: HK$609,000) (i)
and staff cost of HK$724,000 (2019: HK$747,000), which are also included in
the respective total amounts disclosed separately above.

7 15 7K £ 45 4T £366,00078 7T (=
T — N F : 609,000/ 7T ) &k 8 TR A&
724,000%% 7T ( = — L4 : 747,000/
7T EFRENGFA ENEBHRENS
BEEe
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE
@ 2 i
- > ainai
. e
13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued), 13. CARIKEE (8)
Disposal of operation of Biological Business (Continued) HEEYER (&)
2020 2019
S 7 e EE 7j1:£ﬁ
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cash flows from discontinued operation: REBRIELEER
ZHEmE:
Net cash generated from operating activities ~ #&& & EB) TSI & /F 58 3,575 3,522
Net cash inflow from investing activities KREEBHRESRAFE - 10
Net cash inflows BemAFE 3,575 3,532
14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. 8K (F8) &BF
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share @ ESREKX(ESR)BA
Continuing operations TR E R

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share from
continuing operations is based on the loss for the year

attributable to owners of the Co
operations of approximately HK$31

mpany from continuing

,631,000 (2019: profit of

approximately HK$25,299,000) and the weighted average
number of approximately 297,491,000 (2019: 262,871,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary

Issued ordinary shares at 1 April

Effect of Settlement Shares repurchas
upon the Unwinding

Effect of Shares issued upon
Acquisition

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
(HK cents per share)

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e

RERBBEEER 2 BRER
(B1E) /BRBREREGE
IR RETE 7 AN B R E(RAF
[E 18 4931,531,0008 7T (— &
— L6 % H4925,299,000/ 7T )
MRAREEBEITEBRAINE
S # #9297,491,0000% (==
— FL4F 1 262,871,0000% ) 5+ &
B

shares: T AR N E T 8
2020 2019
—E-EF —N&F
’000 '000
T T
REUA—BERTERR 305,076 254,234
ed B EIE M E
MR mmEE (7,585) -
ESRl g = 2= R
BITRHONTE - 8,637
T im AR hn e
198 297,491 262,871
TBRER (E18),/ &F)
(A (10.6) 9.6

Annual Report 2020
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (Continued)
Discontinued operation

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share from
discontinued operation is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company from discontinued
operation of approximately HK$56,525,000 (2019: profit of
approximately HK$3,484,000) and the weighted average
number of approximately 297,491,000 (2019: 262,871,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

EE AN
T

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
(HK cents per share)

(& BBl

Continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on
the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$88,056,000 (2019: profit of approximately
HK$28,783,000) and the weighted average number of
approximately 297,491,000 (2019: 262,871,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

TN
T

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
(HK cents per share)

(&)

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. The diluted (loss)/
earnings per share is the same as the basic (loss)/earnings per
share for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

FRER (BR), /&R

BREX (BE) /BT

14. SR (B8R BF (&)

@

—ECEF

BREX (BB) BF (&)
ERIUEEER

REBRIEEEER 2 FREX
(BB, /BRREREERLE
(R TE 7 RN FIRR R FE(G AR
€ 8518 4956,525,00056 7T (=&
— U 3% I 493,484,00058 7T)
MRAREEBEITEBRAINE
15 81 #49297,491,0000% (=&
— JL4F : 262,871,0000% ) 51 & -

2020 2019
—ZE-nF
’000 ’000
T8 T B

297,491 262,871

(19.0) 1.3

—z-%F

- —

FFEEE R R U EE R

BREN (BE) AR IRIE
ARARBREEAEEZEBIELY
88,056,000/ 7T (=& — .4 :
% F 4928,783,0005 7T ) KR AR
FECBITEEBROINEFHE
#9297,491,0008% ( —ZZE— A4 :
262,871,0008% ) 5+ & -

2020 2019
—E-hAF
’000 '000
TR T

297,491 262,871

(29.6) 10.9

®)

BREE (58) BF

REBEE-_Z-_ZTFR-_FT—IF
“A=+—HLEFE FTEDE
TBEEEERR-BEZT
TEERTE-NAFZA=F—
BUEEEZzEREE (BB,
BANESREN(BIE) &BF
GEIEIE
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% -HERRE
Properties Furniture
leased for - Machinery and Leasehold and Electronic
own use equipment  improvements fixtures equipment Total
HERH HER
HENE HKEREE HERE AEEE ETHME Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAR TAx TAx TAR TAT
Cost A
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\EMA—A - - 693 486 360 1,539
Additions AE - - - 5 - 5
Acquisitions through business BBER
combinations (note 34) AOHUE (M334) - 8,122 2,117 36 1,190 11,465
Exchange adjustments BN AE - 29 9 (20) (19) (1)
At 31 March 2019 RZB-NE=A=+-H - 8,151 2,819 507 1,531 13,008
Impact on initial application of BRERBERMBREED
IFRS 16 (Note (i) E165 M2 () 3,347 - - - - 3,347
At 1 April 2019 RZZ-NEMA—A 3,347 8,151 2,819 507 1,531 16,355
Acquisitions through business BREL
combinations (note 34) B (M3234) 1,279 - - - - 1,279
Disposal & - - (693) (84) = 777
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35(a)) & Fi& 2 &) (Hi#£35()) - (7,643) (1,993) (34) (1,120) (10,790)
Exchange adjustments BN HE (141) (508) (133) (16) (90) (888)
At 31 March 2020 RZBZEF=A=+-H 4,485 - - 373 321 5,179
Accumulated depreciation 2ENE
At 1 April 2018 RZF-N§mA—A - - 73 112 147 332
Charge for the year KEEXH - 597 815 87 126 1,625
Exchange adjustments EHAZ - 1 S ) © (14)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NEZA=+-8BR
and 1 April 2019 “Z-NEMA-A - 598 888 193 264 1,943
Charge for the year KEEZH 1,298 650 914 79 116 3,057
Eliminated on disposal HERH - - (693) (34) - (727)
Eliminated on disposal of HEHB AT
subsidiaries (note 35(a)) Fr e85 (M3E35() - (1,190) (1,063) - (101) (2,354)
Exchange adjustments 5 A% " (58) (46) 8 (15) (134)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZZF=A=+-H 1,291 - = 230 264 1,785
Carrying amount RHE
At 31 March 2020 RZEZEF=RA=+-H 3,194 - = 143 57 3,304
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1+—8 - 7,553 1,931 314 1,267 11,085
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15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of

underlying asset is as follows:

Properties leased for own use,
carried at depreciated cost (note (i)

AT ERAT R HE B AR
HEMZE (KEO)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit

or loss is as follows:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
by class of underlying asset:

Properties leased for own use
— continuing operations

Interest on lease liabilities

— continuing operations
(note 8(a))

Expense relating to short-term leases and
other leases with remaining lease term
ending on or before
31 March 2020
— continuing operations
— discontinued operation

Total minimum lease payments for leases
previously classified as operating leases
under IAS 17
— continuing operations
— discontinued operation

RIEMEERRNE D WER
BEECHEER:

HERANEEME
—REREER

HEABHNE
—REREER
(KI=E8(@))
HEHEE &ﬁTﬂ%W‘
T_TF=A=+—H%
Z Al fEm e H b i &
B 5 2
~BEGEEH
—BRIHEEET
FRTIRIR B R @ s R B17
FAORREEHENHEE
m?ﬁﬂhﬁ R 4R
12 AR R T
faﬁtm 7

e MWK

R TF_ L IR

- MmN R (&)
ERAEEE

FAA AR B K P AR T
FEAFIT :

31 March 2020 1 April 2019
—EC-EF —E—hF
=A=+—H mA—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT

3,194 3,347

PESTHEANEBREZHAXEE D
W

2020 2019
HK$ 000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
(note (ii))

(B (i) )

1,298 -
143 -
818 -
485 -

- 2,646

- 293
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Centinued) 15. Y% -BERRE (F)

Right-of-use assets (Continued) FREEE (B)

Notes: B 5 -

(i) Properties leased for own use 0] HEeRMmEEYE

(i

The Group has obtained the right to use certain properties as its office through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 5
years. Lease payments are usually increased every 2 to 5 years to reflect
market rentals.

Some leases include an option to renew the lease for an additional period
after the end of the contract term. Where practicable, the Group seeks to
include such extension options exercisable by the Group to provide operational
flexibility. The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. If the Group is not
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options, the future lease payments
during the extension periods are not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities. The potential exposure to these future lease payments is summarised
below:

Office = PRC MAZE—r

The lease do not include variable lease payment terms.

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under IAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at
1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise the depreciation
of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous policy of recognising rental
expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated,
see note 4.

During the year, additions to right-of -use assets were HK$1,279,000, which is
related to the capitalised lease payments payable under tenancy agreement by
the subsidiary acquired.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease
liabilities are set out in note 24.
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Lease liabilities
recognised
(discounted)

AEEEBEEGRRSE TYWENE
REEARREER BE-—REVAH
H2ES%F B E F2ESF LREEUR
BRISHEE -

BOMEBRERANBERREESE
HYURERE - NAITIERT  REE SR
ABFATENTEHRERE BEER
HEZEEL -AEERNHERK BB
R EAEREBITECHRER-
i 75 52 B R BE 2 IR EE 1T (R ST IR 12
T R H AR 9 R OR A B SRR A
HEEBENFES ZERARBAENK
FVEER BT -

Potential future lease
payments under
extension options not
included in lease
liabilities (undiscounted)

EHE IR T

Rt ATHEBEMR

ERABVEERE BEARRBEMNRK
(2 8ER) (RBEER)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET

1,682 -

(i)

HETSESBENKIGER-

AEBEREABRYBEREERFE16
SEERBEERIENE YRBER-F
—NEMA— BRIV - LARER SR
REER G EUEITRDOBREER
ENEMEENEAREE - R=F—A
FOA-ANLEREMEEER K
KB (fERFRBEAN) REREREEED
TE MIERAMABRERRBBEHAL
BHEELNHSHXHBER - RIEZ
FE HBREMTTES - R4 -

WAREE - A EE 1,279,000/
T BB A RRIBE SR EE
NOERCHENRER-

EHAENERSRHUREEREN
DT 2 FEIEE N 24 -
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17.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

INTANGIBLE ASSET

Cost

At beginning of the year

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35(a))

Acquisitions through business
combinations (note 34)

At end of the year

Accumulated amortisation
At beginning of the year
Charge of the year
Eliminated on disposal of
subsidiaries (note 35(a))

At end of the year

Carrying amount
At 31 March

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

GOODWILL

Cost

At beginning of the year

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35(a))
Acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 34)

At end of the year

Accumulated impairment losses
At beginning of the year
Impairment loss

At end of the year

Carrying amounts
At 31 March

EN
REEA

& KB A B (FT5E35())
BRE A BUEE

(MI5E34)
REE R

T
REEZA
AEEXH
HEMEAE

B 29 88 (P 3E35(a) )

REER

BRE (E
R=AR=+—H

B
REEZA

e ERE (MFE35@a))
U BB B B A A (BI7E34)

REER
RETREE R
NCER
BB R
REER

BRTE (E
R=A=+—H

16. |EEE
Customer Relationships
EFEBER
2020 2019
—EDEF —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
112,823 -
(112,823) -
- 112,823
- 112,823
1,880 =
5,642 1,880
(7,522) -
- 1,880
- 110,943
REEHEXHAAGEERZREME
EWRKRE [ITHER] -
17. BEE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
48,430 =
(48,430) =
2,161 48,430
2,161 48,430
2,161 48,430
MEELEERERAE « —E-_ZFFRH 133
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17. GOODWILL (Continued) v 17. BE (@&

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to cash-

generating unit (“CGU”) as follows:

PRERED
G ES

Milk Products Business
Biological Business

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-
in-use calculations which require the use of assumptions. The
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets

approved by management covering a five-year period.

Milk Products Business

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated according to
a constant 3% growth assumption for terminal value. These growth
rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports specific

to the industry in which the CGU operates.

The following table sets out the key assumptions for the CGU:

— Budgeted gross margin —TBEEFE
— Growth rate — R R
— Pre-tax discount rate —BRBIATRRIR X
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REELEN (BEHE) 2RENH

BENREECHEENTREELSE
L (MREELEBM])

2020 2019
—g-%F et
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FH
2,161 S

- 48,430

2,161 48,430

ReELBMRMATKESFRTIERER
EBEFAEET ETHREARRKR-F
BT EERRSRERR AHEEAT
EREREI AR REDFHENIE
BEER-

IEERES
BEHME 2R SRR R RA B
MO ETE MR K BRI SRS
BITRRE ARG B L BB
EATER AR B

TREJREELBEUMTERR:

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
% %

11% N/A 1~ A

3% to 8% N/A 138 A
22% N/A 138 A
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18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill
(Continued)

Biological Business

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
the estimated growth rates stated below. These growth rates are
consistent with forecasts included in industry reports specific to the

industry in which the CGU operates.

The following table sets out the key assumptions for the CGU:

- Budgeted gross margin —TBEER =

— Long term growth rate —RHEEEX
— Pre-tax discount rate — B AT AL IR K

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted
gross margins is the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements, and expected market development. The discount rates
used are before tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
unit.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials R
Work in progress F
Finished goods SURK

17. BHE ()
BEEESEN (BEHE) 2REAR
(4)
EPEH
AFEHAREZIBERETERA T XX AT
TR RS - FIERRMITE
REFHZREEABMEBEMETE
AR TEE— B
TREBVREELEEMNETERRK:
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-hNF
% %
N/A 7FiE F 65%
N/A T iE 3%
N/A T iE 11.3%
FARETHETETHEEEMNR 2 EBENE
EERBERREFENNFEERREZ
FHER R - B RS E Mg N & I8
TS EE -THEAZMBXRAEBA
Wik AR E A 2 TR
18. FE&
2020 2019
—E-TE —ZE-hE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
5,605 2,373
- 1,123
6,517 3,072
12,122 6,568
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e
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES v 19. EBEZRHEMEWRE
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance B 5 RWGRIE - R E B
(notes (i) and (ii)) & CP 5 ) B2 (i) ) 42,565 68,532
Other receivables H U GRIB 150 6,051
Amount due from a related party —ZRET R
(note (iii)) (B & Gii) ) 239 =
Undertaking receivable from Mr. Wang R T S A B GRS TR - 3,944
Financial assets measured at REEHKAFTER
amortised cost SREE 42,954 78,527
Prepayments to suppliers )4 FE R VB W O TE A SR IE 76,585 69,003
Other prepaid expenses HEMBAHRXS 81 495
Rental deposits HEZRS 414 1,296
Other deposits Eize 123 50
120,157 149,371
Representing: Hep:
Current mE 119,916 149,371
Non-current ERE 241 -
120,157 149,371
Except for the rental deposit of HK$241,000 (2019: Nil) which is BRIBHER—FUBRKREZHEZS
expected to be recovered after more than one year, all of the trade 241,000 c (ZZE— NF )0 AT
and other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as BB S REMEBRFBTEHR —F AR
expense within one year. ek wiER AR
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

Aging analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade receivables
based on invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

0-30 days 0Z30H

31-60 days 31E60H
61-90 days 61F90H
Over 90 days HBiB90H

Trade receivables are due within O to 90 days (2019: 60 to 90 days) from
the date of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in note 33(a).

Disposal of trade receivables

On 24 June 2020, the Group entered into a disposal agreement with an
independent third party for disposal of trade receivables (before impairment)
of approximately US$5,051,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,401,000)
that are due from two customers at a cash consideration of HK$30,000,000.
The consideration is fully received on 26 June 2020 and the disposal is
completed on the same day. The disposal of trade receivables is without
recourse against of the Group.

The amount is due from a company controlled by key management personnel
of a principal subsidiary of the Group. The balance is unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand. No provision has been made for the amount due
as at 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

19. E5RHMEKIE (H)
By e -
(U} BRER AT
RBERR REFEEHMENZE
SRWGRIA (MK EBERE) R
T
2020 2019
—EEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FaT FAT
12,163 27,789
= 17,253
- 8,033
30,402 15,457
42,565 68,532
B SR RIE AR B HRE0E08 N
B (=2 —NF:60E90H) - BEAK
SEEEBRUKRE S BB IEE £ 8
FERRMNE — P BRI EE33()
(i) HEE S RUGIE

(iii)

R-F-_TENA-+HNA AEER
—BBUE=FIINHERZE UEHE
BURMEEP 285 RYIE ORER)
#95,051,000% 7T, (48 % 7 4939,401,000
#7t) - 3 & {8 /&30,000,0007% 7T ° X
BERZZZTFEXAZFTNBREN
B mR2KHERRATRK  HEESE
WREE RSB B RE -

ZHRERER—BRAEEEEMNER
AT EERABESNNRRZHEA
HER 2 BAREREER-R
—E_RF=-A=+—R ARBEYLE
HZENKBEREAEE (TN
FoE|E) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW
INFORMATION

(a)

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash at banks and on hands

Cash and cash equivalents stated in the &7l
consolidated statement of cash flows

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily

bank deposit rates.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

At 1 April 2018 and at
31 March 2019

Impact on initial application
of IFRS 16

At 1 April 2019

Changes from financing
cash flows

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 34)

Interest expenses (note 8(a))

Exchange adjustments

At 31 March
2020

= 3] L]
L ]
e st |
=
20. BReRALLEYREMASREER
*SI’
@ ReRBESESENEE:
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHExT FHET
RITHReRFERS 27,908 34,421
RGEHERERANZ
ReRBEEEEY 27,908 34,421
RITASHERNE A RITERFIENZ
B R EREUA S,
) ®MEITBELENEELHEK:
Interest payable
included in
trade and other Other Lease
payables borrowing liabilities Total
FAESR
Hfth R 3KB
B FE 1 51 2 Hifg g HMEAE mEt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FET
(note 21) (note 23) (note 24)
(FiEE21) (PE23) (P5E24)
RZZE—-NFHA—H
ER=ZF-NF=R
=+-8 - - - -
BHRERBERS SRS E
AlE165 M & - - 3,347 3,347
RZZE-NFWNA—A - - 3,347 3,347
MERS
REZ (494) 10,000 (1,356) 8,150
W BB KT B A A
(P3E34) - - 1,273 1,273
FEFX (ME8@) 557 = 143 700
R - - (64) (64)
RZZZZTF=H
=+—H 63 10,000 3,343 13,406
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21.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables (note (i)
Other payables
Accruals

Interest payable (note 20(b))

Salary payable

Financial liabilities measured at

amortised cost
Other tax payable

5 EIE (MiaEo))
H e FRIB
st E A

FEAFE (BE5E20(0))
i XRE e

RBHEK AT ENSE
=N
H o e B IR

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within

one year or are repayable on demand.

Note:

(i) Aging analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade payables

based on invoice date were as follows:

0-30 days
31-60 days
61-90 days
Over 90 days

0Z30H

31%60H
61290H
#3890 R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

21. B RHEMENSRE
2020 2019
—z-2F e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
13,209 1,034
3,559 10,987
1,629 1,255
63 -
2,441 6,005
20,901 20,181
11,544 30,339
32,445 50,520

FRBEE S EEMENTIREAR —FR

B AREREE -
FeE:

@i) IRER AT

NBEPR BEZRARMLINE
SN FKENREDFTNT :

2020 2019
BE L —EF-nEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THR
12,310 1,654

899 280

13,209 1,934

PR ARRIZRERAT o

—E-TEER

139
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE
@ 2 :
: rrsteis |
anak
- -
22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES - BHER
2020 2019
—E-EF ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
Receipt in advance TEU SRR 8,943 2,632
Certain customers are required to pay deposits when they place the BETEPAR T EHETERIMET
sales order, which resulted in contract liabilities until the Group delivers 2 RSB (BEEZAKSEXNERE
the products and the customers obtain control of the products. EEFRMSHEMMIZHER)ANE
The significant increase (2019: decrease) in contract liabilities in the REENEHBERNRBEM(ZZ—AN
current year was mainly due to the HK$8,429,000 advances received F R ) FTEDBEREEFKEA
from customers resulting in an increase in contract liabilities of #388,429,0008 T2 A A BEEME
HK$6,311,000. 6,311,000 7T °
There was no revenue recognised in the current year that related to ANE LB AR BRI TN LY
performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year. EEBBERA -
Movements in contract liabilities: EHBESES:
2020 2019
—E_EF —ZET-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHEIT
Balance at beginning of the year FEN &S 2,632 3,852
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ERAFERER
recognising revenue during the year that R E T AE L
was included in the contract liabilities at the ~ B ERHWAERA L
beginning of the reporting period aERL (2,118) (3,852)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of EEWELORIBERE L
biling in advance of performance B EE M 8,429 2,632
Balance at end of the year REE R &% 8,943 2,632
23. OTHER BORROWING Hittfg &
2020 2019
—E_FF ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Repayable within one year AR —FNEE 10,000 =

The other borrowing of HK$10,000,000 at fixed interest advanced
from an independent third party is repayable on 3 April 2020. The
interest for the first monthly interest period is 26.9% per annum and
interest rate for the second monthly interest period up to maturity date
is 8.0% per annum. The other borrowing is incorporating first fixed
and floating charge over the undertaking, property and/or assets of
the Company whatever and whesesoever, both present and future,
including its uncalled capital for the time being. The other borrowing is
fully settled on 3 April 2020.
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REBULE = FEFUREEFEFTEZ
H {15 E10,000,000/ TTER = T -=
FOMA=ZAEE-s@AEF ,%\,Hﬁf'ﬁhz
FFE26.9%:1 8 ME_EAEFE
HEEZ JHHHJ%JL&EE?FITSO%J
BoHMEEDBARRIRERARKRDY
%?’z FER KEE(BELERHEX
SRR AN ) 4B Ak B B E E ROF E IR ©
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 H#E—Z-_TH&-A=+—HItFE

.
LEASE LIABILITIES 24, HESE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of TREIINE AT RBERE R RRIAB
the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous BB mELERE 1655 A - K
reporting periods and at the date of transition to IFRS 16: SEMNHEABRFBRE OISR
At 31 March 2020 At 1 April 2019 (Note) At 31 March 2019 (Note)
\ K:?*HE
N-Z-ZF m:%—ﬂ%mﬂ—a =A=1—H
ZA=t+-H” (Fi3) (HtsE)
Present Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total value of the Total
minimum ~ minimum minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease lease lease
payments payments  payments  payments payments payments
REHE REEE mEHEE KEHEE ZEHEE /EAE
AREBE (REE ((FHE OREE 386 I358%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TiEx TiEx FTAT FTAT FAET FAET
Within 1 year —£R 1,735 1,842 1,222 1,253 - -
After 1 year but —F1%
within 2 years BERAMER 1,353 1,392 967 1,042 = =
After 2 years but GG
within 5 years BREFR 255 256 1,158 1,322 = =
1,608 1,648 2,125 2,364 - -
3,343 3,490 3,347 3,617 - -
Less: total future B R IRF B
interest expenses gt (147) (270) =
Present value of HEARE
lease liabilities HE 3,343 3,347 -
Note: B 5 -
The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and N B E R BB B R R R R 165 A IR
adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to RRIETBINE WRAEBR-ZT-—AFHA—H
leases which were previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17. Comparative RIHAVI4E & DARESR L RIARIR PR & 52 R 5517
information as at 31 March 2019 has not been restated. Further details on the impact WO AKEHENEREENHERRE R
of the transition to IFRS 16 are set out in note 4. T-NF=ZA=+—BOERENTESN-F
ABEERE T BMELENEIRNTENE
— S HBERHES -
Total cash outflow for leases HENEBRSRE
Amount included in the consolidated statement of cash flow for leases REEHAGERERERNSEN
comprise the following: T
2020 2019
—ECEF —ZE-hnF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiExT FHET
Within operating cash flows ERERSREN 1,303 2,939
Within financing cash flows ERERSREN 1,356 =

MELALRERERAT « Z2-_FTFFR 141



5 o
Vil ™
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements =
—PAN = =} &
mEMBEHmERMN T .
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE
@ 2 =
M_._-._._.---—-Z'
[ ] i
24. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) v 24. HEEE (8
Total cash outflow for leases (Continued) HENBELSARE (8)
Note: B aE -
As explained in note 4(c), the adoption of IFRS 16 introduces a change in classification SRR B T4 () P R R - R 4% B PR B S R A E BN 5B
of cash flows of certain rentals paid on leases. The comparative amounts have not 1R EREETHENEHESRESREND
been restated. All the above amounts relate to the lease rentals paid. H-TESIHREE -ATE LleEABAHE
AR
25. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES 25, BIBEREE
2020 2019
ZEDEF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FAT
At beginning of the year REFEH] 22,214 -
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35(a)) HEM B A F (FI:ES5(a)) (20,830) =
Addition through acquisition of subsidiaries BRWENBARRNE
(note 34) (PF5E34) - 22,051
Interest on financial guarantee MIEER 2 FE - 84
Effect of foreign currency exchange HNEE 2 FH /Y
differences wa (1,384) 79
At the end of the year REER - 22,214

YRR A Wit B PR 2 R], Shenzhen Zoken Biology Ltd (“Zoken
Biology”), a subsidiary acquired during the year ended 31 March
2019 with details set out in note 34, has previously entered into
two financial guarantee contracts with financial guarantee liabilities
of RMB18,921,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$22,051,000)
recognised at 29 January 2019, the date of acquisition of the GE
Group by the Company. As the borrowers for the financial guarantee
contracts defaulted and did not settle the outstanding liabilities at date
of acquisition and at 31 March 2019, the Group is accordingly liable to
the guarantees. The guarantees comprise of the below:

(i) Zoken Biology had provided financial guarantee to a bank, -

BRRERRITRND AR R

17 (“Shanghai Pudong

Shenzhen”), in November 2014 in respect of banking facilities
granted by Shanghai Pudong Shenzhen to &Il TiT 1% 5 4 ¥ 5
Z2RHY 2 & A R A 7(“Shenzhen Botai, a former shareholder of
Zoken Biology”), with the guarantee amount of RMB20,000,000

(the “First Financial Guarantee”).

142 ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2020

FINRREYMFMARAA ([FRE
£l) (—RRBE-Z—hhF=A
ST ALFERENQR FEHR
RHFE34) LRI LMD M IS ERAE
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25. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES (Continued)

0

(Continued)

As Shenzhen Botai defaulted in repayment of the bank loans
to Shanghai Pudong Shenzhen, Shanghai Pudong Shenzhen
applied to the court in November 2015 to claim against
Shenzhen Botai, Zoken Biology and other financial guarantee
providers (collectively the “Defendant”) in respect of the
outstanding amount due to Shanghai Pudong Shenzhen and
the court issued the court order in February 2017 which judged
that Shenzhen Botai should repay the principal of approximately
RMB14,474,000 and interest of approximately RMB1,388,000
to Shanghai Pudong Shenzhen within 10 days from the court
order, and ordered that Zoken Biology and other financial
guarantee providers to be jointly liable for the above liability. The
court further issued an execution order to the Defendant in July
2017 as the Defendant failed to fulfill the legal obligations by the
due date. Further on 9 October 2018, the court issued another
execution order to the Defendant to order the payment of
approximately RMB15,973,000 and Zoken Biology is still liable
for the liability.

In respect of the First Financial Guarantee, Shenzhen Botai
and its beneficial owner (the “Beneficial Owner”) signed a letter
of undertaking to the GE Group on 22 December 2018 to
irrevocably undertake that (i) the Shenzhen Botai and Beneficial
Owner would fully settle the outstanding amounts by 30 June
2019 or request Shanghai Pudong Shenzhen to release the
guarantee liability of Zoken Biology; and (i) Shenzhen Botai and
Beneficial Owner would indemnify in full the loss that Zoken
Biology would suffer from the guarantee liability.

Furthermore, Mr. Wang, the key management personnel of
Biological Business who was the ultimate beneficial shareholder
of the GE Group prior to the Acquisition, signed a letter
of undertaking to the GE Group on 22 December 2018 to
irrevocably undertake that he would guarantee the liability of
Shenzhen Botai and Beneficial Owner arose from the above-
mentioned undertaking if Shenzhen Botai and Beneficial Owner
failed to fully repay all outstanding balances or fail to release
Zoken Biology from the guarantee liability by 30 June 2019.

At 31 March 2019, the amount recognised for the First Financial
Guarantee is RMB15,973,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$18,682,000).
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25. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES (Cgntinued) 2. UBRREE (&)
(i)  Zoken Biology has provided a financial guarantee to an iy HFREYRZ-_ZT—tFHEARK
individual lender in April 2017 in respect of loan facilities granted BEEAFREVMERFRED
to a company which Zoken Biology had equity interests, namely —MER BRI RE R A
IR R B i A W 1 i 8 PR A 5] (“Shenzhen Zhongkang”), prior MAERRAT (RYIFE])ER
to the Acquisition, for the loan amount of RMB2,000,000 (the MERRER—ZBEAERA
“Second Financial Guarantee”). REVHER BERSEAAR
#2,000,0007T ([ 5 =17 Bt % &
®1) e
As Shenzhen Zhongkang defaulted in repayment of the loan to R ARIIF EREEBAREREA
the creditor, the creditor applied to the court in March 2019 to BREF BERARZZE—NF
claim against Shenzhen Zhongkang, Zoken Biology and other ZAMERRE RAEELAS
financial guarantee providers in respect of the outstanding MEEETF Bt ¥ R B - i
principal and the interest accrued. Y R EA B S EREMHERD
REo
Pursuant to the terms in Sale and Purchase Agreement for BREKBEAEEENEZ HEDN
acquisition of the GE Group, Mr. Wang irrevocably undertake &R+ T 58 A 7 AT IS b ARG 1
that he would be responsible for such liability. BaEE@aRE-
At 31 March 2019, the amount recognised for the Second R-E—NF=ZA=+—H" 5
Financial Guarantee is RMB3,020,000 (equivalent to FE_MUMBERERNESER
approximately HK$3,532,000). A R #3,020,0007T (FBZER 4
3,582,000/ T ) °
26. DEFERRED TAX 2. EFERIE

(a)

Deferred tax liabilities recognised

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements

@ CERNELHEERE

NAEENER G M BN KR AR
REEEN R B EVAERED &

during the year are as follows: ZEpT
Intangible
asset through
acquisition
of subsidiaries
FEBUENE QA
WERAE
HK$’'000
FHEIT
At 1 April 2018 RZE—-NFHA—H =
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) W gk B A A (MIFE34) 28,206
Credited to profit or loss (note 13) FrAEE (MIFE13) (470)

At 31 March 2019 R-ZE—NF=A=+—"HRK

and 1 April 2019 —ET-hFWHA—H 27,736
Credited to profit or loss (note 13) FFABZE (MEE13) (1,410)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35(a)) HEN B AR (HFE35@)) (26,326)

At 31 March 2020 R-Z-2F=A=+—H _
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE

26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has estimated unused
tax losses of approximately HK$19,192,000 (2019:
HK$36,898,000) available for offset against future taxable
profits of the entities in which the losses arose. No deferred
tax was recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil) since it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses can be
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.
Expiry dates of unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

Unrecognised tax losses will expire in:  RIERHIBEBEAHNIAT
E—r F'EJ xU B

2020 —EEF

2021 —E-—fF

Unrecognised tax losses without
expiry date [=Ei!

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

At 31 March 2020, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to HK$657,000
(2019: HK$60,666,000). Deferred tax liabilities of HK$66,000
(2019: HK$6,067,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution of these
retained profits as the Company controls the dividend policy of
these subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable
that these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

BRI 2 REERHIA

26.

®)

e MWK

R TF_ L IR

RIS (1)

RERZBEERIREE

R-_TE-_ZTEF=ZA=+—8"
ANEBMGADAFEREEBLY
19,192,000 L (=T — hF:
36,898,000 7T ) A 4 4K 84 & &
FﬁTEZf‘%“?EXWE%PLT' eI
—E-ZTFZA=Z+—A8 @\R
RIS Rl AR R E ]
REHIR A NS B 2 KRB
p%mﬂﬂ P REAR S B A5k
NETFRRELEHB(ZZ—N
F | RERBIEEEMEE
HanT :

2020 2019
—g-2F —2-nF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiBT T

- 7,272

= 26,741

- 34,013

19,192 2,885
19,192 36,898

©

PR A3

RERNELETIREE

REBFECEMSHE B-F
%’é/\ﬁ—ﬁ! — B s B s

7 B AT ERER B ) A B R AR BB
TABANTRITL

R_E_TF=-A=+—8"

B RRERD /ﬁm%‘ﬁﬁém%ﬁ
25 A657,00008 T (—E—Hh
£ 160,666,000/ 7T) B AR
AIREIZERE QR NRER
R WREZSHMAETER
Al RS R 5K - AL R T TR 5%
AR 5 M FE S A B B TE FERR
iE JE i T8 & (66,0008 T (=%
— J1L4F : 6,067,000/ 7T ) °
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27. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 27. EERKER
Defined contribution retirement plans EREHFCR KT &
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF REBEBRBEFBRE M ATE D
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes RIXEBERBKROAEE 2 AEREXE
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the ZEEFZIBEIMAESFE ([RE
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined S8l - BEESHEARHBIUZTA
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees. B EREMBRKEE - RIBARES
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each AECEETREESAHEREEER
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ WA Z5%MAETEWELE MR MEBREH
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of WA 2 EBR 30,0007 7T © 5H 81t 51 AN
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately. 5558 o
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members AEEzHEMNBRARZEESA AS
of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the BT E R 2 B & RIKEFE 8l 2 Bk
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute B -ZEWBARARTMNRASZ 2EE
a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefits Ao RRKENET SR - AEEE
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with BRRKEFFEZETEAIELIEE
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified 2R
contributions.
The retirement benefits scheme contributions of the directors of the BE-_ZT-_ZTFR-_ZF—NF=HA
Company and staff of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2020 =+ —BUEFEZARRNEERAEE
and 2019 are stated in notes 10, 8(b) and 13, respectively. 1B B 2 RIR@AIEr a3k 5 RIS R M &

10 - 8(b) %13 °

28. OPERATING LEASES 28. REHE

The Group as lessee REBEREHEA

At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments under

non-cancellable operating leases were payable as follows:

Within 1 year —FR

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties held
under leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under IAS 17. The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the Group
adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease
liabilities relating to these leases (see note 4). From 1 April 2019
onwards, future lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with the
policies set out in note 2.3(e), and the details regarding the Group’s

future lease payments are disclosed in note 24.
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29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current asset
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets
Other receivable
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities
Accruals
and other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Other borrowing

Net current assets

NET ASSETS

Capital and reserves
Share capital

Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

FRBEE

KRB ARz E

RBEE

H e YRR
i =PNCIES |
Re RIRITHEH

k-2l
i3

o

&
ERk

2k

HiEE

BEEFH

EXKfFE
(RN
(K

A

H A 8 A< FRIA
R~ FFRIA

Notes
B

30(b)
30(a)

ATEBEZHHEMRR R

2020 2019
—z-2F e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET

10 128,441

8 —

51,483 52,436
17,320 4,077
68,811 56,513
12,992 12,442

8 1

10,000 =
23,000 12,443
45,811 44,070
45,821 172,511
329,662 380,298
(283,841) (207,787)
45,821 172,511

MELALRERERAT « Z2-_FTFFR

147



148

) T ™
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements o
SN > o
mEMBEHmERMN T s
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE
@ 2 =
: rrsteis |
aapll
- —
30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES v 30. EBEARKf#ME
(@)  The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of (@) AEBEGEERSEKIDRF
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out VM ERERNE R NG
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of HEER - AN A RESA @RI
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity EDREE Y REE R E
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out FIEHSIAT
below:
The Company EAAY
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
R 15
RE 2 BB @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHEL TEx
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\EEA—A 548,930 (808,430) (259,500)
Loss and total comprehensive loss AFEEEE L2 E
for the year EiRER - (1,397) (1,397)
Shares issued for acquisition of ~ WENB AR ET 2K 7
subsidiaries (note 30 (b)(i) (FFE30 (b)) 53,110 = 53,110
At 31 March 2019 and RZZE-NE=A=+—-HK
1 April 2019 —E-AEME—A 602,040 (809,827) (207,787)
Loss and total comprehensive loss  AFEEEL2H
for the year FReE - (70,095) (70,005)
Buy-back of Settlement Shares for 1A #2 F I8 5 Al B
cancellation upon completion (2] B A % A 10 3 7 3
of the Unwinding (note 30(b)(ii) (FTEE30(0)(i) ) (5,959) - (5,959)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-FTF=fA=+—-H 596,081 (879,922) (283,841)
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

30. EBEAKHME ()

(b)  Share capital b B
Number Amount Amount
of Shares equivalent to equivalent to
BERUT HERUT
BHEE EMEeHE EXeHE
US$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Authorised: HE
At 1 April 2018, RZE-N\FWA—A:
31 March 2019, —E-hE=ZA=1+—
1 April 2019 and B ZT-hFmA—
31 March 2020, AR—ZT-ZTF=A
ordinary shares =+—B&KRMEE.16
of US$0.16 each ELR L AR 625,000,000 100,000 778,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHAR:
At 1 April 2018, RZE—-N\FMA—AH
ordinary shares of FREE0.16E TTH
US$0.16 each Tk 254,234,383 40,678 316,471
Shares issued for acquisition of W BB B A R B TR
subsidiaries (note (i) (HE&E®) 50,842,000 8,135 63,827
At 31 March 2019 and RZE-NF=ZR=+—
1 April 2019, AR-—F—hEMNA—
ordinary shares H SR EE0. 165 TH)
of US$0.16 each ZEk 305,076,383 48,813 380,298
Buy-back of Settlement Shares for AR B = IE T
cancellation upon completion [E] e 0B AR 10 W0 71 8
of the Unwinding (note (i) (B &) (40,716,000) (6,515) (50,636)
At 31 March 2020, RZEZTF=R=+—
ordinary shares B&RmEE0.163% LK)
of US$0.16 each ZEk 264,360,383 42,298 329,662

The owners of ordinary Shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
Share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary Shares rank
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Notes:

U

(i)

Shares issued for acquisition of subsidiaries

On 29 January 2019, 50,842,000 ordinary Shares were allotted to
Starways Global, the vendor of the acquisition of subsidiaries, at the
fair value of HK$2.30 per share, of which HK$63,827,000 was credited
to share capital and HK$53,110,000 was credited to share premium.

Buy-back of Settlement Shares for cancellation upon completion of the
Unwinding

On 23 January 2020, 40,716,000 ordinary Shares, the Settlement
Shares, were transferred from Starways Global to the Company
for cancellation for the Unwinding (see note 13 for details). On 23
January 2020, the fair value of the Settlement Shares is HK$1.39 per
share, accordingly HK$50,636,000 was debited to share capital and
HK$5,959,000 was debited to share premium.

PR A3

LB IR R A YRR S R
REREERRABIANE LIRHE
RS — R IR — - A &
BREBBEANAFGBEESE
19 F A R Fhf -

B -

0] L B BT B8 8 ) B AT AR 49
RZF—NAF—-—A=+NA"-
50,842,0008% & 38 A% A% 19 1% & A%
230 T Z AT EMERE T
BHBRAZEHERBE-
H 63,827,000/ 7T 5F ABEAN T
53,110,000/ 7T &t ABR 19 5 8 ©

(i) PR B S 78 ST A s (Bl BB A AR AR 1)
A
RZT-_TFE—A=-+=R”"
40,716,000% & i A% A% 15 (1 #7
i 15 ) B 3t Rk RIE R 2 BB
HETARAREHE (FERME
13) MZEBE_ZTF-—A=+=
H M@EROHOAFEBELRER
1.397% 7T+ H #150,636,0007% T
B 58 A B AN A 125,959,0007% 7T
B AR HE -
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 4

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Share premium arose from the issuance of share by the
Company at prices in excess of their par value, and may
be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. The
application of the share premium is governed by section
40 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(i) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2.3(q).

(iii)  Reserve fund

Pursuant to applicable PRC regulations, PRC subsidiaries
in the Group are required to appropriate 10% of their
profit after tax (after offsetting prior year losses) to the
statutory reserve until such reserve reaches 50% of
their registered capital of each relevant PRC subsidiary.
Transfers to this reserve must be made before distribution
of dividends to shareholders. Upon approval by relevant
authorities, the statutory reserve can be utilised to offset
the accumulated losses or to increase the paid-up capital
of the subsidiary, provided that the balance after such
issue is not less than 25% of its registered capital.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that they
can continue to provide returns for Shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, and maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The
Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment
of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new
debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(d)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated as total debts included
trade and other payables, contract liabilities. other borrowing,
lease liabilities, financial guarantee liabilities and tax payable
less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity (that is, share capital, share premium,
other reserve, accumlated losses and any non-controlling
interests).

During 2020, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2019, was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at the
lowest as possible, in order to secure access to finance at a
reasonable cost. The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

Total debt BERE

Less: Cash and cash equivalents HoRERBEEEYD
(note 20) (H$3E20)

Net debt BEFE

>t

Total equity and adjusted capital

Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio

According to the Listing Rules, at least 25% of the Shares
should be held in the hands of the public. Save for this, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

Note:

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and adjusted the opening balances of 1 April 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating
leases under IAS 17. Under this approach, the comparative information is not
restated, see note 4.

ESBEREARER

FREHRRHEEARLX

30. EBEAKHME ()

@

BRAERE (&)

AEENBBEHEHBREAR LXK
REERZTER -ZLERUAE
FREBEARHEEARE -BE
FRENRELE (BEESRE
tEMNFIR - AHEE KM
5§ HEAB MBERAER
ENRBE)RBRAS LR EED
HE-KHREABEME R
o (AR AR B R 18 K
[l RETHE R RAT A IEIE AR

%)o
fm

AEBER_Z_ZTFNHEKA
—E-NFRIEZY -KEEH
WRBAKEEHEHBERL
KRN BEFRREKT - ARER
NEBEABSES - NBEH
K OFEBEHERBEEARLEN
T

2020 2019
e —FNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHEIT
(note)

(P5E)

54,856 76,486
(27,908) (34,421)
26,948 42,065
111,423 256,576
24.2% 16.4%

PR A3
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME v 31. BRESE

The Company operates a share option scheme 2010 (the “2010
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the 2010 Scheme include the
Group’s directors, including independent non-executive directors,
confirmed employees of the Group, the controlling Shareholders and
their associates. The 2010 Scheme became effective on 11 February
2010 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force
for 10 years from that date. The 2010 Scheme has been expired on
10 February 2020 and no further options will be granted under the
2010 Scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options permitted to be
granted under the 2010 Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the Shares in issue at any time. The maximum
number of Shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the 2010 Scheme within any 12-month period is limited
to 1% of the Shares in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, or to any
of their respective associates (including discretionary trust in which
any connected persons are beneficiary), are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder (as defined
in the Listing Rules) or an independent non-executive director of
the Company, or to any their respective associates, in excess of
0.1% of the Shares in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company’s Shares at the date of grant) in
excess of HK$5.0 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The grant of 2010 Scheme shall be
made to a participant by letter in such form as the Remuneration
Committee of the Company (“RC”) may from time to time determine.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Subject to the provisions of the 2010 Scheme, the Bermuda
Companies Act, and the Listing Rules, the RC may, when making
the offer, impose any conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation
thereto as it may at its absolute discretion think fit.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the RC,
but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s Shares on a business day as stated in the daily quotations
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange; (i) the average closing prices
of the Company’s Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five consecutive business days
immediately preceding the offer date; or (i) the nominal value of a
share on the offer date.

Under the 2010 Scheme, if the share options remain unexercised
after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the share options
expire. Share options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group
before the share options vest. In the event that the grantee ceases to
be a participant for any reason (other than on his death) including the
termination of his employment or engagement on one or more of the
grounds specified in the 2010 Scheme, the options granted to such
grantee will lapse on the date of such cessation (to the extent not
already exercised) and will not be exercisable unless the RC otherwise
determines to grant an extension (which shall not be more than 1
month from the date of cessation) at the absolute discretion of the
RC in which event the grantee may exercise the options within such
period of extension.

The 2010 Scheme expired on 10 February 2020. During the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, there are no share options granted,
exercised or forfeited under the 2010 Scheme, and there are no share
options outstanding as at 31 March 2019 and at the expiry of the
2010 Scheme on 10 February 2020.
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32. SUBSIDIARIES v 2. WELH
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are as R-E-_ZTE=ZA=+—HB TEWNE
follows: NAIMFBENOT :
Place of
establishment/ Issued and
incorporation and fully paid-up/  Percentage of paid up/issued
Name of subsidiary business registered capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
R/ FER AL L BRAIRAR/ KRAFMBERR/
WELREE BERFH HMER ERTHRAESL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B Gk
H K Rich Technology International Hong Kong 1 ordinary share 100% - Sales and distribution of mobile handsets and their
Company Limited (H K Rich”) ) 1R @R components
BEEAHAERERAR ([FAER]) HERDHEFHREATH
RYENEEERERBRAR PRC Registered - 100%  Provision of management services to the Group
HE capital of AREERRERRE
RMB1,000,000
AMER
AR #1,000,0007C
Smart Tone International Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary 100% - Provision of management services to the Group
EEERERAA 6 shares AAEERMERRY
100/ % i
Golden Joyous Ventures Limited BVI 1 ordinary 100% - Investment holding
ERRAHS share of REER
US$1 each
1REREE
IETHE B
Golden Ant Investment Limited Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary S 100%  Investment holding
(“Golden Ant') B shares REER
LEREEFRAT ([2E]) 10,0008 & i@ Ak
Willis Trading Limited Hong Kong 2,000,000 ordinary o 100%  Sale of milk powder and baby foods
BERGYHEFERAA 0 shares HENHRERRM
2,000,0008% & it
At 31 March 2020 and 2019, there is no subsidiary of the Group R ZTFER T -NF=A=+—
which has material non-controlling interests. A AEESERNTAMNBARERE
RIS o
None of the subsidiaries of the Group issued any debt securities at the RAEAFR NEBHRB AR BIERITE
end of the year. IEBES -
Remark: et
# This subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the i ZH B R RRE P AR EM AINGE
PRC law. Bz
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include the followings:

33. EREREERERTANLTEER

AEENTESRTABFEATSIA:

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets EREE
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E i W R IE
(note 19) (MIEE19) 42,954 78,527
Cash and bank balances (note 20) Re RRITE R (H5E20) 27,908 34,421
Financial assets measured at amortised cost R # K AT EN S RHEE 70,862 112,948
Financial liabilities cRIBE
Trade and other payables B 5 & E & IR
(note 21) (FfFsE21) 20,901 20,181
Other borrowing (note 23) HuEE (KisF23) 10,000 =
Lease liabilities (note 24) HEBE (M24) 3,343 =
Financial guarantee liabilities (note 25) ISR B & (M5E25) - 22,214
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost & # K AT EN L R EE 34,244 42,395

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit
risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. The Group’s
exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies
and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described
below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit rating assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, for which the Group considers to have
low credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 49% (2019: 46%)
and 97% (2019: 84%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest trade debtor and the five largest trade
debtors, respectively.

AEETMTAMEENEIZRAMRAIE
SRR REBIERRE  FEEREEE
B o T XER A B AT ZEFR R
RAEEERNERZERRN T /R
BB NS -

@ FERR

EERREXSHF I HERE
BHEIMEBAREERZUE
BBz E R -

FEENEERBREIZHANE
ZREMGRIE - AEERERE R
RITEHNEERRER AR
R F 7 RBEBEEFREE
BENDEEFRORT BA
SER/EERREIE-

REBHEERBRTIEZESRF
NEREEEE MIEILTF
EMETERBREE R
EENEXEEETRREIERE
AEBEHEAERNEFRRKRE
EA-NBER 49% (=ZF
—NF 1 46%) K97% (=T — N
F:84% )M E 5 EKRIBLEE
DRIAAEBHENEYRE ZES
ARAKXE SEBARIGKIE -
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 3. TEEREENEMTANDFEERE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) @ EERR(E)
Trade receivables (Continued) B EWKNE ()

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade receivables
are due within 0 to 90 days (2019: 60 to 90 days) from the date
of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31
March 2020 and 2019:

HABZEXHBAETREESSE
Z2REETENEEN G -ZE
TEEFREFPBAEEIER
BrRERBRIZERENTZE
EBREFZHBTERURBHEER
BB IEIRE - B 5 EKGRE
BEZAMRIFOZEOR(ZF
— L 1 60E90K ) WEIHT o — A%
mMs AEBITEESKAETF
A

REEGERBEEETENTE
HIEBEEBRSBIEEIE
WA B REE  aNARE
MBEEEERERITERRT
REPF S ERER A HRE
ZE RUEBE-TEROAEHE
TNRE P B iR E HA 0 HO 5 1R
e

TEREHEAEER T -_FTEFER
T AE=ZA=+—HHEEBED
EERRNE S EKFIETRBIE
EBENER:

2020
—E-EHF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BEIEER IREAE BIREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT TER
Current (not past due) BH(TEaH) 0.0% 3,359 =
1-30 days past due # H#1230A 0.0% 8,804 -
31-60 days past due #HI31E60H 0.0% 12 -
61-90 days past due #HI61290H 0.0% - -
More than 90 days past due #HI90R LA |k 23.9% 39,937 (9,547)
52,112 (9,547)
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 33 TRIEAMEERESHIANAFEER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (#&)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) @ EERR(E)
Trade receivables (Continued) B EKE ()
2019
—E-NF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TBHEEX REAE EERE
HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FET FHT
Current (not past due) EH (Y EaH) 0.0% 52,062 =
1-30 days past due #H1230A 0.0% 1,013 -
31-60 days past due #H#31E60H 0.0% 15,457 -
68,532 -
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience TEAIE IR R ERBEAME 2 BREEL
over the past two years. These rates are adjusted to reflect SRt B o 5% E L RARIRIE £ SR IR B
differences between economic conditions during the period R EBERN  BREREBARRZ
over which the historic data has been collected, current FEWGR BB FERRNZEBERR=F
conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions over ZHzERETHRE
the expected lives of the receivables.
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade RAFEEBBE S EUIERNEERE
receivables during the year is as follows: S EHNT
2020 2019
—E_EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Balance at beginning of the year RFE VIR 484 - -
Impairment losses recognised RAFE R
during the year VoREY SR (9,547) -
Balance at end of the year REE R 484 (9,547) =
The following significant changes in the gross carrying amounts AT AEHEEREIE NN E 5 BN
of trade receivables contributed to the increase in the loss ERRmMABEcEREH:
allowance:
= increase in days past due over 90 days resulted in an —  @HR90H M _E Z REUE hnE B E
increase in loss allowance of HK$9,547,000 (2019: Nil). BB IN9,547,0008 T (=&
—NF:F) -
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 3. TEEREENEMTANDFEERE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables

For other receivables, the directors of the Company make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The directors of the Company believe that there are no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition, the Group assessed that the ECL for other
receivables were insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent company’s
board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following tables set out the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.
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3. TEEMREENEBMTANDFEERE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)
(b)  Liquidity risk (Continued) ) REMERR (&)
2020
o 7 —= i
More than More than Total Carrying
1yearbut 2yearsbut contractual amount
Within  lessthan2  lessthan 5 undiscounted at 31 March
On demand 1 year years years  cash flows 2020
E’\‘—g—gﬁc—
‘ BA- BEmME SNKEE =Zp=1-
REX —Fn 8 Tﬁiﬁﬁfﬁ BREBRE ﬁéuniiggﬁ E’JEEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR THERr TET THET THT
Trade and other BHREM
payables RT3 1,629 19,272 - - 20,901 20,901
Lease liabilties (note) ~ TEAE (Kiz) - 1,842 1,392 256 3,490 3,343
Other borrowing HipEeE - 10,004 - - 10,004 10,000
1,629 31,118 1,392 256 34,395 34,244
2019
— & _j—L¢
More than More than Total Carrying
{yearbut  2yearsbut  contractual amount
Within lessthan2  lessthan5 undiscounted  at 31 March
On demand 1 year years years cash flows 2019
RZZ-NE
\ ﬁﬁi\@*i ﬁﬂmi AHAME =ZA=1—H
BEX —FR BTREMF BETHARE BReREfE MEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL T T THL THL
Trade and 5 RAM
other payables JERFIE 1,255 18,926 = = 20,181 20,181
Financial guarantee MBER
liabilities = 22,214 - - - 22,214 22,214
23,469 18,926 = = 42,395 42,395
Note: B 5
The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective REBEXEABRRY KRS ERE6
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise SRR AL BITEME UHABRNR T
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating —NEFEMNA— BBV ARERE
leases under IAS 17. Under this approach, the comparative information is not ARRER S ENEITR D E AL E
restated, see note 4. HENEHEEENHERE -RIEZF
R HEENTTES] RHE4 o
(c) Interest rate risk © FIEERK

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash

MEREBRESRTANATFEE

flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
primarily from fixed rate other borrowing and lease liabilities
and from variable rate bank balances, which expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk
respectively.

The Group’s bank balances are carried at low interest rates and
the interest income thereon is not significant.

KARRBFCREZAT S RE
B)) M B A =L s o Z!K%IE’M{'+
[BLBE 3 2R B Bl E F 2R A H A S
BEREEABUARZEF ERIT
@ik S AKE D RIEEBERTE
A % @

ENERREIRERE
B2 o

REB M RITERIZRERN X

SAEFNBUAEM-
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 3. TEEREENEMTANDFEERE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

@

Sensitivity analysis

Other borrowing and lease liabilities are fixed rate
instruments and are insensitive to any change in interest
rates. A change in interest rates at the end of the
reporting period would not affect profit or loss.

The Group does not have significant exposure to interest
rates arising from variable rate cash at bank, accordingly
no sensitivity analysis is presented.

(d)  Currency risk

)

Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily
Australian dollars (‘“AUD”) and United States dollars
(“US$”). The Group ensures that the net exposure is
kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates when necessary to address
short-term imbalances.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)

Currency risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in HKS, translated using the spot
rate at the year end date.

33.

TREREEREMTANAFEE
(&)

d E#EE (&)
() EIzZEEEE (E)

TR AEEN RS
R FFT TE i LA £ 22 R A R O
DB EETE
ZEMBEERGEME
EMEERER- 325
F HERBRZEREIINA
BN KAFHEAN
BIHARE RIBH o

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKS)

NERR (UETERT)
2020 2019
ZEZEE ZZ-NE

Uss AUD Uss$ AUD

in 2 e BT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Tix TiEn T T

Trade and other receivables BHREMENE 33,761 8,659 53,780 -

Cash and bank balances BeRRTES 4,563 5,398 13,159 -

Trade and other payables B REMERFRE (2,129) (13,209) = =
Net exposure arising from BHAEER
recognised assets BEELR

and liabilities EER 36,195 848 66,939 -

Sensitivity analysis (i)  BUEEEZHT

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss/profit after tax (and accumulated
losses) that would arise if foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the end of
the reporting period had changed at that date, assuming
all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect,
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the HK$
and the US$ would be materially unaffected by any
changes in movement in value of the US$ against other
currencies.

TEREIRBERARAE
1] 1 i 22 XS g ) 1 B D
EHRZAEREY
(BRAAELERERR
FI)HAEERBIL
BB EN (R REE)
ELEMESEE -t m
FERRETAETH
HERETEREETHE
Hip E ¥ EmEES

MEBEATE-
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 3. TEEREENEMTANDFEERE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (#&)
(d)  Currency risk (Continued) 0 SRR (E)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued) (i)  BEES(E)
2020 2019
—E-TF —hF
Decrease/ Increase/
Increase/ (increase) (decrease)
(decrease) in loss after Increase/ in profit after
in foreign tax and (decrease) tax and
exchange  accumulated in foreign accumulated
rates losses exchange rates losses
MRELEEIE FR 512 5 A
HEEE REBFHEE SMNEFESR R RETEIE
EFH(THR) B/ (88m) A (R s, k)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHEL
AUD BT 5% 35 5% =
(5%) (35) (5%) -
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table RSN TERIEARE
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects HI B B A AR BE &
on each of the group entities’ profit or loss after tax and B ENSSBEEEBRN
equity measured in the respective functional currencies, &m Ak BB kR R
translated into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the end %E@Xfﬁﬁﬁﬁ)ﬁﬁﬁ y=Yes
of the reporting period for presentation purposes. TR A B 2
The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in BRRE o TR R INERE =
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure BEEERREHNTER
those financial instruments held by the Group which £ B RS B R mEERIMNE
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of BErEE TR niTig
the reporting period. The analysis is performed on the BTN FRRAEE
same basis for 2019. T
(e)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other € FEATHEBEIERNERMEER
than fair value BENLTERE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments RZEBZZEFRZZ-NF=H
carried at amortised cost are not materially different from their =+ —H AEEIREHEKAT
fair values as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. FEHESRTAREBERAATE
BEXEERER-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

For the year ended 31 March 2020

On 6 February 2020, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share
capital of Golden Ant for a consideration of HK$3,500,000. Golden
Ant and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Golden Ant Group”) is
principally engaged in Milk Products Business. The acquisition has
entitled the Group to enter into the milk powder and baby foods
trading industry.

Since the acquisition, Golden Ant Group contributed HK$30,587,000
to the Group’s revenue and profit of HK$980,000 to the consolidated
results for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the
revenue from continuing operations of the Group and the loss of the
Group for the year would have been approximately HK$300,865,000

Ed e
BE—_Z-_ZFE=-A=+—-HLFE

RZZZTF-_ANAH AEBEURE
3,500,000 T EECE 2 HBEBITK
Ko BEREMBAR (KBAEI&E
EHDFERENEERET - WBSE
BEAREEBEANMREERRBE HIT
%o

AR SHEERBE-T-F
= A=+ — AL FERAEEERK
30,587,000 7T B B ikt & S48 2
980,000/8 7T ©

& HRFEEIET BIREERASE
ERHELEEBZWARBERD 5
£9 /300,865,000 7T & 783,684,000

and approximately HK$83,684,000 respectively.

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are

as follows:

Property, plant and equipment (note 15)
Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other payables

Tax payable

Lease liability (note 20(b))

Total identifiable net assets at fair value
Goodwill on acquisition (note 17)

Consideration, satisfied by cash

Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries:

Cash and cash equivalent acquired
Less: Cash consideration

BT

RERRAZEERAGENT:

Fair value

AFEE

HK$’000

FHT

Y B MR (MTEE15) 1,279

B 5 & E 8 W A 1,103

ReRRESEFEY 5,911

B 5 hEMENREA (5,669)

FEf R TE (12)

HEAE (K5E200)) (1,273)

BRAFEEINEZJHFEERSE 1,339

PR 2 2 (MsE17) 2,161

RE BRI H 3,500
WHEHE NG ZBEERAFEE:

kB E e RESEEY 5,911

B RESRE (3,500)

2,411

MELALRERERAT « Z2-_FTFFR
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 4 EBEH (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs (included in administrative expenses)

amounted to approximately HK$96,000.

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce and the expected
profitability of the acquired business. It will not be deductible for tax

purposes.

The trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of
HK$836,000, of which HK$nil was expected to be uncollectible at the

date of acquisition.

For the year ended 31 March 2019

On 29 January 2019, the Group completed to acquire 100% of
the issued share capital of GE International for a consideration of
HK$128,440,000 (50,842,000 Shares allotted at the fair value of
HK$2.30 per share and assumed the EIT payable for indirect share
transfer of subsidiary established in the PRC). GE Group is principally
engaged in Biological Business. The acquisition has entitled the Group

to enter into the biological industry.

Since the acquisition, GE Group contributed HK$13,904,000 to the
Group’s revenue and HK$3,484,000 to the consolidated profit for the

year ended 31 March 2019.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the
revenue from continuing operations of the Group and the profit of the
Group for the year would have been approximately HK$434,872,000

and HK$54,077,000, respectively.
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BE—Z-SFE=A=1+—HLLFE (&)

WIHEEBARARN (GFATHRER) BLD
96,000/ 7T °

HERBERTUEEBN S RIRE
BFEE S - BT AEB IR IR -

BZRUFERBRIHPANETHE
836,000/& 7T » 1 & A T8 T W iE B
HRM ATk -

BHE-ZE-NE=A=+—HILFE

REE-NAF-—A-t+hB AEEZ
K LA X {E128,440,000/%8 7T (12 A (B
{E & A%2.307% T AL #50,842,000A% A% 17
R AR R B A ST A0 P B X B R AR 1D
EENENEEMSH) WBAEER
MEEEETEAR REKET RS
EMER - WBERESAEEEALY
RS

BURBEBUR KREEREREE=-2—HN
FZA=Z+—HLEFERAEEER
g A13,904,0005 7T & & Bf 45 & % 7
3,484,000/ 7T °

WEFREEYET BIAREBRAE
&R QB E TSN KRR 5 5l
& /& #9434,872,0007% 7T }254,077,000
BT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are

as follows:

Property, plant and equipment (note 15)
Intangible asset (note 16)

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other payables

Financial guarantee liabilities (note 25)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 26(a))

Total identifiable net assets at fair value
Goodwill on acquisition (note 17)

Consideration

Satisfied by:
Consideration from allotment of Shares
EIT payable assumed by the Group for
indirect share transfer of subsidiary
established in the PRC

Cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries:

Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Acquisition-related costs (included in administrative expenses)

amounted to HK$1,361,000.

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce and the high profitability
of the acquired business. It will not be deductible for tax purposes.

The trade and other receivables comprise gross contractual amounts
due of HK$55,246,000, of which amount due from Mr. Wang of
HK$34,398,000 was expected to be uncollectable at the date of

acquisition.

4. EBESH (H)

BEZZ-NF=ZA=+—HLEFE (&)

ME - BE MERE (HEE15)
mREE (MFE16)

rE

B 5 R H MU FRIE
BeERIBSEEY

B 5 REMENKIE
ISR B & (M F25)
EEFTE B & (M7E26(a))

BATFEEIRZTHAFEERRE
RUeEER 2 B8 (ME17)

RE

AT 377 s A
[kt die v DA
ARER B P AT R B A ST Y
M8~ R RO EER
FER R EFTEH

WEERTE 2 Al 2 B E /A
RS R IREFEY

BE{EK

PR ARRIZRERAT o

WEAZEERAGBNT:

Fair value
NEEE
HK$'000

FHT

11,465
112,823
3,117
20,848
12,187
(30,173)
(22,051)
(28,206)

80,010
48,430

128,440

116,937

11,503

128,440

12,187

WEAEKA (FFATERER) R
1,361,000/ 7T °

BEGBNTIRBEBNSS I RSA
FBE A o E g AR ETL IR HIR ©

B REMERRBEEINHZAEH
% #855,246,000/8 70 P IR T L4
FIB34,398,000/8 7T 7B HR A U 8 B HA S

—E-TEER
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES . 35. HEMBAHR

For the year ended 31 March 2020

(@) On 23 January 2020, the Group completed the Unwinding and
disposal of the entire equity interests in GE Group, details of
which are disclosed in note 13.

BE—_Z-_ZFE=-A=+—-HLFE

@ RZITZEF-—AZt+=B'X&
SETKEBRERYHEREE
B2 2 EPARE - B R B E OB

13
HK$’000
FHExT
Consideration received ERE
Return of 40,716,000 Settlement Shares ERATEETRISOEITLEE
at fair value of HK$1.39 per share 40,716,0000% 1 7 B% 19
(note 30(b)(ii)) (B 5E30(b)(ii) ) 56,595
Consideration received in cash and ERRENES R
cash equivalents REEEY 18,804
Total consideration received B ERTE 75,399
Analysis of assets and liabilities AEZHEZEERBEZ S
over which control was lost
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) M- B E KRB (EE15) 8,436
Intangible asset (note 16) EmRAE (M3k16) 105,301
Goodwill (note 17) E (MsE17) 48,430
Inventories & 2,407
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E h fE W IR 24,045
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREeEEY 18,236
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERNFIA (32,080)
Financial guarantee liabilities (note 25) S ERARE (KiE25) (20,830)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 26(a)) RIEF T B & (FiE26(a)) (26,326)
Net assets disposed of HECZEEFE 127,619
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35.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Continued)

(@

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Total consideration received
Net assets disposed of

Cumulative exchange loss in respect of

the net assets of the subsidiaries

reclassified from equity to profit or loss

upon disposal of subsidiaries

Loss on disposal

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

3. HEMBATF (&)

HER B 4 AR

Bl KBRS

e AEFE

R EH B A 7
RHEHBLNEESE
g EH SRR
RN

HEBE

The loss on disposal is included in “loss for the year from

discontinued operation” (note 13).

BE_Z_TF=-A=1+—-HLFE

(&)

(@)

Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries 1 EM/E L 52 B £ HAFEE

Consideration received in cash
and cash equivalents

Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

BERARENRS
KIREEEY

In August 2019, the Group disposed all of its 80% equity
interests in Perfect Major Limited, which carried out mobile
business, at total consideration of HK$158,000.

Consideration received

Consideration received in cash
and cash equivalents

Total consideration

BHE

BERRENRS
KRIREEEY

RELHE

WEHERERREEEY

HK$’000
TET

75,399
(127,619)

(1,942)

(54,162)

HFEBRFAIRADRLER
BEKZAFEEBEIA (K
13) °

HK$’000
FiET

18,804
(18,236)

568

RZTE—NENA - KEEB
KB4 %8158,000/8 ;T & H R
Perfect Major Limited ( EFE#
B) %75 ) B 2 F80% AR 4

HK$’000
FEx

158

158

MELALRERERAT « Z2-_FTFFR

167



[ ]
T ™
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements =
FE M BHRERME = S 2
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE
. &
i T
. B
35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continueg) 35. HEMBAR (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Continued) BHE-_Z-_ZF=FB=+—HILLEE
(&)
(b)  (Continued) (b) (%)
HK$’000
FHEx
Analysis of assets and liabilities over KERHECEERBEZ T
which control was lost
Accruals and other payables FERH B A I E fh E < FRIE (990)
Tax payable P R IE (126)
Net liabilities disposed of HEZEEEHE (1,116)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHE Lz Kz
Total consideration REHLRE 158
Net liabilities disposed of HEZABFEHE 1,116
Non-controlling interests FEPE R (223)
Gain on disposal & = 1,051

The gain on disposal is included in “other income” (note 7).

HER A THBR AT (BFET) -

HK$’000
FET

Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary & — BT 2\ 8] .2 B 2 H A FEE

Consideration received in cash BWRENES
and cash equivalents kRS EEY

For the year ended 31 March 2019

There was no disposal of subsidiary during the year ended 31 March
2019.

36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36.

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year and balances with
related parties at the end of the reporting period:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MWK

For the yearended 31 March 2020 HZ—ZT-_TF=-f[=+—HItFE

36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) Mr. Wang, a key management personnel of the GE Group,
provided undertaking to the Group in respect of the followings
during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019:

(i)

(i)

(V)

for the Group’s rights to use two patents licensed by an
independent third party licensor which were under the
court restriction order, Mr. Wang irrevocably undertakes
that he will communicate with the pledgee to obtain the
court restricted patents and to transfer or grant to Zoken
Biology at nil consideration, or in case the court restricted
patents would be put into auction by court order, he will
try to acquire the court restricted patents at the auction
and grant to Zoken Biology at nil consideration upon
successful bid;

for the contingent liabilities resulting from Zoken Biology’s
use of court restricted patents referred above, Mr. Wang
irrevocably undertakes that he will bear the liability and
repay the amount to Zoken Biology;

for the Group’s liability of the penalty and surcharge
charged on defaulted tax liability payable by Zoken
Biology, Mr. Wang irrevocably undertake that he will bear
the liability and repay the amount to Zoken Biology;

for the Group’s liabilities arose from the financial
guarantees provided by Zoken Biology, Mr. Wang
irrevocably undertakes that he will bear the liabilities and
repay the amount to Zoken Biology (see note 25); and

for the Group’s contingent liability or other loss suffered
arose from the failure of registration on time of share
transfer for four companies disposed of by Zoken Biology
prior to 29 January 2019, the acquisition date of GE
Group by the Company, Mr. Wang irrevocably undertakes
that he will bear the liability and repay the amount or loss
suffered by Zoken Biology to Zoken Biology;

36. EXBEEIRS (&)

@ AKEEBWHEIEEBRABTILAE
REBEEZZT-_ZFRE-_T—NF
A+ BUEFERNATEE
M) 2N 58 B B G -

0

(i)

(i)

(v)

HRAKEERRBLE=
TEMNFEARFTAER
ERER B2 MR IEE R
EVRE A - £ SE A N AT B
A HASEE M AE
TR ABS A BT IR i
B HF AT RE R $
EYERERRRE  LfE
B BR Bl 60 B R f = Be ap <
EITHE HEEE R
g REER R B EEH
W R R IATHE @ T
EEmRE

B AT R Y E A
V2 B BR il 69 B 7 P E AR
ZRBEME  TEET
A 2 Bl o LG R
BEERAFREYEERER
18 ;

HRAREMEREELT
REMBENHARGR
MM Em S £t
AT AR A
EEEERAGEEYE

BRA

RAKERRBREYIRE
W EERIEEANEARE
mE ' TAEENT R
Ao B AEE TR
FiEEyEERE (K
FF25) + &

RAKRENRABRERK
FERZZT—NE—A
ZtABR(RRRKEAXR
BREBEZR)ZARKE
R REYHENMEER
AM B EmMELNE
B Em S  EXERA
R s B AR R
E X A 2 A Y (B8 FR0A
EFREMERNIERL:
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BEZ=ZT=_TF=fA=+—HILFE

36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)  On 23 January 2020, the Company completed to dispose of
the GE Group to Starways Global which is beneficially held by
Mr. Wang, a key management personnel of the GE Group, the
details of which are set out in notes 13 and 35 (see note).

(¢)  The Group had the following outstanding balance with related
party at the end of the reporting period:

Amount due from a related party —RBET KK
(note 19) (MI5E19)

(d) Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 10 and certain of the highest paid employees
as disclosed in note 11 is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits HHEERAAX
Post-employment benefits Ak 1% 12 7

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 8(b)).

Note:

The transaction also constituted connected transaction with the meaning of
the Listing Rules. Details of the transaction is set out in announcements of the
Company dated 18 September 2019 and 24 January 2020, and the circular of
the Company dated 12 December 2019, respectively.
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36. EXEELRS (&)

()

RZTE_EF—A=+=H"'X&
PEIERAERBEE (AAESE
BErETEEBEABTALEESE
BILEXEEE  GHFEHR
B 5E13%35( RFIsE) -

REE R N E RRETT %
BTIREESER:

2020 2019

—z-=x —F-hE

HK$’000 HK$’'000
TR THETT

239 S

AEFBTZEEABZHH (B2
BNTARBES (RERHE
10 RETERSHEE (WER

M) 2&8) T :
2020 2019
—ECEHF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHT
4,947 5,060
38 36
4,985 5,096

Tl A TEIRAI A (R
fizE8(b) )

B

ZRGMERBERZH (EER ETH
A) R FHFBHRARABHI B R
E-NEFENAT+NBR=ZFT=_ZF—A
ZHHAZAERN UREARRBHA
—E-NFt+ZA+t=ZHAZBERA-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE

37. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

In order to place up to 50,000,000 Shares (the “Placing
Shares”), the Company had entered into the placing agreement
(the “Placing Agreement”) with Morton Securities Limited (the
“Placing Agent”) on 26 March 2020 (the “Placing”). Pursuant
to the Placing Agreement, the Placing Agent has conditionally
agreed, as the placing agent of the Company, to procure, on a
best effort basis, not less than six placees to subscribe for up
to 50,000,000 Placing Shares at the placing price of HK$1.10
per Placing Share. The Placing Shares would be allotted and
issued under the general mandate granted to the directors of
the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company
convened on 28 August 2019. The Placing was completed
on 17 April 2020, a total of 50,000,000 Placing Shares have
been successfully placed and gross proceeds from the Placing
was HK$55,000,000. Details of the Placing were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 26 March 2020 and 17
April 2020, respectively.

On 4 May 2020, the Company had received an enforcement
notice ((2020)E03% 1%k 15055 ) dated 29 April 2020 (the “2020
Enforcement Notice”) and two enforcement judgments ((2020)
B3 1505k and (2020) E 031 % 1505% 2 — ) dated 28 April
2020 and 29 April 2020, respectively (the “2020 Enforcement
Judgments”), Details of the receipt of these enforcement
notices were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 10 May 2019 and 11 May 2020, respectively.

On 24 June 2020, H K Rich as vendor and BH Management
Company Limited (‘BH Management”) as purchaser entered
into the disposal agreement, pursuant to which, H K Rich
agreed to sell, and BH Management agreed to acquire,
the accounts receivables amounting to approximately
US$5,051,000 (equivalent of approximately HK$39,401,000)
at the consideration of HK$30,000,000. The transaction was
completed on 26 June 2020. Details of the transaction were set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 24 June 2020
and 26 June 2020, respectively.

37. W|E

PR A3

e MWK

R TF_ L IR

Bt REE1E

BETEETBBAARQF
50,000,0000% i% 7 ([ B2 & %
7)) RARARER_BE_TF=
A+ "BEEEZFHFERA
AI([RERBRDITVEEHZ
(TEEEWwzE]) ([BAEEHE]) -
BRIFLE W  BEREF KM
REUARRIBREREZ 5
RBBAEEERETLRA
HERARLEEEBERESKRG
1.107% 7t 7R B8 £ %50,000,0000%
BLER D - BEE R D BIREARD
ARN-E—hAENA=-+N\BA
HZBRRBFAE ERTFAAA
EEZMBEET AR RE
T REEHOIN _T-TFNQ
A+t H5%K & $£50,000,000
REERNEXNEES EES
T8 /) FT 15 30 B 4858 /255,000,000
B EBERESZTHZFBEN
ARARBHARA-ZS_TF=
A+ "BER-_Z-_ZTFNA
+ERZAE-

R-ZE-_ZETFRAWNHE AR

B AMAE-_ST-_ZTEMA
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((2020)203# 115057 ) ([==
ffiﬁlﬁ\ MEDAKR A
PRAEZE_ZTFMA=+/\A
F_E_EFMNA=-T+NLAHNW
PEITHIR ((2020)E03%# 1K 150
5% 1 (2020) 2033 11k 150%% 2 —)
([ZZZZTFHRITHR]) - R
WEIZERNTRUNEZFBEAR
AARBEH B BE=ZE—NFHR
A+ARZZE-_TFHA+—H

Z/\:l:o

R-TE-_TFEA_+WA-F
BENEABEFHREHEERFR
AT([EHMER])EAEFET
YHEBE B BEENE
BEHEMEHETERSWES
FE#) /55,051,000 7T (FHERL
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38.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS 17
B B B 7 RS S RI 75
Amendments to IFRS 3
B PR B TS RS A RIS 2 18 FT
Amendments to IFRS 3
B B B 75 R 5 E R B35k 2 18R]
Amendments to IFRS 16
I B B 7 S A5 2 RN 16558 2 (5 /T
Amendments to IFRS 9,

IAS 39 and IFRS 7
B B B 75 R 5 R R 955

& a2 B398 K&

B R B 7S TR RIS 7SR 2 A8 FT
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

B B 7 3R 5 R 210558 )2
RE R ERE285E 2 2R

Amendments to IAS 1

Bl St ER B15% 2 55T

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8

B St £ F 15 RER g5 28|
85k 2 &5

Amendments to IAS 16

BB S5 ER| FE165% 2 85T

Amendments to IAS 37

BUBR & 5T R E375% 248 R]

Amendments to IFRSs

B B B TS SR X Rl 2 B ET

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 !

g Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the e
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning

on or after 1 January 2020

38 BHEZ_ZEF-A=+—HILHFE
CEME M ARERZASET ~ T L
Lo nRes e

AEE W BB R AU T EB/ME R
R ZHRET RASRTEIRR B T SR 22 R

Insurance Contracts'

Rba 4

Definition of a Business?

EIEHER?

Reference to the Conceptual Framework®
BESHESR 2 fR e

COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions®
COVID-19—#HEAH & B =°

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*

55 BBy

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®
REEHRHEBE NTIRE
BRAlCENEE
HEgEE
Classification Liabilities as Current or Non-current®
BaESHEARENIERES
Definition of Material*

ERWEE

Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended use®
M BRE R — RMERE BB AT 2 FTiS sRIRS

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract®
BESH-BITERH KA

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020¢

BRI BREEYN T N\FE_ZE_ZTF 2 FEBE®

R-TE-—F— B 2BHABZF
T HAR A 3

HARKERSA-—ZTZ-_ZTF—HF—H8
R AR EEFEHMMAERE Bk
ZHENEBEHREERE

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined E REFE B Hisk 2 % iR 2 F AR

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 & RZTE-_TF-—A—AkZE&RARZE
& HAR A 3

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 2 R-TZZTFEAA—BR2EHABZF
T HAR A 3

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 g R —F—A B ZEBFABZF

&R
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
(Continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to IFRSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018.
Its consequential amendments, the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards, will be effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Definition of a Business”

The amendments:

o add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The election on whether to apply the optional
concentration test is available on transaction-by-transaction
basis;

o clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of
activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs; and

o narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing
on goods and services provided to customers and by removing
the reference to an ability to reduce costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business
combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date
is on or after the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1
January 2020, with early application permitted.
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material by
including additional guidance and explanations in making materiality
judgments. In particular, the amendments:

° include the concept of “obscuring” material information in which
the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the information;

o replace threshold for materiality influencing users from “could
influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”; and

. include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too broad
when deciding what information to disclose in the financial
statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all IFRSs and will
be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 April 2020. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“New Framework”) and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

The New Framework:
o reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

. introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and
a new liability definition that is likely to be broader than the
definition it replaces, but does not change the distinction
between a liability and an equity instrument;

. discusses historical cost and current value measures, and
provides additional guidance on how to select a measurement
basis for a particular asset or liability;
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39.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
(Continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“New Framework”) and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards (Continued)

o states that the primary measure of financial performance is
profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances other
comprehensive income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current value of an
asset or liability; and

. discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that references in
certain IFRSs have been updated to the New Framework, whilst some
IFRSs are still referred to the previous versions of the framework.
These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2020, with earlier application permitted. Other than
specific standards which still refer to the previous versions of the
framework, the Group will rely on the New Framework on its effective
date in determining the accounting policies especially for transactions,
events or conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the
accounting standards.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

(i) The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated. Further details of the
changes in accounting policies are disclosed in note 4.

(i) The results of the Biological Business have been presented
as discontinued operation and accordingly, the comparative
figures for the year ended 31 March 2019 of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income had
been reclassified in accordance with IFRS,

39.
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Financial Summary SE oo -

S E . . e

@
- =
: rrsteis |
_'_._._M"""‘_.FJ_._‘_.
. —
@ Financial year ended 31 March,
BEZA=+t—-HLUBEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET FAT TET TAET
(restated)
(lE7))
Results 4
Revenue (continuing operations) WA (HEREE) 99,179 178,764 293,292 351,448 147,930
Profit/(loss) for the year KEE (BR),/ &7 2,921 10,696 (175,728) 28,588 (88,588)
Attributable to: 15 7:
Owners of the Company ARARE 2,921 10,696 (175,632) 28,783 (88,056)
Non-controlling interests FERER - - (96) (195) (532)
2,921 10,696 (175,728) 28,588 (88,588)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share FRERET/ (BR) 0.39 23.6 (147.0) 10.9 (29.6)
Al gl Al gl Bl
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
At 31 March,
R=B=+-H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THET AT TET TER
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Total assets BERR 707,596 709,034 175,770 360,798 166,279
Total liabilities BEEE 703,233 693,985 64,830 104,222 54,856
Non-controlling interests kR - - 504 309 -
Equity attributable to owners of AREIRE
the Company el R 4,363 15,049 110,436 256,267 111,423
Note: In the Annual Report 2016 of the Company, the consolidated financial statements are Mk : EARRQF016FFmMP & HPBREUET
presented in United States dollars (“US$”"). For comparative purpose, all such US$ (TETN2% - BERLLE  2016FME IL1E
figures of 2016 are translated in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$") at HK$7.8 equal to US$1.0 ETLHIEHUTSE T EM1.0ETRERB T
for presenting in this financial summary. (TETD)ERBBHMER LS.
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